llari Pulli

Calcium Signaling in Cell Compartments

- the Importance of Sphingosine Kinase 1 and ORP5/8



llari Pulli

Born in 1984 in Naantali, Finland

Previous studies and degrees

Master of Science in Cell Biology, Åbo Akademi University, 2011



Calcium Signaling in Cell Compartments

- the Importance of Sphingosine Kinase 1 and ORP5/8

llari Pulli

Cell Biology Faculty of Science and Engineering Åbo Akademi University Åbo, Finland 2023

Supervised by

Prof. Kid Törnquist Åbo Akademi University Tykistökatu 6, Biocity 20520 Turku, Finland <u>ktornqvi@abo.fi</u>

Pre-examiners

Prof. Khaled Machaca Department of Physiology and Biophysics, Weill Cornell Medicine, New York, NY, USA; Calcium Signaling Group, Research Department, Weill Cornell Medicine Qatar, Doha, Qatar.

Dr. Carlos Villalobos Associate Professor at Spanish National Research Council (CSIC) Principal Investigator of the Pathophysiology of Intracellular calcium Research Group Director, Instituto de Biomedicina y Genética Molecular de Valladolid (IBGM) University of Valladolid and CSIC 47003 Valladolid, Spain

Opponent

Prof. Geert Bultynck Laboratory of Molecular and Cellular Signaling Department of Cellular and Molecular Medicine ON1 Herestraat 49 - box 802 3000 Leuven, Belgium

ISBN 978-952-12-4297-7 (printed) ISBN 978-952-12-4298-4 (digital) Painosalama, Åbo, Finland 2023

Table of Contents

ABSTRAKT
ABSTRACT8
LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS9
AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS9
LIST OF PUBLICATIONS NOT INCLUDED IN THE THESIS
ABBREVIATIONS
Introduction16
1 REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE17
1.1 Calcium signaling and cell compartments – an overview
1.2 Ca ²⁺ as a second messenger 20
1.2.1 Ca²⁺-binding proteins
1.3 Regulation of Ca ²⁺ at the cell membrane
1.4 Regulation of Ca ²⁺ release and uptake of the (sarco)endoplasmic
reticulum
1.4.1 Phosphonpase C/mostion disphosphate -pathway
1.4.3 IP₃ recentors 25
1.4.4 Store-operated calcium entry, SOCE
1.5 Compartmentalized Ca ²⁺ signaling and Ca ²⁺ microdomains:
mitochondria and caveolae in the spotlight27
1.5.1 Mitochondrial Ca ²⁺
1.5.2 Regulation of mitochondrial Ca²⁺
1.5.3 Ca ²⁺ at the caveolar sub-compartments of the plasma membrane
1.5.4 The involvement of (endo)hysosomes in intracentular Ca ²⁺ regulation 34
1.6 Sphingolipid signaling and Sphingosine kinases
1.6.1 Cellular effects of sphingolipid signaling and S1P
1.6.2 Sphingosine 1-phosphate receptors
1.6.3 Inter-regulation of Ca ²⁺ signaling and the Sphingosine Kinase/S1P axis
1.7 Oxysterol-binding protein related-proteins 5 and 8 (ORP5/8) as
regulators of lipids and Ca ²⁺ at membrane contact sites
1.7.1 Cell and organelle membranes
1.7.2 Oxysterol-binding related-proteins and their role as membrane lipid
regulators and sensors
contact sites

2 METHODS
2.1 Cell culture, plasmids and transfections
2.2 Aequorin-based calcium measurements43
2.3 Ca ²⁺ measurements employing Fura-2-AM45
2.4 Western blot 46
2.5 Cell migration 46
2.6 Cell proliferation46
2.7 Immunocytochemistry and confocal microscopy
2.8 Electron microscopy 47
2.9 Cellular oxygen consumption measurements
2.10 Calpain activity assay 47
2.11 Mitochondrial membrane potential measurements
2.12 Measurement of IP3 production
2.13 Statistics
3 HYPOTHESIS AND SPECIFIC AIMS
4 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION
<i>4 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION</i>
 4 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

7 REFERENCES	
APPENDIX: ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS	

ABSTRAKT

För att upprätthålla liv använder cellerna i en organism intrikata signaleringsräckor för regleringen av fysiologiska processer inom enskilda celler och mellan olika celler och vävnaderna som utgör en organism. Reglering av detta slag kallas cellsignalering. En av de mest centrala molekylerna i cellsignaleringen är kalciumjonen, Ca²⁺. Många centrala biologiska processer, såsom muskelkontraktion, befruktning, cellproliferation, cellmigration, cellulär energiproduktion och celldöd, moduleras av Ca²⁺-signalering. Dysfunktionell Ca²⁺-signalering kan bidra till utvecklingen av olika sjukdomstillstånd såsom cancer och neurologiska sjukdomar.

I de publikationer som utgör basen för denna avhandling studerade vi hur tre proteiner av intresse påverkar regleringen av Ca²⁺-hantering i specifika cellulära domäner, främst mitokondrier och caveoler. Mitokondrier är organeller som är centrala för cellulär energiproduktion och bidrar även till andra viktiga processer som Ca²⁺-signalering och celldöd. Caveoler är små inbuktningar av cellmembranet och deltar i regleringen av viktiga cellulära funktioner. Caveoler fungerar till exempel som orkestratorer av cellsignalering. För att studera Ca²⁺signalering i cellmembranets domän nära caveoler skapade och karakteriserade vi en ny Ca²⁺-indikator kopplad till det caveolära proteinet caveolin-1.

I dessa undersökningar fann vi att överuttryck av ett lipidkinasprotein, sfingosinkinas 1 (SK1), resulterar i ökad agonist-inducerad frigivning av Ca²⁺ från det endoplasmatiska retiklet (cellens huvudsakliga Ca²⁺-förråd), samtidigt som det ökar Ca²⁺⁻koncentrationen i mitokondriernas matrix och vid caveolerna. De SK1-inducerade Ca²⁺-effekterna kan också vara bidragande faktorer i regleringen av cellandning och migration, som båda vi fann vara förstärkta av SK1-överuttryck. Dessa fynd bekräftar de tidigare indikationerna på att SK1 är involverad i processer relaterade till cancerfysiologi, möjligen genom Ca²⁺⁻ medierade processer.

Därtill fann vi att överuttryck av de oxysterolbindande proteinerna 5 respektive 8 (ORP5/8) ökar Ca²⁺-koncentrationen i mitokondriernas matrix och i de caveolära regionerna i cellmembranet. Vi fann också att överuttryck av både ORP5 och ORP8 ökade cellproliferation. ORP5/8 är lokaliserade vid, och reglerar, membrankontakterna, och signaleringen mellan det endoplasmatiska retiklet, mitokondrierna och cellmembranet. Våra resultat som visar ORP5/8-medierade effekter i Ca²⁺-signalering i mitokondriernas matrix och vid de caveolära cellmembrandomänerna belyser således den fysiologiska rollen som ORP5/8proteinerna spelar som reglerare av signaleringen vid membrankontakterna i dessa intracellulära domäner.

Sammantaget visar dessa resultat att SK1- och ORP5/8-proteiner är involverade i regleringen av intracellulära Ca²⁺-signaler vid specifika cellulära domäner.

ABSTRACT

To maintain life, the cells within an organism employ intricate signaling pathways to regulate physiological processes within single cells and between the various cells and tissues that constitute an organism. Regulation of this kind is termed cell signaling. One of the key molecules in cell signaling is the calcium ion, Ca²⁺. Many central biological processes, such as muscle contraction, fertilization, cell proliferation, cell migration, cellular energy production and cell death, are modulated by Ca²⁺ signaling. Dysfunctional Ca²⁺ signaling may contribute to the development of various disease conditions such as cancer and neurological disease.

In the original publications of this thesis, we studied how three proteins of interest affect the regulation of Ca^{2+} handling in specific cellular compartments, mainly the mitochondria and the caveolae. The mitochondria are organelles that are key in cellular energy production and contribute also to other important processes such as Ca^{2+} signaling and cell death. The caveolae are small invaginations of the cell membrane with important functions, for instance as orchestrators of cell signaling events. To study the Ca^{2+} signaling events at the caveolar domain of the cell membrane, we created and characterized a novel Ca^{2+} indicator linked to the key caveolar protein, caveolin-1.

We found that overexpression of a lipid kinase protein, sphingosine kinase 1 (SK1), results in increased agonist-induced release of Ca^{2+} from the endoplasmic reticulum, while also increasing the Ca^{2+} concentration in the mitochondrial matrix and at the caveolae. The SK1-induced Ca^{2+} effects may also be contributing factors in the regulation of cell respiration and migration, both of which we found to be augmented by SK1 overexpression. These findings corroborate the previous indications of SK1 being involved in processes related to cancer physiology, possibly through Ca^{2+} mediated processes.

In addition, we found that overexpression of the oxysterol-binding proteins 5 and 8 (ORP5/8), respectively, increases the Ca^{2+} concentration in the mitochondrial matrix and at the caveolar regions of the cell membrane. We found that overexpression of ORP5 and ORP8 also increased cell proliferation. ORP5/8 are known to reside at and regulate the membrane contacts and signaling between the endoplasmic reticulum (the main Ca^{2+} store of the cell) and the mitochondria and the cell membrane. Our results showing ORP5/8-mediated Ca^{2+} signaling in the mitochondrial matrix and at caveolar cell membrane domains thus further elucidate the physiological role of the ORP5/8 proteins as regulators of signaling events at the membrane contact sites of these intracellular compartments.

Taken together, our results show that SK1 and ORP5/8 proteins are involved in the regulation intracellular Ca²⁺ signaling at specific cellular compartments.

LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

This thesis is based on the following original publications:

- Pulli I*, Blom T*, Löf C, Magnusson M, Rimessi A, Pinton P, Törnquist K. (2015) A novel chimeric aequorin fused with caveolin-1 reveals a sphingosine kinase 1-regulated Ca2+ microdomain in the caveolar compartment, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1853 (2015) 2173-2182, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamcr.2015.04.005</u>
- Pulli I, Löf C, Blom T, Asghar MY, Lassila T, Bäck N, K.-L. Lin, Nyström JH, Kemppainen K, Toivola DM, Dufour E, Sanz A, Cooper HM, Parys JB, Törnquist K. Sphingosine kinase 1 overexpression induces mitofusin-2 fragmentation and alters mitochondrial matrix Ca2+ handling in HeLa cells. Biochim. Biophys. Acta Mol. Cell Res. 2019 Sep;1866(9):1475-1486. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamcr.2019.06.006</u>
- **3.** Pulli I, Lassila T, Pan G, Yan D, Olkkonen V, Törnquist K. (2018) Oxysterol-binding protein related-proteins (ORPs) 5 and 8 regulate calcium signaling at specific cell compartments. Cell Calcium 72: 62-69. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ceca.2018.03.001

*authors contributed equally

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

Publication 1. The author designed the study together with CL, TB and KT. The author conducted the majority of the Ca^{2+} measurement experiments. The author wrote the manuscript with contributions from TB, CL and KT.

Publication 2. The author designed the study together with KT. The author conducted the Ca^{2+} measurement experiments. The author conducted the western blot experiments, the calpain activity assays as well as the proliferation and migration assays with contributions from co-authors. The author wrote the manuscript with contribution from KT.

Publication 3. The author designed the study together with KT and VO. The author conducted the Ca^{2+} measurement, proliferation and confocal microscopy experiments. The author wrote the manuscript with contribution from KT and VO.

LIST OF PUBLICATIONS NOT INCLUDED IN THE THESIS

Combot Y, Salo VT, Chadeuf G, Hölttä M, Ven K, Pulli I, Ducheix S, Pecqueur C, Renoult O, Lak B, Li S, Karhinen L, Belevich I, Le May C, Rieusset J, Le Lay S, Croyal M, Tayeb KS, Vihinen H, Jokitalo E, Törnquist K, Vigouroux C, Cariou B, Magré J, Larhlimi A, Ikonen E, Prieur X. (2022) Seipin localizes at endoplasmic-reticulummitochondria contact sites to control mitochondrial calcium import and metabolism in adipocytes. Cell Rep. 2022 Jan 11;38(2):110213. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2021.110213.

Fellman V,Banerjee R, Lin K-L, Pulli I, Cooper H, Tyynismaa H, Kallijärvi J (2021)Severe neonatal MEGDHEL syndrome with a homozygous truncating mutation inSERAC1.BBAMolBasishttps://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbadis.2021.166298

Pulli I*, Asghar MY*, Kemppainen K, Törnquist K. (2018) Sphingolipid-mediated calcium signaling and its pathological effects (Review article). BBA Mol Cell Res. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamcr.2018.04.012

Veliz D, Luoto J, Pulli I, Toivakka M. (2018) The influence of mineral particles on fibroblast behaviour: a comparative study. Colloids Surf. B Biointerfaces. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.colsurfb.2018.04.013

Hyrskyluoto A, Pulli I, Törnquist K, Huu Ho T, Lindholm D, Korhonen L. (2013) Sigma-1 receptor agonist PRE084 is protective against mutant huntigtin induced cell degeneration: involvement of the NF-kB pathway. Cell Death Dis. (4), e646; doi:10.1038/cddis.2013.170

Kalhori V, Magnusson M, Asghar MY, Pulli I, Törnquist K. (2016) FTY720 (Fingolimod) attenuates basal and sphingosine 1-phosphate-evoked thyroid cancer cell invasion. Endocr Relat Cancer. 2016 Mar 2. pii: ERC-16-0050. [Epub ahead of print]

Asghar MY, Magnusson M, Kemppainen K, Sukumaran P, Löf C, Pulli I, Kalhori V, Törnquist K. Transient Receptor Potential Canonical 1 (TRPC1) Channels as Regulators of Sphingolipid and VEGF Receptor Expression: IMPLICATIONS FOR THYROID CANCER CELL MIGRATION AND PROLIFERATION. J Biol Chem. 2015 Jun 26;290(26):16116-31. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M115.643668.

Sukumaran P, Lönnfors M, Långvik O, Pulli I, Törnquist K, Slotte JP. (2013) Complexation of C6-ceramide with cholesteryl phosphocholine – a potent solvent-free ceramide delivery formulation for cells in culture. PLoS ONE 8: e61290 Sukumaran P, Löf C, Pulli I, Viitanen T, Törnquist K. (2013) Significance of transient receptor potential canonical 2 (TRPC2) channel in the regulation of rat thyroid FRTL-5 cell proliferation, migration, adhesion and invasion. Mol Cell Endocrinol. 374: 10-21

SukumaranP, Löf C, Viitanen T, Kankaanpää P,KemppainenK, Pulli I, Näsman J, Törnquist K. (2012) Canonical transient receptor potentialchannel 2 (TRPC2) as a major regulator of calcium homeostasis in rat thyroidFRTL-5 cells: Importance of PKC-delta and STIM2. J. Biol Chem. 287: 44345-60

Löf C, Sukumaran P, Viitanen T, Vainio M, Kemppainen K, Pulli I, Näsman J, Kukkonen JP, Törnquist K. (2012) Communication Between the Calcium and cAMP Pathways Regulate the Expression of the TSH Receptor: TRPC2 in the Center of Action. Mol Endocrinol. 26: 2046-5

ABBREVIATIONS

AC	adenylyl cyclase
Aeq	aequorin
ATP	adenosine triphosphate
BACE	β-site APP cleaving enzyme 1
Ca ²⁺	calcium
CaM	calmodulin
СаМК	calcium/calmodulin dependent protein kinase
cav1	caveolin 1
Ca _v 3.2	T-type calcium channel
CBP	calcium-binding protein
CDase	ceramidase
CerS	ceramide synthase
CIB1	calcium and integrin-binding protein 1
CIB2	calcium and integrin-binding protein 2
CICR	calcium-induced calcium release
CMT disease	Charcot-Marie-Tooth disease
CN	calcineurin
CRAC	calcium-release activated calcium channel
DAG	diacylglycerol
EGTA	ethylene glycol-bis β-aminoethyl ether
EMRE	essential MCU regulator
ER	endoplasmic reticulum
ERK	extracellular signal-regulated kinase
FBS	fetal bovine serum
GAP	GTPase activating protein
GDP	guanosine diphosphate
GPCR	G-protein coupled receptor
GTP	guanosine triphosphate
HBSS	Hepes-buffered saline solution
HR1	heptad repeat 1 domain
HRP	horseradish peroxidase
IMM	inner mitochondrial membrane
IMS	intramembrane space
IP ₃	inositol trisphosphate
LBS	Laemmli sample buffer
LETM1	leucine zipper and EF-hand containing transmembrane protein
MAM	mitochondria-associated ER membrane
MCS	membrane contact sites
MCU	mitochondrial calcium uniporter
MCUR	MCU regulator 1
MFN2	mitofusin 2
MICU	mitochondrial calcium uptake protein
ΜβCD	methyl-β-cyclodextrin

NCLX	mitochondrial sodium-calcium exchanger
NCX	sodium calcium exchanger
ОММ	outer mitochondrial membrane
ORP5	oxysterol-binding protein-related protein 5
ORP8	oxysterol-binding protein-related protein 8
PC2	polycystin 2
PH domain	pleckstrin homology domain
PI(3,5)P ₂	phosphatidylinositol 3,5-bisphosphate
PI3K	phosphoinositide 3-kinase
PI4P	phosphatidylinositol-4-phosphate
PIP ₂	phosphatidylinositol-4,5-biphosphate
РКС	protein kinase C
PLC	phospholipase C
PM	plasma membrane
PMCA	plasma membrane Ca2+ ATPase
ROCE	receptor-operated calcium entry
RTK	receptor tyrosine kinase
RyR	ryanodine receptor
S1P	sphingosine 1-phosphate
S1Ppase	S1P phosphatase
S1PR	S1P receptor
SAM	sterile alpha-motif
SERCA	sarco-endoplasmic reticulum ATPase
SK1	sphingosine kinase 1
SK2	sphingosine kinase 2
SNAP25-Aeq	SNAP25-tagged aequorin
SOCE	store-operated calcium channel
SPH	sphingosine
SPNS2	spinster 2
SR	sarcoplasmic reticulum
STIM	stromal interaction molecule
TMRE	tetramethylrhodamine ethyl ester
ТРС	two-pore channel
TRP channel	transient receptor potential channel
UCP	uncoupling protein
VDAC	voltage-dependent anion channel
VOCC	voltage-operated calcium channel

Introduction

The calcium ion (Ca^{2+}) is involved in key biological processes throughout the kingdoms of life. Therefore, the Ca^{2+} ion is considered as a universal second messenger, and the Ca^{2+} signaling pathway is involved in the modulation of most, if not all, of the major cellular functions such as cell proliferation, migration, energy production and cell death. Consequently, dysregulated Ca^{2+} signaling is a major factor in various pathological conditions such as cancer and various neurological diseases. Multiple molecular signaling pathways, as well as various cell organelles and specific cell compartments, are involved in the regulation of cellular Ca^{2+} homeostasis, Ca^{2+} signaling events, and the downstream effects of Ca^{2+} signaling.

Of note, lipid signaling and lipid regulation are involved in Ca^{2+} signaling and organelle function. In this thesis work, the organelle and compartment-specific regulation of Ca²⁺ signaling by proteins involved in lipid signaling and regulation was studied. The proteins of interest were sphingosine kinase 1 (SK1) and oxysterol-binding protein-related proteins 5 and 8 (ORP5/8). SK1 is a lipid kinase that catalyzes the formation of sphingosine 1-phosphate (S1P), a lipid with well-known signaling functions. S1P mainly acts through five G-proteincoupled S1P-receptors, most of which are known to be involved in the activation Ca²⁺ signaling pathways. Further, SK1/S1P and Ca²⁺ signaling pathways may function in an inter-regulated fashion, modulating each other through feedback mechanisms, as Ca^{2+} has been found to be a co-factor in the activation of SK1. ORP5 and 8 are proteins that are involved in lipid transfer and contact regulation between the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) and the plasma membrane (PM). In addition, ORP5/8 have been shown to exert their function also at the ERmitochondria interaction sites. Importantly, ORP5/8 bind to the PM and regulate the levels of the phospholipid phosphatidylinositol-4,5-biphosphate (PIP_2) in the PM. Importantly, PIP₂ is the direct precursor of inositol trisphosphate (IP₃), a second messenger that binds to the IP₃-receptors to activate Ca^{2+} release from the main intracellular Ca^{2+} store, the ER. ORP5/8 are emerging as important regulator proteins at the membrane contact sites (MCS), such as the mitochondria-associated ER-membranes (MAMs). MAM contact sites, and the molecular interactions within the MAMs, have been shown to be of key importance in the regulation of Ca²⁺ signaling events between the organelles.

To study the Ca²⁺ concentrations in specific cell compartments and organelles, the genetically targeted Ca²⁺ indicator protein aequorin was employed. Aequorins targeted to the cytosol, to the mitochondria, to the ER, and to the PM were previously constructed by other researchers. For this study, a novel caveolin-1-tagged aequorin was created and validated. SK1 was found to regulate Ca²⁺ microdomains at the caveolin-1-enriched PM sub-compartments, as well as in the mitochondrial matrix and in the ER. The SK1-induced increase in the caveolar Ca²⁺ microdomain was mainly attributed to the autocrine effect of S1P on its receptors that have been shown to localize to caveolae. SK1 overexpression was shown to induce mitofusin-2 (MFN2) fragmentation, likely through increased calpain protease activity. MFN2 promotes mitochondrial fusion and modulates ER-mitochondria MAM contacts, with indications to mitochondrial Ca²⁺ regulation. The expression of putative calpain-cleaved MFN2 fragments resembled the effects of SK1-overexpression on mitochondrial Ca²⁺. Inhibition of the S1P-receptors did not ablate the SK1-mediated increase of mitochondrial Ca²⁺. Thus, the observed MFN2 fragmentation may contribute to the SK1-induced increase in the mitochondrial matrix Ca²⁺.

Overexpression of ORP5/8 was shown to augment the mitochondrial and the caveolar Ca^{2+} upon agonist stimulation whereas cytoplasmic Ca^{2+} was not affected. Down-regulation of ORP5/8 by small interfering RNA was without an effect. ORP5 overexpression augmented the IP₃ production, whereas ORP8 overexpression did not. The observed changes in Ca^{2+} handling were thus attributed to the increased IP₃ (mediated by ORP5) as well as to the previously reported modulatory functions of ORP5 and 8 at the MCS between the PM and the ER as well as at the MAM contact sites.

The effect of SK1 or ORP5/8 overexpression on cell physiological parameters such as proliferation, migration and respiration were also studied. SK1 overexpression augmented respiration and cell migration which are known downstream effects of mitochondrial Ca²⁺. ORP5/8 overexpression led to increased cell proliferation, also in agreement with the characterized Ca²⁺ phenotype. These findings give new mechanistic insight to the role of SK1 as an oncogene and show a novel role for ORP5 and 8 as regulators of Ca²⁺ signaling in specific cell compartments.

1 REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

1.1 Calcium signaling and cell compartments – an overview

A feature characteristic to all organisms is the ability to maintain ion gradients over the cell and organelle membranes to facilitate bioenergetic processes and signal transduction [1–3]. The calcium ion (Ca²⁺), often referred to as a universal second messenger, regulates profound functions in virtually all life forms ranging from prokaryotes to uni- and multicellular eukaryotes, i.e. fungi, plants and animals [4–6]. After well over a hundred years of research, the importance of Ca²⁺ in human physiology and disease is well established [7]. Ca²⁺ has widespread functions including the regulation of processes such as fertilization, muscle contraction, neuronal function, cell proliferation and migration, energy production, cell signaling, secretion, gene expression and induction of programmed cell death. To orchestrate these essential cell physiological events in a controlled manner, Ca²⁺ ion fluxes are tightly regulated by various protein molecules, such as Ca²⁺ pumps, channels, exchangers and Ca²⁺ binding proteins [3,8]. The signaling function of Ca²⁺ is mediated by coordinated induction of changes in the intracellular cytoplasmic Ca²⁺ concentration, as well as in the intraorganellar Ca²⁺ concentrations.

In a basal, resting condition, cytoplasmic Ca^{2+} concentration ([Ca^{2+}]_{cvt}) is kept at a low level (in the nanomolar range) whereas $[Ca^{2+}]$ in the extracellular milieu is high (in the millimolar range). Importantly, Ca²⁺ can be stored at high micromolar concentrations in the intracellular compartments such as the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) and the sarcoplasmic reticulum (SR). Mitochondria are also able to take up Ca^{2+} in the micromolar range, play important roles in Ca^{2+} handling and signaling, and may also exert Ca²⁺ buffering functions. In addition, also other organelles such as the Golgi apparatus and the lysosomes may store intracellular Ca²⁺ and be involved in Ca²⁺ signaling events. The control of cytoplasmic Ca²⁺ is mainly achieved by active adenosine trisphosphate (ATP)-dependent transport either out of the cell through the plasma membrane Ca^{2+} ATPases (PMCA) or by active uptake of Ca²⁺ through the sarco-endoplasmic reticulum ATPase (SERCA) to the ER (Fig 1) [5,7,9]. Thus, cells spend a considerable amount of energy to maintain the Ca²⁺ ion gradient across the cell membrane and the extracellular milieu, as well as across the overall cytoplasm and the organelle membranes. The flow of Ca^{2+} , driven by the electrochemical gradient and activated by the opening of Ca^{2+} -permeable ion channels, is utilized by a multitude of cellular signaling pathways to regulate the various effects that have been attributed to Ca²⁺ signaling [3]. In the sections below, the essential components of Ca²⁺ signaling that are of key interest in the scope of the original publications in this thesis are reviewed, and the components of general importance in Ca²⁺ signaling regulation are briefly discussed.



Figure 1. Generalized schematics of the fundamental components of intracellular **Ca²⁺ regulation.** The plasma membrane (PM) harbors the PM Ca²⁺ ATPase (PMCA) Ca²⁺ pumps, that actively transport Ca^{2+} from the cytoplasm to the extracellular space to maintain the cytoplasmic Ca^{2+} concentration ([Ca^{2+}]) low. Exchanger molecules, such as the sodium (Na⁺)-Ca²⁺ exchanger NCX, also modulate the levels of cytoplasmic [Ca²⁺]. PM Ca²⁺-channels, such as the voltage-operated (VOCC), store-operated (SOCC) and receptor-operated (ROCE) calcium channels, as well as the ion channels of the transient receptor potential (TRP) family regulate the Ca²⁺ flux to the cytosol. The endoplasmic reticulum (ER) is the main intracellular Ca^{2+} storage. The sarco/endoplasmic reticulum Ca²⁺ ATPases (SERCA-pumps) take up cytosolic Ca²⁺ to the ER. Inositol trisphosphate receptors (IP_3R) are ubiquitous Ca^{2+} release channels in the ER. Multiple PM-residing receptors (G-protein-coupled; GPCR, receptor tyrosine kinase; RTK) can be activated by agonists (e.g. histamine) and couple to phospholipase C (PLC) that cleaves phosphoinositol bisphosphate (PIP₂) to form the two second messenger molecules, diacylglycerol (DAG) and IP₃. DAG activates protein kinase C and ion channels in the PM, whereas IP₃ stimulates the opening of the IP₃ receptor channels (IP₃R) that reside in the ER membranes. Ca²⁺-binding proteins (CBPs) modulate ER Ca²⁺ homeostasis and act as chaperones. Mitochondrial matrix readily accumulates Ca²⁺ and thus mitochondria are important regulators and buffers of intracellular Ca^{2+} . The activity of some of the mitochondrial enzymes involved in the oxidative phosphorylation is Ca²⁺ dependent. Caveolae harbor Ca^{2+} channels and multiple molecules and receptors involved in Ca^{2+} signaling. Ca^{2+} microdomains, i.e. domains of high $[Ca^{2+}]$ may emerge in the vicinity of IP₃ receptor channel upon activation, or near to the PM ion channels regulating entry of Ca²⁺. Organelles and cellular compartments are involved in the regulation of Ca²⁺ microdomains: for example, mitochondria-ER interaction may modulate the IP3sensitive Ca²⁺ pathway, and SOCE regulation can be modulated by mitochondrial Ca²⁺ uptake.

1.2 Ca²⁺ as a second messenger

In order to develop and function, the cells within an organism need to communicate through intricate physical and chemical mechanisms, including (inter)regulation by contact-dependent proteins, hormonal cues and various signal transmitter molecules that act on receptors residing in the plasma membrane (PM) of cells [10,11]. To modulate cell function, the extracellular signals are translated to intracellular signaling cascades that consist of protein molecules and small second messenger molecules, including cyclic nucleotides, lipid molecules such as inositol trisphosphate (IP_3) and sphingosine 1-phosphate (S1P), and, importantly, the Ca²⁺ ion [5]. Multiple PM-residing and intracellular receptors are known to activate intracellular Ca²⁺ fluxes through various cell signaling pathways. To exert its second messenger functions, Ca²⁺ binds to and changes the conformation and function of a variety of target proteins in the cell. The binding of Ca²⁺ may have a direct effect on the activity of the target protein, or Ca^{2+} may facilitate the interaction of proteins, thus affecting their function [3,7,8]. Importantly, Ca²⁺ signaling, being the key regulatory component involved in virtually all central cell physiological events and functions, has widespread implications for multiple disease-related cell physiological processes.

1.2.1 Ca²⁺-binding proteins

The various Ca²⁺-binding proteins (CBPs) bind Ca²⁺ ions with different affinities and through different motifs and domains. CBPs include Ca²⁺ transporter molecules, Ca²⁺ buffering proteins that are involved in the regulation of the Ca²⁺ concentration in the cytoplasm or within cell organelles, Ca²⁺ sensor proteins that relay Ca²⁺-mediated signals, as well as enzymes that are directly or indirectly activated by Ca²⁺ binding [12,13]. The major classes of Ca²⁺-binding sites of the CBPs are the EF-hand domains and the C2 domains, the former being the more ubiquitous one [13]. EF-hand domain harboring proteins include calcineurin, calmodulin and calpain proteases, whereas the key Ca²⁺ regulated enzymes, protein kinase C (PKC) and phospholipase C (PLC), contain C2 domains [12].

Proteins such as calreticulin and calnexin bind Ca^{2+} and act as Ca^{2+} buffering proteins to facilitate the Ca^{2+} storage function within the ER [12]. Perhaps one of the most studied mediators of Ca^{2+} signaling is calmodulin (CaM) that has been shown to bind to multiple target proteins to modulate their activity. The prominent binding targets of CaM are the protein phosphatase calcineurin (CN) and the $Ca^{2+}/calmodulin-dependent$ protein kinase isoforms, CaMKI–IV. CN is a central regulator of the NFAT transcription factor and the CaM kinases phosphorylate multiple target proteins to modulate their function [5]. Interestingly, recent peptide binding prediction assays have recognized over 500 candidate targets with which CN may interact through short linear motifs, thus greatly expanding the potential CN interactome of the presently identified 50 CN substrates [14]. CaM-kinases have been shown to phosphorylate multiple target proteins to regulate a wide variety of cellular events such as apoptosis, vesicle mobilization, gene transcription and (Ca^{2+}) ion channel activity [15].

Calpains are a class of proteases, and fifteen human calpain-encoding genes have been identified. The calpain protease protein family comprises the μ - and mcalpains which are referred to as the conventional calpains, while the other calpains are referred to as unconventional ones [16,17]. Importantly, calpainmediated proteolytic processing differs from the proteasomal degradation in that the calpain products, i.e. protein fragments, may retain some of the original functionality or acquire an altered function [16,18]. Dysregulation of calpain is involved in multiple conditions including cancer and neurological disease [19,20].

PLC and PKC are central enzymes in the regulation and mediation of Ca^{2+} signaling events. PLC is a major regulator of the lipid second messengers diacylglycerol (DAG) and IP₃, which are involved in the regulation of intracellular Ca^{2+} , and thus PLC is an important modulator of Ca^{2+} signaling events [21].

PKCs are a large family of protein kinases with various downstream targets and cellular effects. The activity of the conventional PKCs is modulated by DAG and Ca²⁺, and PKCs serve a feedback function in Ca²⁺ regulation through multiple proteins, e.g. by being involved in the activation of the PMCA-mediated Ca²⁺ extrusion from the cytoplasm to the extracellular space, and by inhibiting PLC [22].

The PLC-mediated Ca²⁺ signaling pathway is described in section 1.4.1. The PKC protein family with the associated main cellular functions are briefly discussed in section 1.4.2.

The Ca²⁺ channels and exchangers that are the most relevant to this study are described in sections below.

1.3 Regulation of Ca²⁺ at the cell membrane

The plasma membrane (PM) lipid bilayer as such is impermeable to Ca^{2+} ions. Therefore, the controlled flux of Ca^{2+} through the various PM-resident proteins is a major determinant of cytoplasmic Ca^{2+} levels. The previously mentioned PMCA pumps are the chief executioners of the active Ca^{2+} efflux from the cytoplasm to the extracellular milieu. Antiporter molecules such as the Na⁺/Ca²⁺ exchanger (NCX) contribute to ion homeostasis [5]. Further, multiple types of PM ion channels with either specific or unspecific permeability for the Ca^{2+} ion regulate the influx of Ca^{2+} , and also other ion species, to the cytoplasm. These channels have different modes of activation. Ligand-gated ion channels function at the same time as the receptor and as the conducting channel; these include for instance the ATP-sensitive P2X-receptors and the glutamate-sensitive NMDA-receptors.

Many of the transient receptor potential (TRP) -channels are activated by a downstream signal from a receptor that is separate from the channel itself, for instance through the GPCR-mediated PLC activation and its downstream signaling molecules [3,5,23]. This form of Ca²⁺ flux is sometimes termed receptor-operated Ca²⁺ entry, or ROCE [24,25]. Channels can also be activated by other factors such as changes in the membrane potential, temperature, as well as through mechanical stimuli such as stretching of the PM [3,5]. Also, Ca²⁺ channels at the PM can be activated as a response, and as a compensation, to the emptying of the intracellular Ca²⁺ stores, resulting in store-operated Ca²⁺ entry (SOCE) [26]. Interestingly, the PM is compartmentalized, having defined domains with e.g. specific lipid and protein composition. For instance, the PM harbors cholesterol-rich invaginated structures called caveolae, where specific lipid species and multiple signaling molecules, receptors and channels are localized, including those involved in Ca²⁺ regulation [27]. Caveolae are discussed in more detail in section 1.5.3.

1.4 Regulation of Ca²⁺ release and uptake of the (sarco)endoplasmic reticulum

The endoplasmic reticulum (ER) is the major intracellular Ca²⁺ store in most cell types [13]. In muscle cells, the sarcoplasmic reticulum (SR) serves the function of the ER [28]. Both reticula harbor the SR/ER Ca²⁺ ATPases, the SERCA-pumps, which by employing ATP hydrolysis effectively transfer Ca²⁺ from the cytoplasm to the lumen of the SR/ER to maintain the basal cytosolic Ca²⁺ at a low level. The active Ca²⁺ transport results in that the resting Ca²⁺ concentration within the SR/ER is at a high micromolar level (~400-500 µM) [29,30]. To effectively achieve the Ca²⁺ storage function, multiple Ca²⁺ buffering CBP-proteins reside inside the SR/ER (Fig. 1). These include calnexin, calsequesterin, calreticulin and BiP, that also act as chaperones to aid correct protein folding taking place within the organelle [3,5,12,13]. An important property of the ER-resident Ca²⁺ binding buffer proteins is that they are usually able to bind Ca²⁺ with high capacity but with low affinity which allows for rapid release of Ca²⁺ upon stimulus [13].

The ER contains Ca²⁺ release channels, such as the IP₃R, that can be triggered by a multitude of extracellular signals through the various PM-resident G-proteincoupled receptors (GPCRs) or receptor tyrosine kinases (RTKs) to release ER Ca²⁺ through the phospholipase C -induced IP₃ signaling (please see the next section). In addition, ryanodine receptors, with three identified isoforms (RyR1-3), are key Ca²⁺ release channels of the SR/ER, mainly expressed in skeletal (RyR1) and cardiac muscle (RyR2 or brain (RyR3) [31]. RyR opening may be regulated by voltage-dependent Ca²⁺ channels, ions such as Ca²⁺ (Ca²⁺ induced Ca²⁺ release) or Mg⁺, proteins such as protein kinase A or calmodulin, and by agonists such as ATP or caffeine [31,32].

Importantly, reduction in the endoplasmic Ca^{2+} concentration triggers the so called store-operated Ca^{2+} entry (SOCE) pathway to replenish and maintain the ER Ca^{2+} content. The SOCE pathway discussed in more detail in section 1.4.4.

1.4.1 Phospholipase C/inositol trisphosphate -pathway

As mentioned above, many PM-residing GPCRs and RTKs relay agonist-induced signaling by inducing the release of ER Ca²⁺, or by activating PM-resident ion channels such as the channels of the transient receptor potential (TRP) family [3]. Upon agonist binding to the receptors of the GPCR or RTK family, multiple downstream signaling events may be triggered, including the activation of phospholipase C (PLC). PLC is a central molecule for intracellular Ca²⁺ regulation. Upon activation, PLC translocates to the PM and cleaves the PM-residing PIP₂, thus contributing to the regulation of the levels of PIP₂ in the PM. A variety of proteins, including PLC, bind to, or are activated by, PM PIP₂. PIP₂ is also a precursor for PIP₃ that serves other signaling functions [33].

Importantly, PLC mediated cleavage of PIP₂ forms the two second messenger molecules, diacylglycerol (DAG) and inositol trisphosphate (IP₃), that are central molecular components involved in the of intracellular Ca²⁺ regulation. DAG is known to activate, for instance, PKC, and DAG has also been shown to regulate some of the PM-residing TPRC-channels [33]. IP₃ binds to and activates the ER-residing IP₃-receptor isoforms I-III, leading to rapid Ca²⁺ release to the cytosol from the ER Ca²⁺ store [34]. The IP₃-receptor pathway is described in more detail in a specific chapter, in section 1.4.3.

In total, thirteen different PLC-isoforms and isozymes have been identified and characterized (i.e. PLC- β 1-4; PLC- γ 1-2; PLC- δ 1, - δ 3, - δ 4; PLC- ϵ , PLC- ζ , PLC- η). The different isoforms are coupled to different upstream signaling pathways and receptors. For instance, the isoform PLC- β has been shown to be activated by the GPCRs whereas the isoform PLC- γ has been shown to be regulated by the RTKs [3,5,21,33,35] (Fig. 1). The PLC- β 1-4 isoforms show different expression patterns in a tissue-specific manner and can be activated downstream from the GPCRs [35].

In the scope of this thesis, the S1P receptors, which are GPCRs that mediate their effects through activated G-proteins (see section 1.6.2 on S1P receptors), are of main interest with respect to PLC activation. The focus is therefore on the isoform PLC-ß. The four identified isozymes of the PLC-ß can each be activated by the G-protein $G\alpha_q$. The PLC-ß isozymes show different levels of activation upon binding of $G\alpha_q$, the isoforms PLC-ß1 and -ß3 being robustly activated while

the isoforms PLC-&B2 and - &B4 are activated to a lesser extent [36]. In addition, PLC-&B1-3 are activated by the G-protein complex $G_{\&P}$. Further, all PLC-&B isoforms are activated by Ca^{2+} , and Ca^{2+} may thus act as a synergistic amplifier of the PLC-&B-mediated signaling. Multiple different or complementary models for the specific molecular mechanisms for PLC activation by the G_{α} and $G_{\&P}$ proteins, respectively, have been proposed [33,36,37]. Interestingly, the PLC-&B proteins also act as GTPase activating proteins (GAP), inducing the GTP hydrolysis and subsequent inactivation of the $G\alpha_q$, specifically. Hence, the G_q -mediated activation of PLC-&B is rapidly reversed by the negative feedback through GAP activity. PLC-&B proteins may also be activated through phosphorylation by various protein kinases, and e.g. by association with the small GTPase, Rac [33,36,37].

1.4.2 Protein kinase C family

The PKC family of proteins are ubiquitously expressed, closely related enzymes that function as serine-threonine protein kinases, and, importantly, the activation of the PKC signaling pathway is closely linked to the components of the (activated) PLC-mediated Ca²⁺ pathway [38]. The PKCs have been identified as key regulators of multiple cellular processes, such as tumorigenesis, apoptosis, cell cycle regulation, differentiation, proliferation, angiogenesis and cell survival [39,40]. Not surprisingly, as the PKCs are involved in the regulation of a wide variety of cell physiological events, they have also been found to play a major role in multiple disease conditions such as cancer, stroke, neurodegenerative conditions, autoimmune disorders, heart failure and psychiatric illness [39].

The PKC proteins comprehend a multifunctional family including at least ten different isoforms and splice variants of the PKC isoenzymes that have been identified to date. The PKCs are further categorized as classical, novel and atypical PKCs by their mode of activation. The classical PKCs (cPKCs) were initially found to be regulated by Ca²⁺ binding, DAG and phorbol esters, whereas in contrast, the novel PKCs (nPKCs) that were characterized later on were found not to require Ca²⁺ binding for their activation and are thus modulated by DAG and phorbol esters only. The atypical PKCs' (aPKCs) activation is independent of both DAG and Ca²⁺ binding [38,40]. Further, the classical PKCs comprise the isoforms termed PKC α , PKC β I, PKC β II and PKC γ , the novel PKCs comprise the isoforms termed PKC δ , PKC ϵ , PKC η and PKC θ , and, finally, the atypical PKCs are termed PKC ζ and PKC ι . [40].

The regulation of PKC activation and inactivation is modulated by multiple pathways. As a first step towards PKC activation, the enzyme needs to go through a maturation process involving phosphorylation by phosphoinositidedependent kinase 1, followed by autophosphorylation events. Only after the maturation process the PKC enzyme is stabile and gains the ability to become activated by the increase in cytoplasmic Ca²⁺ and DAG levels, respectively. The inactive maturated PKCs are mostly residing in the cytoplasm, and upon activation, the PKCs may translocate to the cell or organelle membranes to bind and phosphorylate their target proteins, thus initiating downstream signaling events [40]. Thus, the activation of PKC is following the dynamics of the intracellular Ca²⁺ signal, wheres the inactivation of PKC is following the dynamics of DAG breakdown [38,39].

The different PKCs couple to multiple central upstream and downstream signaling pathways and the many effects of the PKC isozymes may be cell-type specific and context-dependent, with some of the PKC isoforms having opposing effects e.g. in the regulation of cell survival, proliferation and apoptosis [40].

1.4.3 IP₃ receptors

Inositol trisphosphate (IP_3) receptors are the central regulators of the activation of Ca^{2+} efflux from the ER. As mentioned in the above chapter, the IP₃ receptor protein family comprises three closely related isoforms, the IP₃R I-III. The respective isoforms are ubiquitously expressed and the expression profiles of the isoforms overlap, but certain tissues may also show specific and limited IP₃R sub-type expression [41]. IP₃ receptor gating is mainly achieved by the receptor's ligand IP₃, but IP₃Rs also harbor Ca²⁺ binding sites which modulate the channel activity in a Ca^{2+} concentration dependent manner. Hence, Ca^{2+} can function as a regulator of the IP₃Rs, providing an important feedback pathway for tuning the ER Ca²⁺ release through the IP₃Rs. Importantly, Ca²⁺ binding to the IP₃R may be an activating (at low $[Ca^{2+}]_{cyt}$) or an inhibiting (at high $[Ca^{2+}]_{cyt}$) factor for the channel opening [42,43]. Of note, IP₃R stimulation and opening by Ca^{2+} is termed Ca²⁺ induced Ca²⁺ release, or CICR [44]. Further, it has been postulated that the IP₃ receptors may be modulated through proteolysis by calpains, resulting in fragmented but functional IP₃ receptor proteins with altered function and Ca²⁺ flux dynamics [18].

The cytoplasmic Ca²⁺ pattern, as induced by the generation of IP₃ and modulated by CICR, differs depending on the extent of IP₃ stimulation [9]. Bootman et al [45] have investigated the hierarchy of cytoplasmic Ca²⁺ events in terms of the kinetics and amplitude of the cytoplasmic Ca²⁺ signal, and defined three categories of the cytoplasmic Ca²⁺ pattern, i.e. Ca²⁺ "blips", "puffs and "waves". As identified by Bootman et al [45] and reviewed by Taylor et al ([44]) the different hierarchical events reflect the degree of IP₃ receptor stimulation levels and the kinetics and amplitude of the resulting cytoplasmic Ca²⁺ signal. In this scheme, the Ca²⁺ blib resembles the opening of a single IP₃ receptor, which can be followed by larger IP₃ and CICR induced Ca²⁺ release event, a Ca²⁺ puff, near to the specific sub-population of IP₃ receptors that are being activated upon a modest stimulation [44]. Further, during a greater agonist stimulation, the flux of cytoplasmic Ca²⁺ can move throughout the volume of the cell cytoplasm as a Ca²⁺ wave. In addition, Ca²⁺ oscillations of repeatedly increasing and decreasing cytoplasmic Ca²⁺ concentrations may arise depending on the extent of agonist stimulation and IP_3 receptor population expressed by the cell. In addition, the cytoplasmic Ca^{2+} oscillations may be modulated by the above-mentioned concentration-dependent feedback activation or inhibition of the IP₃R by Ca²⁺ [42,44,46]. Notably, also the SOCE pathways along with the mechanisms regulating mitochondrial Ca^{2+} uptake are of importance in the modulation of the cytoplasmic Ca²⁺ oscillations [9,47], and functional mitochondrial Ca²⁺ uptake capacity along with undisturbed mitochondrial membrane potential have shown to be required for sustained cytoplasmic oscillations [48]. Cytoplasmic Ca²⁺ oscillations may also be relayed to the mitochondria in the form of sequential Ca^{2+} influx and efflux to and from the mitochondrial matrix [9,49]. In addition, cytoplasmic Ca²⁺ signal events, such as the Ca²⁺ waves or puffs, have been shown to be reflected in the cell nuclear compartment showing distinct Ca²⁺ kinetics [50]. Of note, nuclear Ca^{2+} has been shown to regulate nuclear target proteins, protein kinases or transcription factors [51].

Interestingly, a recent study by Bartok et al shows that the IP₃ receptor isoforms 1-3 are also involved in regulating the contacts and coupling between ER and mitochondria. In this study, the regulation of the ER-mitochondria contact sites by the IP₃ receptors was shown to be independent of the Ca²⁺ signaling function of the IP₃ receptors, thus proposing a novel functional role for the IP₃ receptors as modulators of organelle interaction. Further, it was shown in the same study that the IP₃ receptor 2 is the most efficient of the IP₃ receptor isoforms in transferring Ca²⁺ from the ER to the mitochondria [52].

Thus, IP_3 receptors are central regulators of cell physiology through controlling cellular Ca²⁺ signaling in a complex fashion with a multitude of cellular outcomes depending on the cell physiological context, or tissue. Hence, and not surprisingly given the widespread functions of the IP_3 receptor isoforms, there is an extensive body of evidence emerging, showing the involvement of IP_3 receptor mutations in a plethora of disease, such as neurological disease and cancer [41].

1.4.4 Store-operated calcium entry, SOCE

The depletion of the ER Ca²⁺, that occurs for instance during agonist-stimulation and the consequent activation of the IP₃Rs, is compensated by Ca²⁺ entry through PM-residing channels in a process called the store-operated Ca²⁺ entry, SOCE. Essential to the initiation of SOCE are the transmembrane proteins, stromal interaction molecules (STIM1 & 2), that reside in the ER membrane and act as Ca²⁺ sensor proteins in the ER lumen [53]. SOCE is facilitated by the collectively named Ca2+-release-activated Ca2+ (CRAC) channels or, alternatively, storeoperated Ca²⁺ channels (SOCCs). The prominent CRAC/SOCC channel-forming molecules in the PM are the Orai1-3 proteins. In addition, multiple channels of the canonical TRP-family (TRPC) have been shown to conduct Ca²⁺ during SOCE. Also, TRPC1 and Orai1 may form functional complexes to mediate the SOCE influx [54]. The STIM proteins contain a Ca^{2+} -binding EF-hand domain and a sterile alpha-motif (SAM) domain that together regulate the Ca²⁺ sensing of the STIMs. The dissociation of Ca²⁺ from the EF domains causes STIMs to oligomerize and to form puncta structures in the ER that reside close to the PM. The oligomerized STIMs activate the CRAC/SOCC channels upon depletion of ER Ca²⁺. STIM1 and STIM2 have different activation kinetics, which is attributed to the differences in the SAM and the EF hand domains. STIM2 is sensitive to relatively small changes in ER luminal Ca²⁺ and is hence keeping control of the basal ER Ca²⁺. In contrast, STIM1 is activated upon robust reduction in ER luminal Ca²⁺ levels. [24,26,53,55–59]. STIM1 oligomerization leads to clustering of the Orai channels at ER-PM puncta thus forming a microdomain for Ca^{2+} influx. The activation of the Orai channels by STIM1 is thought to be achieved by interactions between the Orai C-terminal residues and the conserved STIM1 domain, SOAR [55,59]. Interestingly, and relevant to the topic of this thesis, also other intracellular compartments than the ER play a role here, as caveolae have been shown to harbor SOCE components and mitochondrial Ca²⁺ uptake is required for functional SOCE [27,60]. Of note, dysregulated SOCE is an important factor in cancer cell migration and proliferation [61] as well as in conditions such as neurodegenerative disease [62] and cardiac hypertrophy [63].

1.5 Compartmentalized Ca²⁺ signaling and Ca²⁺ microdomains: mitochondria and caveolae in the spotlight

Due to the multiple molecular mechanisms involved in the orchestration of intracellular Ca²⁺ regulation, as well as due to the many biological effects Ca²⁺ directly or indirectly accomplishes in the cell, the Ca²⁺ signaling events within the cell are known to take many different shapes and forms. That is, intracellular Ca²⁺ handling is compartmentalized at multiple different levels within the cytoplasmic region and, importantly, within specific cell organelles, and Ca²⁺ signals are context-dependent and there is great variation in the magnitude and spatiotemporal nature of the Ca²⁺ signaling events. For instance, the cytoplasmic Ca²⁺ signal, i.e. the elevated Ca²⁺ concentration emerging upon a stimulation, can cover the whole of the cytoplasm, or be spatially restricted to a limited proportion of the cytoplasm [44,64]. Local cytoplasmic Ca²⁺ signaling events, or Ca²⁺ microdomains, of this kind may arise for instance near an IP₃ receptor channel opening upon a modest receptor stimulation by the agonist, or at the vicinity of ion channels regulating Ca²⁺ microdomains may also be orchestrated by

organelles and cellular compartments. For instance, mitochondrial Ca^{2+} uptake and mitochondrial apposition to the ER contributes in the regulation of the local events, such as the IP₃-mediated Ca²⁺-release, and mitochondrial Ca²⁺ also contributes to SOCE regulation [9,65,66]. In addition, the PM is compartmentalized and harbors regions with distinct lipid and protein compositions, e.g. the flask-shaped membrane formations called caveolae that coordinate signaling events, including Ca²⁺ [67].

The mitochondrial and caveolar compartments, and their role in Ca²⁺ handling, were at the focus of this thesis, and are therefore respectively described below.

In addition, also other organelles, such as the lysosomes, have been shown to be important actors in the regulation of intracellular Ca^{2+} homeostasis, and are therefore briefly described.



Figure 2. Overview of mitochondrial calcium (Ca²⁺) handling. The outer mitochondrial membrane (OMM) is permeable to Ca²⁺, facilitated by the non-specific voltage-dependent anion channel (VDAC), through which Ca²⁺ enters the intermembrane space (IMS). The inner mitochondrial membrane (IMM) harbors the mitochondrial calcium uniporter complex (MCUx) that regulates the influx of Ca²⁺ to the mitochondrial matrix. The MCU complex consists of the pore-forming mitochondrial calcium uniporter (MCU) and the regulatory subunits. MCUb-isoform is a negative regulator (red blunt arrow) of MCU whereas EMRE (essential MCU regulator) positively modulates (green arrow) MCU. The MCU regulator 1 (MCUR1) expression is required for MCU-mediated Ca²⁺ uptake. The mitochondrial calcium uptake proteins (MICU1/2) function as sensors of Ca²⁺ and modulate the Ca²⁺ uptake threshold of MCU. NCLX is the mitochondrial Na⁺/Ca²⁺ exchanger. Ca²⁺ is an essential component in the regulation of mitochondrial adenosine trisphosphate (ATP) production. Adapted from [9].

1.5.1 Mitochondrial Ca²⁺

Mitochondria, the energy-producing cell organelles, consist of two membranes, namely the outer mitochondrial membrane (OMM) and the inner mitochondrial membrane (IMM). Between these membranes is the intramembrane space (IMS). The IMM envelopes the mitochondrial matrix where the main cellular energy unit, ATP, is being produced through oxidative phosphorylation. The OMM is permeable to Ca²⁺, the permeability of which is attributed to the non-selective voltage-dependent anion channel (VDAC) that resides in the OMM. VDAC is permeable to ions and small molecules. Importantly, VDAC also allows for ATP translocation from the mitochondria to the cytoplasm [9,68–70].

Mitochondria have been known to take up Ca^{2+} for decades [71] but the components and molecular mechanism of mitochondrial matrix Ca²⁺ uptake regulation, and some of the downstream effects, have been elucidated during the past decade. The early mitochondrial Ca²⁺ uptake studies highlighted the role of Ca²⁺ as a regulator the mitochondrial permeability transition, a process leading to the release of mitochondrial content, e.g. cvtochrome c, to the cvtoplasm, a process which initiates the process of cell death [72]. Importantly, Ca²⁺ has been found to be essential for the regulation of mitochondrial matrix enzymes that are involved in the ATP production by oxidative phosphorylation, and Ca^{2+} is thus involved in regulating the central elements of cellular energy metabolism [73– 75]. Also, a recent study has highlighted the role of cytoplasmic Ca^{2+} in the regulation of oxidative phosphorylation [76]. In addition to the essential role as a regulator of mitochondrial energy metabolism, mitochondrial Ca²⁺ regulation also has been shown to exert widespread physiological and pathophysiological effects ranging from regulating skeletal muscle function to contributing to postmortem proteolysis and tenderness in beef cattle, and playing key roles in multiple neurodegenerative processes and disease conditions, contributing to multiple aspects of oncogenesis, and beyond [77-83].

1.5.2 Regulation of mitochondrial Ca²⁺

The main protein component regulating mitochondrial Ca^{2+} uptake and Ca^{2+} conductance is the mitochondrial Ca²⁺ uniporter (MCU). The molecular identities of the uniporter MCU, and its isoform MCUb, were recently characterized [9,84-86]. MCU activity has been found to be modulated by several interacting molecules: MCUR1 (MCU regulator 1), MICU1-3 (mitochondrial Ca²⁺ uptake protein) and EMRE (essential MCU regulator). The characterization of these regulatory proteins have greatly expanded the knowledge on the regulatory toolkit of mitochondrial matrix Ca²⁺ handling [71,84,85,87–92]. Further, the molecular identity of the mitochondrial Na $^+$ /Ca $^{2+}$ exchanger NCLX was recently resolved and thus NCLX was confirmed to be a major regulator of mitochondrial matrix Ca^{2+} [93]. Interstingly, the NCLX may also operate in reverse mode, transporting Ca^{2+} from the IMS to the matrix [49]. The current view is that mitochondrial Ca²⁺ uptake is mainly achieved in a coordinated fashion by multiple different interacting proteins, the so called MCU complex (Fig. 2). The MCU complex consists of the pore-forming MCU and its regulatory subunits mentioned above.

The proteins regulating MCU may exert negative or positive regulation of the mitochondrial matrix Ca²⁺ uptake capacity. The MCUb-isoform has been characterized as a negative regulator of MCU, whereas EMRE expression and EMRE binding to MCU is needed for effective mitochondrial Ca²⁺ uptake [87,94]. Interestingly, the expression pattern of EMRE, and EMRE binding stoichiometry to MCU, were recently characterized in mouse tissues. In this study, it was found

that EMRE expression varies between the different tissue types, and, in accordance, the stoichiometry of MCU-EMRE binding also shows tissue specificity. This finding may in part elucidate the possible mechanism for the variable mitochondrial Ca²⁺ uptake dynamics that have been found in different tissue and cell types [95]. Further, it has been shown that MICU1 and MICU2 reside in the IMS and act as Ca^{2+} sensors to regulate the threshold of Ca^{2+} uptake through the MCU [87,94]. It has been shown that MICU1/2 form heterodimers and they both contain two EF-hand domains that bind Ca²⁺ [9,90]. The dimeric MICU1/2 has been postulated to interact with EMRE to regulate MCU activity [96]. Different models for the mode of MCU regulation by the gatekeeper MICU proteins have been reported. For instance, MICU1 has been shown to inhibit Ca2+ entry to mitochondria through the MCU at low cytoplasmic Ca²⁺, whereas upon exposure to high cytoplasmic Ca2+ concentration, MICU1 augments MCUmediated Ca²⁺ uptake. [9,87,94,97,98]. Of note, different tissues have been shown to have varying degrees of expression of the three MICU proteins, and thus, along with the above-mentioned EMRE protein level variation in tissues, their expression pattern is likely contributing to the tissue-specific differences in mitochondrial matrix Ca²⁺ uptake capacity [91,99].

In addition, other proteins that have been indicated to contribute to the regulation of mitochondrial matrix Ca^{2+} include the mitochondrial uncoupling proteins 2 and 3 (UCP2/3), mitochondrially localized TRPC3, and the leucine zipper EF-hand- containing transmembrane protein 1 (LETM1) that has been shown to act as a Ca^{2+}/H^+ exchanger [9,100,101].



Figure 3. Plasma membrane (PM) invaginations, caveolae, harbor molecules, receptors and channels important for Ca²⁺ signaling. Caveolar compartments are cholesterol-rich and the main structural proteins of caveolae are the caveolins 1-3 and the cavins 1-4. Phosphoinositides such as phosphatidylinositol phosphate (PIP) and phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate PIP₂, as well as phospholipase proteins A, B, C and D reside in the caveolae. Ion and Ca²⁺ transporters and channels are associated with the caveolae. Receptor tyrosine kinase (RTK) and G-protein-coupled (GPCR) receptors localize to caveola. These receptors couple to phospholipase C (PLC) that cleaves PIP₂, thus forming inositol trisphosphate (IP₃) that binds to the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) IP₃-receptors to stimulate Ca²⁺ release from the organelle. Caveolae and ER may be in close apposition, thus forming a possible IP₃ and Ca²⁺ signaling microdomain [102]. Figure adapted from [27,103].

1.5.3 Ca²⁺ at the caveolar sub-compartments of the plasma membrane

Caveolae are omega-shaped, approximately 60 to 80 nanometer wide invaginations of the PM. The caveolae are considered to act mainly as signaling hubs where also multiple transporter proteins and ion channels have been found to be localized at. In addition, the caveolae have also been attributed functions as being involved in cellular mechanosensing processes and also contributing to mechanoprotection functions at the cell membrane [67,104]. Caveolae and caveolae-associated molecules are also found to be involved in the formation and regulation of endocytic vesicles which are involved in mediating intracellular vesicular transport. The major identified constituents of caveolae are the caveolin 1-3 and cavin 1-4 proteins, respectively. The caveolin proteins are considered to be the main structural proteins of caveolae, whereas cavins are thought to contribute to the structure and regulation of caveolae formation. Of note, also other protein components that are possibly associated with the formation of caveolae have been identified [105,106]. The caveolar compartment of the PM has been shown to harbor a characteristic lipid composition, showing for instance accumulated levels of cholesterol and certain glycosphingolipid species, and thus differing from the overall PM also in this respect.

Functionally, the caveolins are integral proteins of the PM. In general terms, caveolin-1 and caveolin-3 are considered as the most abundant and constitute key components of caveolae. Caveolin proteins are able to form oligomers and have the capacity to bind to cholesterol. Further, the cavin proteins have also been shown to bind to lipids, such as PIP_2 . Intriguingly, the amount of observed caveolae structures varies greatly between different tissues and cell types. For instance, the PM of skeletal muscle cells harbors caveolae at a high density whereas other cell types may be completely devoid of caveolae. In agreement, the caveolin protein expression levels highly vary in a tissue-specific manner [103,107]. While the various aspects of the molecular structure of caveolae are still to be elucidated, the current literature indicates that oligomerized caveolin proteins together with the caveolins contribute to the structure and stability, as well as to the functional modulation of the caveolae [107–109].

Importantly, caveolae and the related proteins have been linked to the progression of various diseases, including oncogenesis in humans [103,110]. For instance, cavins 1-3 have been shown to act as tumor suppressors, whereas the oncogenic effect of caveolin-1 expression is context-dependent [103,111].

Interestingly, multiple protein and lipid molecules that are either directly or indirectly involved in the regulation of intracellular Ca^{2+} have been shown to be localized to the caveolar sub-compartments of the PM. These molecules include TPRC channels, the PM Na⁺/Ca²⁺ exchanger (NCX), the GPCR and RTK receptor proteins, the lipid PIP₂, and PLC that cleaves PIP₂ to form IP₃ [27]. Further, caveolin-1 expression has been shown to regulate cytoplasmic and mitochondrial Ca²⁺ uptake in a H-Ras-dependent tumor model [111]. Also, it has been shown that the IP₃-receptors and the ER may be closely positioned with the caveolae [102,112]. In addition, it has been recently shown that caveolin-1 is needed for proper localization of IP3R3 to the apical domain in cholangiocytes, and for the regulation of IP3R3 Ca²⁺ mediated signaling in these cells [113]. However, direct measurements of caveolar Ca²⁺ are limited. It has been shown that caveolar intracellular vesicles may act as sources for ATP-mediated Ca²⁺

release in endothelial cells [114,115]. Further, we have shown by employing a novel luminescent aequorin-based caveolin-1 -tagged Ca^{2+} reporter probe that caveolae may act as specific sub-compartments of the PM where specific Ca^{2+} (micro)domains may arise.

In this study, we found that sphingosine kinase 1 (SK1) overexpression, likely in a concerted fashion with the altered downstream sphingolipid-mediated signaling, is involved in the modulation of Ca^{2+} signaling specifically at the caveolar (micro)domains of the PM, while not affecting the Ca^{2+} signaling at the overall sub-PM domain (see Results section of this thesis and publication 1, ref. [116]).

1.5.4 The involvement of (endo)lysosomes in intracellular Ca $^{2+}$ regulation

Lysosomes are dynamic organelles that are key in the management and clearance of cellular debris through proteolytic processes taking place in the lumen of the acidic organelle. To achieve this, lysosomes harbor a range of functions facilitating the pathways necessary for the function of the organelle. The components of these pathways and functions include structural membrane proteins, proteins that act as transporters or channels, along with regulatory proteins that are facilitating membrane vesicle trafficking functions such as the coordinated fusion and fission events of the endosomes and lysosomes, i.e. the endo-lysosomal pathway. In addition, signaling functions that are important for the cellular metabolic housekeeping and homeostasis have been attributed to the lysosomes. [117] Interestingly, lysosomes have been identified to have the capacity to store Ca²⁺ ions, and lysosomes have been proposed to play a role in regulating Ca²⁺ signaling in cells through direct lysosome-associated activatable membrane channels, and through interactions with the ER and ER Ca²⁺ release [118,119].

Notably, the functions of the endo-lysosomal two-pore channels (TPCs), shown to be directly involved in the lysosomal Ca^{2+} regulation, have been elucidated relatively recently. TPCs are currently considered as the key components that regulate Ca^{2+} release from the lysosomes. Intriguingly, TPCs are cation channels with a dual nature to their function, as their ion conductance depends on which of the two identified stimulatory pathways is activating the channel. That is, TPCs have been identified to become activated by nicotinic acid adenine dinucleotide phosphate, NAADP, which through a NAADP receptor associated with the TPC, activates a non-selective Ca^{2+} flux through the TPC channel. In addition, the TPCs have been shown to be activated by phosphatidylinositol 3,5-bisphosphate, PI(3,5)P₂. In contrast to the NAADP-mediated lysosomal Ca^{2+} flux, TPC stimulation by PI(3,5)P₂ takes place through direct binding and activates a selective Na⁺ flux [119]. TRP channels of the mucolipin family have been
indicated as contributors to the lysosomal Ca^{2+} release [118]. It has been shown that endocytic processes and the following release of endosomal Ca^{2+} to the cytoplasm may facilitate Ca^{2+} uptake of cells [120].

Interestingly, lysosomes have been shown to interact through close membrane contacts or associations with the ER and mitochondria, with implications for inter-regulation of Ca^{2+} signaling by these organelles. Importantly, the Ca^{2+} pathways of the ER-mitochondria-lysosome axis have been shown to modulate key cell physiological processes such as autophagy and apoptosis [121]. It has been postulated that lysosomal Ca^{2+} refilling takes place at membrane contact sites between ER and the lysosomes [122].



Figure 4. Processing and effects of the central sphingolipids ceramide (cer), sphingosine (sph) and sphingosine 1-phosphate (S1P). Ceramide is either synthesized de novo or converted from sphingosine by ceramide synthases (CerS). Sphingosine is generated from ceramide by ceramidase (CDase) and further phosphorylated to sphingosine 1-phosphate by sphingosine kinase 1 (SK1). S1P phosphatase (S1Ppase) dephosphorylates S1P back to sphingosine. S1P is transferred out from the cells through the plasma membrane (PM)-residing transporters for auto/paracrine activation of the G-protein-coupled S1P-receptors (S1PR₁₋₅). Ceramide and sphingosine promote cell death pathways whereas S1P augments cell survival and migration. Modified from [123,124].



Figure 5. Sphingosine 1-phosphate receptors (S1PR₁₋₅) and some of their downstream targets. S1P-receptors couple to different G-proteins (G_i; G_{q/11}; G_{12/13}) and thus activate or inhibit different downstream targets such as adenylyl cyclase (AC), extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK), phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K), Rho and Rac guanosine trisphosphate (GTP)ases, and phospholipase C/Ca²⁺ signaling. Some of the downstream cellular effects are listed. Modified from [125–127].

1.6 Sphingolipid signaling and Sphingosine kinases

Sphingolipids serve important cellular functions as integrated constituents of the PM and organelle membranes, and, importantly, as signaling molecules [123]. The central sphingolipids that regulate cell function include ceramide, sphingosine and sphingosine 1-phosphate (S1P) (S1P metabolism is summarized in Fig. 4). Sphingosine is formed by ceramidases through deacetylation of ceramide, which is generated de novo or through hydrolysis of sphingomyelin [124]. Sphingosine is phosphorylated by one of the two identified sphingosine kinases (SK1 and SK2) to form the lipid S1P, which has been found to contribute to several important signaling functions. Phosphorylation of sphingosine to form S1P by SK1/2 is ATP dependent, and the SK isoforms contain domains that are conserved, including the ATP-binding domain. Also, various splice-variant forms for both SK1 and SK2 have been identified. Mouse model studies have shown that SK1/2 double knock-out results in embryonic lethality in these animals. Interestingly, the SK1 and SK2 are able to compensate for the knock-out of one of the kinases in mice, thus showing mechanistic redundancy

as these animals are observed as phenotypically normal [128]. However, the two kinase isoforms have been identified to serve distinct cellular functions and have different cellular localization patterns. For instance, SK1 has been found to be mostly cytosolic but translocation of the kinase may occur for instance to the nucleus and endosomes, and, importantly, to the cell membrane [129], whereas SK2 may show localization to mitochondria, to the endoplasmic reticulum and to the cell nucleus as well [128].

Importantly, the S1P generated by SK1/2 in the intracellular space can be transported to the extracellular milieu through specific transporter molecules residing at the PM. Some of the proteins of the ATP-binding cassette transporter family, as well as the spinster 2 (SPNS2) protein, have been identified as mediators of S1P transport to the extracellular space [130,131].

1.6.1 Cellular effects of sphingolipid signaling and S1P

In a generalized view, increased levels of ceramide and sphingosine are considered to promote cell death, whereas increase of S1P augments e.g. cell proliferation and migration. Thus, the SKs are in control of the balance of these sphingolipids that have opposing effects on the cell fate regulation (Fig. 4). This balance, and the downstream cellular effects on e.g. cell fate regulation, of the key sphingolipid species is sometimes termed as the "sphingolipid rheostat" [123]. Consequently, the SK1/S1P signaling axis is an important factor in the oncogenic processes [123,124] as well as in neurodegenerative disease such as multiple sclerosis and the Charcot-Marie-Tooth disease [132–135]. S1P has been identified to have direct binding to intracellular target proteins, contributing to the modulation of their function. To date, five PM-residing G-protein coupled S1P-receptors have been identified and characterized to mediate the extracellular singaling route of S1P [136]. The intracellular interaction targets of S1P include for instance prohibitin 2 (a mitochondrial regulatory protein for respiratory function), and it has been shown that SK2 depletion leads to decreased mitochondrial respiration. In addition, S1P binds to TNF receptorassociated factor 2 to regulate nuclear factor kappa B -mediated cell signaling [128,136]. Further, S1P modulates histone deacetylase 1/2 function which results in altered epigenetic control of target genes c-Fos and p21 [137]. Interestingly, it was shown in mice that S1P also modulates amyloid beta peptide metabolism by affecting the function of the β -site APP cleaving enzyme 1, BACE1, thus indicating potential relevance of intracellular S1P signaling in Alzheimer's disease [138]. S1P has also been shown to directly modulate the peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma to regulate the downstream gene expression thereof [128]. Thus, intracellular S1P signaling plays a role in multiple cellular functions such as modulation of angiogenesis, mitochondrial function and respiration, as well as gene regulation [124].

1.6.2 Sphingosine 1-phosphate receptors

As mentioned in the previous chapter, the extracellular signaling functions of S1P are mainly mediated through the dedicated S1P-binding, PM-residing Gprotein-coupled receptors (GPCRs). To date, five S1P receptors, termed SIPR1-5, have been characterized. Most of the S1PRs have also been found to couple to Ca²⁺ signaling events through the respective downstream signaling cascades (Fig. 5) [125]. Mechanistically, the S1P receptor activation resembles the classical GPCR activation, e.g. the binding of the ligand S1P triggers a change of conformation in the receptor protein, and the conformational change facilitates the exchange of guanosine diphosphate (GDP) to guanosine triphosphate GTP) on the G-protein subunit $G\alpha$, leading to the dissociation of the heterotrimeric Gprotein complex $G\alpha\beta\gamma$ from the receptor. Further, the $G\alpha$ subunit dissociates from the subunit complex $G\beta\gamma$. Both the monomeric $G\alpha$ and the dimeric $G\beta\gamma$ subunits are thus activated and can contribute to various downstream signaling effects. In addition, multiple isoforms of the $G\alpha$ subunit have been characterized, e.g. the stimulatory $G\alpha s$ protein, the inhibitory $G\alpha i$ protein and, importantly, the Gq group of proteins (e.g. Ga11) which are known to be PLC-activating and thus directly triggering intracellular Ca^{2+} release through the IP₃ mediated pathway [126,139].

The S1PRs have been characterized to contribute to the regulation of multiple downstream signaling pathways, modulating various cell physiological processes such as cell migration and proliferation [124,140], with important implications for disease conditions such as cancer, osteoporosis, atherosclerosis, diabetes and degenerative conditions including Parkinson's and Alzheimer's disease, as well as multiple sclerosis and Huntington's disease [133,141,142]. Some of the S1P-mediated cell physiological effects are summarized in Fig. 5.

1.6.3 Inter-regulation of Ca²⁺ signaling and the Sphingosine Kinase/S1P axis

As mentioned above, the activity of SK1 and SK2 regulate the production of S1P, and the site of S1P production may be affected by the intracellular localization of the two SK isoforms. When activated, SK1 localizes primarily to the PM where the substrate of the kinase, sphingosine, is found [140]. The SK1 PM translocation has been shown to be phosphorylation-dependent [143] and for instance the extracellular regulated kinase 1/2 (ERK1/2) has been shown to phosphorylate SK1 and to regulate its localization to the PM [144]. Calmodulin inhibition has been shown to block the PM translocation of SK1 [145]. Of note, it has been shown that calcium and calmodulin are involved in the regulation of ERK1/2 signaling [146] indicating the possibility that Ca²⁺ through ERK1/2 signaling may modulate SK1 translocation and activity. Indeed, by employing

computational modeling, it has been postulated that the interplay and feedback regulation of ERK1/2 and Ca²⁺ signaling along with the activation of SK1 are important components in the modulation of vascular endothelial growth factor receptor 2 (VEGFR2) signaling [147].

Interestingly, the Ca^{2+} and integrin binding protein, CIB1, which is a myristoylated protein with a Ca²⁺-myristoyl switch function, has been shown to regulate the PM localization of SK1 [148,149]. Hence, CIB1 directly contributes to the Ca²⁺-dependent activation of SK1. Of note, CIB2 which lacks the Ca²⁺myristoyl switch function, is able to bind SK1 at the same domain as CIB1, but this binding results in an inhibitory effect to SK1 translocation and activation [150]. Importantly, it has been shown that SK1 translocation to the PM increases both the amount of S1P being produced, and its release to the extracellular milieu [143,148]. As mentioned above, because the polar nature of S1P it cannot passively cross through the PM bilayer and thus active transport of S1P through the PM been shown to take place [123,131,151]. Interestingly, in rat platelets, it has been shown that the cellular extrusion of S1P is activated by Ca^{2+} [152]. The interplay and feedback between Ca²⁺ signaling, the SK1 activity, the S1P extrusion, and the auto/paracrine activation of S1P receptors, have been studied and it has been indicated that S1P may modulate Ca2+ through yet uncharacterized intracellular means [128,153–155]. Thus, the SK1/S1P and Ca²⁺ signaling axis may be inter-regulated, and the possible and indicated schemes are summarized in Fig. 6.



Figure 6. Inter-regulation of sphingosine kinase 1 (SK1) and Ca²⁺. Membrane translocation and activation of SK1 are regulated by Ca²⁺ through extracellular signal-regulated kinase $\frac{1}{2}$ (ERK1/2) -mediated phosphorylation (P) and through interactions with the Ca²⁺/integrin-binding protein 1 (CIB1). Activated SK1 phosphorylates sphingosine (sph) to form sphingosine 1-phosphate (S1P). Plasma membrane (PM) - residing transporters move S1P to the extracellular space for auto- and paracrine activation of the G-protein coupled S1P-receptors (S1PRs), most of which couple to the phospholipase C (PLC) pathway. Activated PLC cleaves (phosphatidylinositol-4,5-biphosphate) PIP₂ to form inositol trisphosphate (IP₃), which stimulates the IP₃-receptors and the subsequent release of Ca²⁺ from the endoplasmic reticulum (ER). The released Ca²⁺ can be taken up by the mitochondria. S1P may induce the realease of intracellularly stored Ca²⁺ through unknown mechanisms (indicated with '?'). Adapted from Pulli et al, ref. [125].

1.7 Oxysterol-binding protein related-proteins 5 and 8 (ORP5/8) as regulators of lipids and Ca²⁺ at membrane contact sites

1.7.1 Cell and organelle membranes

The cell membrane and the membranes encapsulating the different cell organelles are essential for maintaining the processes of life [1]. The lipid composition of the different membrane types varies, and the lipid composition is also a key determinant of cell and organelle membrane function. Cell and organelle membranes are composed of various lipid species, and the specific ratios of different lipid species may greatly affect the membrane properties. Also, cell and organelle membranes may be compartmentalized, e.g. the membranes may harbor sites where certain lipid species may be organized in a specific composition with specific functions, and thus the lipid distribution within cell and organelle membranes is regulated by several mechanisms. Membranes are also compartmentalized in regard to their protein content and the protein and lipid distribution and interactions may affect the properties and biological function of the membrane, and in part modulate the function of the membrane receptors and channels [104,156,157].

To regulate the cell and organelle membranes' composition and function, lipid transfer from the site of lipid synthesis to the site where the lipid is to exert its function is essential. Further, the cellular lipid landscape is highly dynamic as the membrane's lipid composition is regulated by, and involved in regulating, various cell singaling events [156,158]. To achieve the specific lipid composition for a specific organelle, the lipid synthesis and transport between the different organelles is tightly controlled [156]. In this process, lipid-binding proteins are essential. Lipid-binding proteins are a class of proteins with a hydrophobic motif that allows the binding and transport of lipids in the cytoplasm from a membrane to another [159].

1.7.2 Oxysterol-binding related-proteins and their role as membrane lipid regulators and sensors

The protein family of oxysterol-binding protein related-proteins (ORPs) have been characterized as lipid-binding proteins [156]. Twelve mammalian genes have been identified to encode for ORPs with various cellular functions ascribed to them. The different members of the ORP family of proteins are mainly thought to function as lipid sensors and lipid transfer proteins, facilitating the movement of lipids within the cell and between the organelles. For instance, ORPs have been found to facilitate lipid transfer between the ER and the plasma membrane, thus contributing to the cellular lipid dynamics. Importantly, ORP-mediated events regulating lipid composition or lipid dynamics also couple to a multitude of cellular events, including the modulation of protein interaction and activity, thus having the potential to regulate cell signaling events and pathways [156,160].

The different members of the ORP family of proteins have been shown to regulate the transport of lipids in a non-vesicular fashion [161,162]. ORP proteins have been found to ligate multiple lipid species, such as cholesterol, phosphoserine, phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate (PIP₂) and phosphatidylinositol-4-phosphate (PI4P) [156,163,164].

1.7.3 Oxysterol-binding related-proteins 5/8 function at the membrane contact sites

Lipid transfer and other forms of communication between the cell and the different organelle membranes take place at the membrane contact sites (MCS), areas of close apposition and tight membrane interaction. MCS have been found to exist, for instance, between ER and mitochondria, ER and the PM, mitochondria and the PM as well as within the two mitochondrial membranes [165]. MCS play an important role in contributing to lipid transfer and facilitating communication between organelles by different mechanisms, including signaling through second messengers such as the Ca²⁺ ion [104]. Proteins of the ORP family have been shown to exert lipid transport functions at the MCS between specific cellular organelles and compartments, such as the junctions of the mitochondria and the ER as well as at the PM-ER contact sites [158,163,164,166,167].

Importantly, the ORP5 and ORP8 proteins which were the subjects of this study, have been found to contribute to the regulation of lipid localization in the different cellular compartments such as the PM, ER, mitochondria and lysosomes, and at the close appositions or contact sites of these organelles or compartments [168]. For instance, ORP5/8 have been found to contribute to countertransport of phosphatidylinositol-4-phosphate (PI4P) and phosphatidylserine at the PM-ER MCS [166]. In addition, ORP5/8 have been shown to bind to and regulate the transfer of PIP₂ from the PM to the ER [169].

Taken together, the ORP5/8 have been shown to function in a compartmentalized fashion to regulate local events at the membrane junctions of organelles, with important implications to oncogenic processes.

2 METHODS

2.1 Cell culture, plasmids and transfections

HeLa human cervical carcinoma cell lines were employed as the main cell model in this study. Further, human follicular thyroid cancer cell line, FTC-133, as well as the human thyroid cancer cell line ML-1 were used. The cells were grown in a humidified and thermostatic incubator with a controlled atmosphere (37 °C, 5% CO2). The HeLa and the ML-1 cells were grown in DMEM medium (#D6046, Sigma-Aldrich) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS) and 1% penicillin/streptomycin antibiotics (Life Sciences). The FTC-133 cells were cultured in DMEM and F12 (Ham's nutrient) medium (1:1) which was supplemented with 10% FBS, 2 mM L-glutamine and 1% penicillin/streptomycin antibiotics. Plasmid transfections were conducted by using the transfection reagent TurboFect (#R0531, Thermo Scientific) and the transfection media, OptiMEM (#31985-070, Life Technologies). Alternatively, the electroporation transfection method was employed; 20 µg of the desired plasmid construct were suspended with approximately 4 million cells in 400 µL OptiMEM transfection medium. The electroporation conditions were set at 240 V and 500 μ F. The plasmid carrying the ORP8 PH domain deletion was generated in a construct in pEGFP-C1 (Invitrogen) by amplifying the amino terminal fragment encoding aa residues 1-106 (Met-Val) with a SacI site at its 5' end and a SpeI site at its 3' end, and a another fragment downstream of the PH domain, beginning at Ser226, with a SpeI site at its 5' end and an EcoRI site at its 3' end. The fragments were ligated into pEGFP-ORP8 cut with SacI and EcoRI, resulting in a PH domain deletion construct lacking aa residues Ile107-Ser225. The sequence of the construct was before use confirmed by dideoxy sequencing. The plasmid constructs for aequorin expression and for expression of wild-type Orp5 and Orp8 were as described previously [30,116,170] Transduced HeLa mock cells or HeLa cells stably expressing sphingosine kinase 1 were created as described in [116].

2.2 Aequorin-based calcium measurements

As the primary method of this thesis work, the genetically targeted Ca²⁺ indicator protein, aequorin, was employed. Aequorin is a 22 kilodalton luminescent protein activated by Ca²⁺ ions. Upon Ca²⁺ binding, the prosthetic group of aequorin, coelenterazine, is oxidized in an irreversible reaction to produce photons (Fig. 7b'). Recombinant aequorin can be targeted to intracellular compartments by fusing the aequorin protein with a specific localization sequence. The aequorin constructs targeted to the cytoplasm, to the mitochondrial matrix, to the endoplasmic reticulum and to the plasma membrane were previously described [30]. The caveolin-1-aequorin construct that targets to the caveolin-1-enriched microdomains of the plasma membrane was described and validated in Publication 1 of this thesis (ref. [116]). The advantage of aequorin-based calcium measurements is its specificity for a given cell compartment (Fig. 7), and its high signal-to-noise ratio.

The detailed aequorin measurement protocol is reviewed in [30] and described in the original publications of this thesis [116,170,171]. Briefly, the cells were plated on to 12- or 96-well plates and transfected with the desired aequorin plasmid constructs. The following day the aequorin was reconstituted with the molecules' prosthetic group coelenterazine. For this, the cells were incubated with 5 µM wild-type coelenterazine or coelenterazine n, respectively, in HEPESbuffered saline solution (HBSS; 118 mM NaCl, 4.6 mM KCl, 10 mM glucose, 20 mM HEPES, pH 7.4). Samples that were transfected with aequorins targeted to the compartments with low basal Ca^{2+} levels, i.e. the cytoplasm or the mitochondria, were incubated in HBSS supplemented with 1 mM CaCl₂ and wildtype coelenterazine. However, when aequorins targeted to the PM or to the caveolae were employed, the incubation with wild-type coelenterazine was conducted in HBSS supplemented with the Ca2+ chelator EGTA (150 µM; ethylene glycol-bis(β-aminoethyl ether)-N,N,N',N'-tetraacetic acid). The Ca²⁺ concentration near the PM may reach high levels and hence the extracellular Ca²⁺ was chelated to avoid the oxidation of coelenterazine during the reconstituting incubation. To reconstitute the ER-targeting aequorin, the ER was pre-depleted of Ca^{2+} by treating the cells with the ionophore ionomycin in HBSS containing EGTA. Then, the cells were incubated for 3-4 hours at 4 °C in HBSS supplemented with EGTA and the less reactive coelenterazine n as described in [30]. The luminescence recordings were conducted as described before either by employing a luminometry setup that was built in-house, or by utilizing a plate reader (HIDEX Corp., Turku, Finland) [170].



Figure 7. Calcium (Ca²⁺) measurements employing the luminescent recombinant protein aequorin and the fluorescent Ca²⁺ indicator Fura-2-AM. A) Aequorin can be genetically modified to target to and to report Ca²⁺concentrations from subcellular compartments e.g. the caveolae, the plasma membrane (PM), the mitochondria and the endoplasmic reticulum (ER). Wild-type aequorin localizes to the cytoplasm. The ratiometric fluorescent Ca²⁺ indicatior Fura-2 is tagged with an acetoxymethyl (AM)group to facilitate PM permeability. Cytoplasmic esterases then cleave off the AM-group and Fura-2 is trapped in the cytoplasm, thus reporting the changes in Ca²⁺ in this compartment. B) The cytoplasmic Ca²⁺ flux and oscillations are representative from a four-cell colony of MCF7 breast carcinoma cells where the individual cells show different and distinct cytoplasmic Ca²⁺ kinetics upon stimulation with 10 μ M adenosine trisphosphate (ATP) as indicated with the green arrow. The caveolar, PM, mitochondrial and ER Ca²⁺ fluxes are representative from HeLa cells stimulated with 100 μ M histamine. b') Aequorin forms a complex with its prosthetic group coelenterazine (c). Upon Ca²⁺binding coelenterazine is oxidized (ox) and light is produced in a luminescence reaction.

2.3 Ca²⁺ measurements employing Fura-2-AM

The fluorescent, ratiometric Ca^{2+} indicator Fura-2-AM (Invitrogen) was employed as an alternative method for cytoplasmic Ca^{2+} measurements when cytosol-targeting aequorin was not applicable, e.g. for measurements of longer duration than what cytoplasmic aequorin allows for. The measurements employing Fura-2-AM were conducted as described in the original publications of this thesis [116,170,171]. Briefly, the cells were plated either on to poly-L-lysine coated 35 mm glass coverslips or onto white plastic 96-well plates. Then, the cells were incubated with 2 μ M Fura-2-AM in HBSS buffer in the dark and at room temperature for 30 minutes, followed by three washes and a further incubation in HBSS for 15 minutes. Then, after a brief wash, the cells were subjected to the fluorescence recordings. The fluorescent light was collected either by utilizing a microscopy setup or by a plate reader (HIDEX Corp, Turku, Finland), respectively. The excitation filters were set at 340 and 380 nanometers, respectively, and the emission was read at 505 nanometers. The ratio of the 340 nm and 380 nm excitations was calculated and used as a relative measure of intracellular cytoplasmic Ca²⁺.

2.4 Western blot

Western blot was conducted as described in [116,170,171]. Briefly, to prepare the samples the cells were plated on to the suitable cell culture plates (100 mm, 35 mm, 12-well or 96-well plates depending on the experiment) followed by a desired treatment or transfection. To collect the cell lysates, the cells were briefly washed with cold PBS, and then subjected to direct lysis in Laemmli sample buffer (LBS). The samples were then subjected to SDS-PAGE and transferred by wet transfer to a nitrocellulose membrane. The membranes were incubated overnight with the primary antibodies, followed by a 1-hour incubation with the horseradish peroxidase (HRP) –conjugated secondary antibodies. Thereafter, the protein bands were visualized by chemiluminescence. The antibodies were as reported in the original publications 1-3.

2.5 Cell migration

The experiments to measure cell migration were conducted as described in [171] and [172]. Briefly, the cells were detached from the culture plates, suspended in a serum-free medium and placed in to uncoated Transwell (Corning) membrane inserts to allow for migration for 12 hours towards the chemoattractant, i.e. cell culture medium containing fetal bovine serum. The insert membranes were processed to allow for counting the migrated cells, and the acquired cell counts were used for statistical analysis.

2.6 Cell proliferation

Thymidine incorporation assay was employed to measure the proliferation of cells as described in [170]. In brief, the cells were seeded on to 35-millimeter

culture plates, and, after 24 hours, transfected with the desired plasmid vectors. The cells were allowed to grow for 44 hours and then treated for four hours with ³H-thymidine at the final concentration of 0.4 μ Ci/ml. Thereafter the degree of thymidine incorporation was assessed by a measure of radioactivity by employing a liquid scintillation counter (Wallac 1410).

2.7 Immunocytochemistry and confocal microscopy

To conduct confocal microscopy imaging experiments, standard protocols for sample preparation and for visualizing the proteins of interest were employed as described in publications 1-3 [116,170,171]. In brief, the cells were plated on to poly-L-lysine coated coverslips and thereafter transfected with the desired plasmid constructs or subjected to the desired treatment, respectively. To visualize the proteins of interest we employed plasmid constructs to express the respective proteins with a fluorescent tag and immunocytochemical approaches where desired primary and secondary fluorescent antibodies were used for protein detection. Thereafter, the samples were fixed, mounted and imaged using confocal microscopes at the Turku Bioscience Cell Imaging and Cytometry core facility.

2.8 Electron microscopy

Electron microscopy experiments were carried out as described in [171].

2.9 Cellular oxygen consumption measurements

A 96-well Agilent Seahorse XF Cell Mito Stress Test Kit assay was employed to measure the oxygen consumption of cells by following the protocol provided by the manufacturer and as described in [171].

2.10 Calpain activity assay

The calpain activity was measured as described in the manufacturers protocol and as indicated in [171].

2.11 Mitochondrial membrane potential measurements

The fluorescent probe TMRE (tetramethylrhodamine ethyl ester) is sensitive to the mitochondrial membrane potential [173], and the accumulation of TMRE in the mitochondrial matrix, as investigated by fluorometric analysis, was used as a measure of mitochondrial membrane potential. The experiments were conducted as described in [171]. Briefly, the cells were plated on to 24-well plates and treated with TMRE for 20 minutes to allow the positively charged TMRE to be accumulated in the mitochondrial matrix. The cells were thereafter thoroughly washed, and the fluorescence was measured by using a HIDEX Sense plate reader (HIDEX, Turku, Finland). For normalizing the results a colorimetric crystal violet assay was employed as a control for cell count per sample.

2.12 Measurement of IP₃ production

The IP_3 measurements were conducted by employing a HitHunter IP3 Fluorescence Polarization Assay Kit (DiscoverRx Tech, Fremont, CA, USA) as described in [170]. To induce IP_3 production in the cells through the activation of the G-protein coupled signaling pathway, histamine was used as an agonist.

2.13 Statistics

Statistical analysis was done by using Student's t-test (unpaired) when two means were compared or alternatively by using One-Way Anova and Tukey's post-hoc test when more than two means were compared. The GraphPad Prism program (Versions 5, 6 and 7; GraphPad Software Inc., San Diego, CA) was used for analyzing the data. P-values below 0.05 were considered as statistically significant.

3 HYPOTHESIS AND SPECIFIC AIMS

Hypotheses for this thesis were:

- Sphingosine kinase 1 modulates Ca²⁺ signaling in cancer cells in a compartment-specific manner through a presently unknown mechanism. Deciphering the molecular details underlying the compartment-specific Ca²⁺ signaling can and will be used to further characterize the importance of SK1 in cancer cell physiology in terms of increased cell migration and mitochondrial respiration.
- ORP5/8 regulate Ca²⁺ signaling through a presently unknown mechanism and altered Ca²⁺ signalling pathways are involved in ORP5/8mediated changes in cancer cell physiology, such as increased proliferation.

The specific aims of this study were to:

- Elucidate the role of SK1 in cancer cell calcium dynamics in mitochondria, caveolae, ER and plasma membrane.
- Define the molecular basis for SK1-induced generation of calcium microdomains in cancer cell compartments
- Characterize the significance and mechanisms of ORP5/8 in regulating the Ca²⁺ signalling in cancer cell compartments, especially at the PM and caveolae as well as in the mitochondrial compartment
- Investigate whether SK1 and ORP5/8 regulate the migration, proliferation and energy metabolism of cancer cells through compartmentalized Ca²⁺ signaling

4 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

4.1 Sphingosine kinase 1 and compartmentalized Ca²⁺ signaling

Recapitulating the above sections, SK1/S1P axis and Ca²⁺ signaling pathways are affecting multiple aspects of cell physiology and contributing to numerous disease conditions. Importantly, and directly relating to the work in this thesis, Ca²⁺ and SK1/S1P signaling pathways are closely linked and have been indicated to be inter-regulated e.g. through feedback mechanisms where intracellular Ca²⁺ may be involved in SK1 activation, leading to increased S1P production and export to the extracellular space [125]. In particular, S1P has been previously shown to regulate Ca²⁺ signaling through binding to the PM-residing G-protein-coupled S1P-recepors (thus triggering the downstream PLC and Ca²⁺ signaling events), as well as through yet unknown intracellular mechanisms [125,174]. Further, overexpression of the S1P-receptors 2 and 3 has been shown to augment cytoplasmic and mitochondrial Ca²⁺ upon S1P-stimulation and to lead to diminished basal ER Ca²⁺ storage capacity [175]. Importantly, signaling by the sphingolipid species, S1P in particular, has been shown to be linked to the various aspects regulating mitochondrial fission and fusion dynamics [176].

Taken together, these indications suggest an important role for SK1 in the regulation of intracellular Ca^{2+} .

However, to our knowledge, the effect of SK1 overexpression on Ca²⁺ regulation in cell compartments, namely at the PM, at the caveolar microdomain of the PM, in the mitochondrial matrix and in the ER lumen had not been previously specifically characterized.

In the publications 1 and 2 of this thesis, SK1 overexpression (and S1P signaling) were shown to regulate Ca^{2+} dynamics specifically at the caveolae, in the mitochondrial matrix and in the ER. These results are summarized and discussed below.

4.2 Sphingosine kinase 1 and the caveolar Ca²⁺ microdomain

It has been postulated that the caveolae may act as "signaling hubs", or microdomains, where various signaling molecules and signaling events, including those related to Ca^{2+} signaling, converge [27,67,103]. However, the methods for investigating Ca^{2+} at the caveolar region of the PM, or in caveolar vesicles, have been limited to two fluorescence-based approaches reported by

Isshiki et al (ref. [114,115]), and to indirect methods [177,178]. In publication 1, we created, characterized and validated the novel caveolae-targeting Ca²⁺ reporter caveolin-1-aequorin (cav1-Aeq) that specifically reports the Ca²⁺ concentrations of this microdomain at the cytoplasmic side of the PM. Our results are in agreement with the previous findings by Isshiki et al [114] showing that caveolar compartments can function as sites for Ca²⁺ signaling events. By employing the cav1-Aeq, and the previously described aequorin probes targeting the PM and the cytosol [30], as well as by conducting measurements by using the cytoplasmic fluorescent Ca²⁺ indicator Fura-2-AM, we characterized the effect of SK1 expression on Ca²⁺ signaling at the PM, at the caveolae and in the cytosol of HeLa cervical cancer cells and ML1 thyroid cancer cells. We found that SK1 expression modulates Ca²⁺ signaling specifically at the caveolar compartment of the PM. These results are summarized and discussed in the sections 4.2.1 and 4.2.2.

4.2.1 Validation of the caveolae-targeting Ca²⁺ indicator, caveolin-1-aequorin

To validate the cav1-Aeq, we first showed that the cav1-Aeq localized similarly with the endogenous caveolin-1 to the detergent-resistant membrane fraction, whereas the PM-targeting SNAP25-tagged aequorin (SNAP25-Aeq) did not (publication 1; Fig 1A). Then, by employing immunofluorescence, we showed that, when overexpressed, the cav1-Aeq formed caveolae-resembling puncta whereas the SNAP25-aeq was evenly distributed throughout the PM (publication 1; Fig 1B, Suppl Fig 1). The cav1-Aeq reported significantly higher Ca²⁺ concentrations as compared to the SNAP25-Aeq upon histamine stimulation. Coexpression of caveolin-1 with the SNAP25-Aeq did not augment the Ca²⁺ concentrations reported by the SNAP25-Aeq, showing importantly that caveolin-1 expression per se was not causing the increase in histamine-induced Ca²⁺ flux (publication 1; Fig 1C, D). The membrane lipid cholesterol is enriched at the lipid raft / caveolar compartment of the PM and required for the formation of caveolae [103] Genetically tagged caveolin-1 may localize improperly [67]. To validate the PM localization of overexpressed caveolin-1, we treated the cells with methyl-βcyclodextrin (M β CD) that depletes PM cholesterol and disrupts caveolae structures. In this condition, as evidenced by immunofluorescence, the caveolin-1-EGFP-puncta dispersed indicating that overexpressed caveolin-1 forms structures in the PM that resemble caveolae (publication 1; Fig 2A, B). The histamine-induced Ca²⁺ flux as reported by cav1-Aeq was significantly blunted by M β CD treatment whereas the PM Ca²⁺ was affected to a lesser extent. Cytoplasmic Ca²⁺ was not affected by M β CD (publication 1; Fig 2C). Further, caveolin-1-RFP-enriched structures were shown by TIRF microscopy to localize to close apposition with the ER tubules (publication 1; Fig 2D). Collectively these data established cav1-Aeq as novel Ca^{2+} indicator tool, reporting Ca^{2+} from the caveolar sub-compartments of the PM. See Fig 7. for a schematic presentation of the different Ca²⁺ indicators used in the publications of this thesis.

4.2.2 Sphingosine kinase 1 overexpression increases Ca²⁺ at the caveolae

A biphasic experiment was conducted to study the effect of SK1 overexpression during histamine-induced Ca²⁺ release as well as during receptor-operated Ca²⁺ entry (ROCE) at the PM, at the caveola and in the cytosol. In the first phase of the experiment, the cells were challenged with 100 µM histamine in the presence of the extracellular Ca²⁺ chelator EGTA. In this condition, Ca²⁺ is released from the intracellular IP₃-sensitive stores without any Ca²⁺ entry from the extracellular space. In the second phase of the experiment, Ca²⁺ was added back to the extracellular milieu in the presence of the agonist histamine, thus inducing ROCE. We found that SK1 overexpression was without an effect on PM Ca²⁺ levels during both phases of the experiment (publication 1; Fig 3A-C). Cytoplasmic Ca²⁺ was slightly but significantly increased during ROCE when SK1 was overexpressed (publication 1; Fig 3D-F). Interestingly, SK1 overexpression led to a marked increase in caveolar Ca²⁺ during both phases of the experiment (publication 1; Fig 4). Thus, the SK1-induced large increase in Ca²⁺ influx during ROCE at the caveolar compartment was reflected as a small increase in the overall cytoplasmic Ca²⁺ levels, whereas the Ca²⁺ concentration at the immediate vicinity of the overall PM was not significantly affected.

Further, it was shown that blocking of the S1P-receptors 1-3 with antagonists did not reverse the effect of SK1 during the first phase of the experiment (ER Ca²⁺ release) but did block the SK1-induced increase in ROCE (publication 1; Fig 4). Treatment of the the wild-type cells with S1P, as compared to the control-treated cells, augmented ROCE, but not Ca^{2+} release, at the caveolae (publication 1; Fig 5A, B). Further, SK1 inhibition, which impairs S1P production and thus suppresses the auto/paracrine S1P signaling, led to diminished caveolar Ca²⁺ during ROCE. These results indicate that the S1P-receptors are involved in the regulation of ROCE at the caveolar sub-compartments of the PM. This is in line with previous findings that indicate S1P-receptor signaling to be coordinated at the caveolae [179,180]. However, because of the lack of specifically binding antibodies, we were unable to directly investigate the localization of S1Preceptors in this study. Future studies by employing for instance fluorescently tagged S1P-receptor constructs and/or specific anti-S1PR antibodies in conjunction with caveolae markers suited for super-resolution imaging would be warranted to be able to determine the possible caveolar localization of S1P receptors.

Interestingly, as mentioned above, the SK1-mediated increase in the histamineinduced Ca²⁺ release was insensitive to the S1P-receptor 1-3 agonist treatments, indicating that in this condition, the extracellular stimulation of the S1P receptors by S1P might not play a role. The finding that the S1PR agonists were without an effect in the above condition may be, in part, explained by taking together several previous observations indicating possible mechanisms by which SK1 might regulate Ca²⁺ at the caveolar compartment during agonist stimulation without the involvement of PM-residing S1P receptors. For instance. it has been shown that SK1 translocates to the PM in a Ca²⁺-dependent fashion, and, importantly, that SK1 may be targeted to the caveolin-rich lipid-raft microdomains of the PM [148,181], indicating that during histamine-induced Ca²⁺ signaling, SK1 might show activity at the caveolar region. In addition, PLC, IP₃-receptors and the ER membranes may be found in close apposition to the caveolin-rich PM domains, thus forming a possible hotspot for the generation of augmented Ca^{2+} signaling at this specific membrane contact site [21,27,182] where SK1 may also localize to. Importantly, S1P may directly induce Ca²⁺ release from the intracellular stores [182]. Further, the local Ca²⁺ concentrations at the immediate vicinity of the activated IP₃-receptors has been shown to transiently reach very high (100 micromolar) levels as compared to the resting cytoplasmic Ca²⁺ concentration, and, importantly the IP₃-receptors may transactivate adjacent IP₃-receptors through the so called Ca²⁺-induced Ca²⁺-release (CICR) [34].

Thus, it may be hypothesized that together these converging elements, including the possible S1P-induced Ca^{2+} release, the following CICR, and the possible localization of SK1 to the caveolae along with the previously indicated apposition of ER and IP₃ receptors to the caveolae, may contribute to the augmented caveolar Ca^{2+} during histamine stimulation which was observed in the SK1-overexpressing cells.

Further, during the writing of this thesis it was shown that, in smooth muscle cells, a T-type Ca²⁺ channel (Ca_v3.2) colocalizes with caveolin-1, and that caveolin-1 expression is needed for the Ca_v3.2-mediated Ca²⁺ influx to activate the SR/ER-residing RyR channels and the subsequent ER Ca²⁺ efflux. It was postulated that caveolae are required for the generation of a high enough Ca_v3.2-mediated Ca²⁺ microdomain positioned close to the ER to activate the RyRs by Ca²⁺ binding to these channels [183]. Interestingly, RyRs, that are predominantly expressed by muscle and excitable cells, have been shown to be expressed also in HeLa cells [184]. HeLa cells were used as the cell model in all of the publications in this thesis. Thus, it is an interesting possibility to consider that also RyRs might act e.g. as a boosting factor, for instance through increased CICR activation and increased ER Ca²⁺ efflux through these channels, and thus RyRs might in part contribute to the SK1-mediated increase in the local caveolar Ca²⁺ microdomain.

In addition, SK1-downregulation was shown to inhibit store-operated Ca²⁺ entry (SOCE) specifically at the caveolae, whereas SK1-overexpression was without an

effect in this condition (publication 1; Fig 7). This finding may be explained by the previous observations showing that inhibition of SK1 leads to accumulation of the kinase substrate, sphingosine, which in turn may block PM Ca²⁺ channels, including voltage-operated Ca²⁺ channels [185] and regulate processes that are involved in the regulation of SOCE e.g. by inhibiting the association of STIM1 and Ora1 and by inhibiting the store-operated Ca²⁺ current [186–188].

Interestingly, Ca²⁺ and caveolae, respectively, are important regulators of cytoskeletal components and focal adhesions contributing to cell migration in the context of tumor cells [61,103,157]. Therefore, it is worthwhile mentioning here that we later showed (publication 2; Fig 5D) SK1-overxpression to augment also mitochondrial matrix Ca²⁺ uptake and to increase cell migration. Thus, follow-up investigations focusing on the possible SK1/Ca²⁺-mediated local cytoskeletal re-arrangements near the caveolar compartments would be interesting to conduct. In addition, the control of mitochondrial Ca²⁺ uptake has been shown to function as a regulatory mechanism in cytoskeletal rearrangement during cell migration [189] thus raising the possibility that our findings showing augmented mitochondrial matrix and caveolar Ca²⁺ concentration by SK1 overexpression may potentially be converging factors together contributing to the migratory potential of cells. The main findings and potential mechanisms of publication 1 are summarized in Fig 8.



Figure 8. Graphical summary and a proposed model for the findings in publication 1. Sphingosine kinase 1 (SK1) overexpression augments Ca^{2+} signaling at the caveolar plasma membrane microdomain. The translocation of activated SK1 to the plasma membrane is facilitated by calcium and integrin-binding protein 1 (CIB1). SK1 phosphorylates (P) sphingosine to form sphingosine 1-phosphate (S1P), and S1P is transported from the cytoplasm to the extracellular space through S1P transporters for auto- or paracrine activation of the G-protein coupled S1P receptors (S1PRs). Downstream of the S1PR stimulation are the activation of the phospholipase C (PLC) and the activation of receptor-operated ion channels. Activated PLC cleaves phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate to inositol trisphosphate (IP₃) and diacylglycerol (DAG). IP₃ binds to the IP₃-receptor (IP₃R) Ca²⁺ channels, resulting in the release of luminal endoplasmic reticulum (ER) Ca²⁺ to the cytoplasm. SK1 overexpression results in the generation of high local Ca²⁺ concentration near to the caveolar sub-compartments of the plasma membrane.

4.3 Sphingosine kinase 1 modulates mitochondrial Ca²⁺

Sphingolipid signaling and mitochondrial matrix Ca²⁺ regulation, respectively, have been identified to contribute to multiple converging cell physiological processes, such as the regulation of cell proliferation and migration, cellular energy metabolism and cell death [124,128,140,189,190]. In addition, the dynamic fission and fusion processes that the mitochondria and the mitochondrial network constantly undergo are in part regulated by sphingolipids and S1P [176]. The regulation of mitochondrial Ca²⁺ and the numerous downstream cell physiological and pathophysiological effects have

been widely studied [9,77,191–194]. However, information on SK1-mediated mitochondrial effects is limited. For example, sphingolipid metabolism has been found to be localized to the mitochondria, and sphingolipids are known to regulate mitochondrial functions such as mitophagy. In addition, increased mitochondrial ceramide and sphingosine are involved in the initiation of cell death [195]. On the other hand, inhibition of S1P production by a sphingosine kinase inhibitor compound disrupts mitochondrial respiration and ATP production, and promotes cell death in pancreatic β -cells [196]. SK2 has been shown to associate with the mitochondria. For instance, SK2-generated, mitochondrially produced S1P positively regulates mitochondrial respiration [197] and is involved in promoting cardiac cell survival [198]. Interestingly, according to the author's current knowledge, the sole evidence for SK1 to be localized to the mitochondria is from a very recent study (Kim & Sieburth, 2018, ref [199]), showing SK1 to regulate the mitochondrial unfolded protein response, and, intriguingly, indicating that SK1 overexpression induces mitochondrial fragmentation in the muscle cells of the nematode C. elegans. In the second publication of this thesis the role of SK1 as a regulator of IP₃-mediated release of endoplasmic reticulum lumen Ca²⁺ and, especially, as a regulator of mitochondrial matrix Ca^{2+} concentration, was characterized. The results are summarized and discussed in the sections below.

4.3.1 Over expression of SK1 augments $IP_3\mbox{-}mediated\ ER\ Ca^{2+}\ release$ and mitochondrial $Ca^{2+}\ uptake$

This project was initiated by the finding that when overexpressed in HeLa cells, SK1 led to increased mitochondrial matrix Ca²⁺ during histamine stimulation, both in the absence and presence of extracellular Ca²⁺ (publication 2; Fig 1B, C). It is important to note here that in the absence of extracellular Ca²⁺ the main source for cytoplasmic and mitochondrial Ca²⁺ upon IP₃-coupled histamine stimulation is the ER. Interestingly, overexpression of SK1 also induced an increase in the histamine-induced, IP₃-mediated release of ER Ca²⁺ in the absence of extracellular Ca²⁺ (publication 2; Fig 1A). The augmented ER Ca²⁺ release induced by SK1 overexpression was an intriguing observation, as our previous findings revealed cytoplasmic Ca²⁺ not to be affected by SK1-overexpression upon histamine-stimulation when extracellular Ca²⁺ was chelated (publication 1; Fig 3D). Together, these initial findings thus indicated strongly that an SK1-mediated organelle-level microdomain of Ca²⁺ might exist specifically in the ER lumen and in the mitochondrial matrix, and/or at the close contact sites between the organelles, the ER-mitochondria interface.

The following initial working hypotheses were formed and tested:

A) SK1 overexpression modulates the intrinsic mitochondrial uptake capacity through altering the MCU activity through one of the components of the MCU

complex, or alternatively through modulating NCLX protein expression or activity, leading to increased mitochondrial Ca²⁺ uptake. Mechanistically, a converging effect was also found to possibly augment the SK1-induced increase in mitochondrial Ca²⁺ uptake: it was further hypothesized that the increased mitochondrial Ca²⁺ buffering capacity might lead to decreased Ca²⁺-mediated autoinhibition of the IP₃-receptors ([44,200]) through increased clearance of Ca²⁺ by mitochondria at the vicinity of the IP₃-receptors, further motivated by the previous findings showing mitochondria to effectively take up Ca²⁺ upon IP₃-receptor stimulation at the specific microdomain [201];

B) mitochondria-ER interactions, and hence the transfer of Ca^{2+} between the organelles, is altered, leading to the observed SK1-induced mitochondrial Ca^{2+} phenotype.

To test whether the intrinsic mitochondria Ca^{2+} uptake capacity was affected by SK1-overexpression, the mitochondrial Ca^{2+} uptake was studied in permeabilized cells. In this setup, the PM was rendered permeable to Ca^{2+} and other solutes by digitonin treatment. Then, the permeabilized cells were challenged with 4 μ M free Ca^{2+} in an intracellular buffer, and mitochondrial Ca^{2+} uptake was monitored. In this condition, SK1-overexpression did not affect the mitochondrial Ca^{2+} uptake (publication 2; Fig 2A), indicating that the expression of the molecules directly involved in the mitochondrial Ca^{2+} handling might not be affected. Indeed, western blot experiments showed that none of the tested components of the MCU complex, nor the NCLX, showed altered expression upon SK1-overexpression (publication 2; Suppl. Fig 1).

Interestingly, when mitochondrial Ca^{2+} was monitored upon treating the (intact) cells in the absence of extracellular Ca^{2+} with the Ca^{2+} ionophore ionomycin, we found that SK1-overexpressing cells accumulated more Ca²⁺ in the mitochondria as compared to the mock-transduced control cells (publication 2; Fig 2B). Again, cytoplasmic Ca²⁺ was unaffected in the same experimental condition (publication 2; Fig 2D), indicating that the effect of SK1-overexpression was specific to mitochondria. The ionomycin stimulation experiment was repeated in a condition where the cells were briefly incubated with the cytoplasmic Ca²⁺ chelator BAPTA-AM. A short BAPTA-AM treatment has been previously shown to partially chelate cytoplasmic Ca²⁺ [202]. In this condition, the SK1overexpressing cells showed a large mitochondrial Ca²⁺ peak, whereas mitochondrial Ca²⁺ uptake in the mock-cells was largely inhibited (publication 2; Fig 2C). Upon ionomycin treatment in these conditions, the main source for Ca²⁺ release is the ER, and BAPTA-AM rapidly chelates any free cytoplasmic Ca2+. Thus, these results, and in particular the results derived from the BAPTA-AM experiment, indicated that SK1 overexpression might somehow augment the arrangement of the ER-mitochondria contacts and thus facilitate effective "Ca2+ shunting" between these organelles. Alternatively, or in addition to increased ER-mitochondrial contacts, the mitochondrial network integrity might have been affected by SK1 overexpression. For instance, the mitochondrial protease AFG3L2 has been shown to modulate the mitochondrial dynamics, thus affecting the Ca²⁺ uptake capacity of the mitochondrial network as a whole [203,204]. However, AFG3L2 expression was not altered in SK1-overexpressing cells (publication 2; Suppl. Fig 1).

Mitofusin 2 (MFN2) is a key regulator of mitochondrial fusion and ERmitochondria contacts with implications to mitochondrial Ca²⁺ regulation [205]. Hence, we investigated by western blotting whether MFN2 expression was altered by SK1 overexpression. Interestingly, we found that the full-length MFN2 protein band at the predicted 80 kilodalton mark was unchanged, but instead observed an additional, approximately 50 kilodalton band in the SK1overexpressing cell lysates (publication 2; Fig 3A). Cleavage of MFN2 has been shown to be mediated by the protease calpain [206], and in agreement we observed increased calpain activity in SK1-overexpressing cells (publication 2; Fig 3B). Further, we conducted a calpain cleavage prediction analysis on the MFN2 sequence (www.calpain.org, based on ref [207]), and found that the most likely location for calpain-mediated cleavage would occur between histidine 467 and arginine 468 of the full-length MFN2 protein. The resulting N-terminal fragment resembles the approximately 50 kilodalton band observed in SK1overexpressing cell lysates.

Further, we generated truncated N- and C-terminal MFN2 plasmid constructs resembling those that would result from the predicted calpain-mediated cleavage (publication 2; Fig 3C). When expressed in wild-type HeLa cells, these plasmid constructs induced an increase in mitochondrial Ca²⁺ concentration, closely resembling the results obtained from SK1-overexpressing HeLa cells (publication 2; Fig 3D). MFN2-derivated short peptides and N- or C terminal domain-truncated MFN2 have been shown to retain biological activity and to modulate mitochondrial function, such as respiration [208–210]. Calpain is found to be activated through the S1P-mediated pathways [211,212]. Hence, SK1-overexpression may through the activation of calpain and the resulting MFN2-fragments, modulate mitochondrial function and mitochondrial Ca²⁺ uptake.

Next, to gain further insight on the mitochondrial Ca²⁺ handling dynamics, we measured the mitochondrial Ca²⁺ concentration by employing an experimental protocol where cells were challenged with repeated and increasing agonist concentrations. We found that SK1-overexpression augmented mitochondrial Ca²⁺ uptake upon all agonist concentrations tested, and throughout the experiment (publication 2; Fig 4A). Also, the mitochondrial Ca²⁺ level remained at a higher level after agonist stimulation in the SK1-overexpressing cells as compared to the mock-transduced cells. This indicated that the Ca²⁺ extrusion kinetics might be affected by SK1-overexpression. As mentioned previously, the expression level of the protein NCLX that exchanges Ca²⁺ mitochondrial matrix

to Na⁺ and hence regulates Ca²⁺ extrusion, was unchanged (publication 2; Suppl. Fig 1). Nevertheless, NCLX activity can be positively modulated e.g. by protein kinase A (PKA)- mediated phosphorylation [213]. Interestingly, we observed that pharmacological inhibition of the NCLX activity augmented the mitochondrial Ca²⁺ levels in mock-transduced cells, while having no effect on the SK1-overexpressing cells (publication 2; Fig 4B), bringing mock and hSK1 expressing cells' mitochondrial matrix Ca²⁺ concentration to a similar level in this condition. Thus, this experiment indicated that the basal activity of NCLX was likely inhibited in SK1-overexpressing cells, thus contributing to the increased mitochondrial matrix Ca²⁺ levels that were observed upon SK1 overexpression. We examined the possibility that NCLX activity would be inhibited by SK1overexpression through the lack of PKA-mediated phosphorylation by treating the mock- and SK1-overexpressing cells with the PKA-activating drug, forskolin. We found that the forskolin-treatment was without an effect (data not shown). Nevertheless, it has been recently reported that MFN2 contributes to the modulation of NCLX activity [49]. Hence, it is possible that SK1-overexpression causes increased mitochondrial matrix Ca^{2+} uptake through a dual pathway where: 1) MFN2 fragmentation possibly modulates the local mitochondrial dynamics and the ER-mitochondria contact sites and the related molecular interactions related to Ca^{2+} transfer at these specific interfaces and/or 2) where MFN2 fragments through an unknown mechanism contribute to the inhibition of the NCLX, contributing to accumulated mitochondrial matrix Ca²⁺.

As the SK1-induced MFN2 fragmentation indicated that the mitochondrial network and/or ER-mitochondria interactions would be altered, we conducted electron microscopy studies to look at these parameters. We found surprisingly that the mitochondrial surface area and the physical ER-mitochondria contacts, as visualized by electron microscopy, were not altered upon SK1-overexpession (publication 2; Fig 5A). Thus, this suggests that the MFN2 fragments might modulate local events at the ER-mitochondria interface, facilitating the mitochondrial Ca²⁺ uptake, without affecting the extent of direct physical contacts between the membranes of these organelles. Importantly, we found that the oxygen consumption in SK1-overexpressing cells was increased, as reported by a Seahorse respiration assay (publication 2: Fig 5B). This finding is in line with the various reports showing mitochondrial Ca²⁺ to augment respiration, and affecting the modulation of ATP production [9,73,214,215]. Further, we found that the SK1 overexpression was without an effect on cell proliferation, whereas migration was significantly augmented (publication 2; Fig 5C, D). The latter finding is thus in line with the previous studies linking mitochondrial Ca²⁺ handling to the migratory potential of cells [189,216]. Further, our previous findings have showed that SK1-overexpression augments Ca²⁺ at the caveolar microdomain (publication 1: Fig 4). Therefore, altered caveolar Ca²⁺ signaling might be a co-factor in the SK1-induced migration, as caveolae are important coordinators of Ca²⁺ signaling, also affecting cytoskeletal and focal adhesion remodeling as well as cell migration capacity [61,103,157].

4.3.2 Discussion and further implications for SK1-mediated effects on MFN2 and mitochondrial Ca²⁺

Some intriguing novel data on the role of MFN2, and its various observed mutated forms, in disease and Ca^{2+} signaling have been published after the acceptance of publication 2, raising further possibilities to hypothesize on the underlying mechanisms for the observations regarding the role of SK1 and MFN2 fragmentation in mitochondrial Ca^{2+} handling.

For instance, very recent findings show that downregulation of MFN2 results in decreased cytoplasmic Ca²⁺ oscillation frequency in pre-osteoclast cells [217]. Interestingly, early on to our studies regarding SK1 and Ca²⁺ regulation, we observed reduced histamine-induced cytoplasmic Ca²⁺ oscillations in HeLa cells when SK1 was overexpressed (Pulli & Törnquist, unpublished data; Fig. 9). However, we were unable to elucidate the precise mechanism for the reduced amount of cytoplasmic Ca²⁺ oscillations at the time when these observations were made. The above novel results ([217]) may thus offer a possible mechanism in which SK1 overexpression, through modulation of MFN2, affects the cytoplasmic Ca²⁺ oscillatory pattern, further corroborated by the previous findings on the importance of mitochondria in cytoplasmic Ca²⁺ oscillation regulation [9,48,218]. Further, in regard to the methodology used in this study, that is, the luminescence measurements using aequorin-based organelletargeted indicators, an interesting question remains to be answered. More specifically, data collection from the aequorin-based measurements is conducted from a cell population, i.e. a total luminescence of the whole cell population sample is recorded, as the low light output of aequorin does not allow for singlecell imaging experiments to be conducted, which is a limitation of the technique. Therefore, while being robust, reproducible and allowing for a high signal-tonoise ratio, data at the level of individual cells' mitochondrial Ca²⁺ handling cannot be produced with the aequorin-based method that was used in this study. As a result, the exact effect of the SK1 overexpression on the detailed (spatio)temporal dynamics of mitochondrial Ca²⁺ handling at the level of single cells, or mitochondrial populations or mitochondrial networks within a single cell, is not known. That is, from the mitochondrial aequorin measurements conducted in this study one cannot determine e.g.:

- whether the mitochondrial matrix Ca²⁺ oscillation pattern is affected by SK1 or;
- whether the effect on matrix Ca²⁺ level is a more temporally sustained one throughout the mitochondrial network (i.e. no oscillation, but a sustained increase);
- whether there are Ca²⁺ 'hotspots' within the mitochondrial network, for instance at the ER-mitochondria or PM-mitochondria contact sites that are specifically affected by SK1 overexpression.



Figure 9. Sphingosine kinase 1 modulates histamine induced Ca²⁺ oscillations in HeLa cells. HeLa cells expressing the SK1 or the mock vector, respectively, were treated with 10 μ M histamine to induce intracellular Ca²⁺ oscillations in the presence of 150 μ M EGTA in the extracellular buffer. N=83 cells (mock), N=64 cells (hSK1); ***P=0.01, the bar diagrams show the average oscillation counts and the error bars show S.E.M.

Especially given the implications from the observed alterations in cytoplasmic Ca^{2+} oscillations upon SK1 overexpression, it would be of interest to employ methods that allow for fluorescent Ca^{2+} recordings from individual cells' mitochondria to investigate the mitochondrial matrix Ca^{2+} handling dynamics in more detail. In addition, these experiments could provide insight to any spatial alterations in the Ca^{2+} handling of the mitochondrial networks within individual cells that might take arise as a result of the SK1 overexpression.

Intriguingly, findings by Samanta et al [49] show that cytoplasmic Ca²⁺ oscillations are relayed to the mitochondrial matrix by NCLX reverse activity, and that this process is found to be modulated by MFN2. Previously, Hernández-SanMiguel and co-workers [219] have shown that inhibition of NCLX by the antagonist molecule CGP37157 results in a diminished cytoplasmic Ca²⁺ oscillation rate in HeLa cells. Very interestingly, in the same study ([219]) it is shown that NCLX-inhibition augments ER Ca²⁺ release upon histamine stimulation, closely resembling the findings in Fig. 1A in publication 2, and further, that mitochondrial Ca²⁺ uptake is augmented by CGP37157 treatment in a similar fashion as induced by SK1-overexpression (Fig. 1C, publication 2). Thus, these observations and previous results support the hypothesis that NCLX may be involved in the modulation of mitochondrial Ca²⁺ by SK1-overexpression as reported in publication 2.

In our study (publication 2; [171]), we observed that SK1 overexpression increases mitochondrial Ca^{2+} uptake and oxygen consumption, and, that, at the same time, the mitochondrial membrane potential was significantly reduced. These effects were in part attributed to the possible downstream effects induced by the observed fragmentation of MFN2 when SK1 was upregulated. However, the observation that mitochondrial Ca^{2+} is increased upon SK1 expression, while the membrane potential is reduced in the same condition, is not easily addressed, as mitochondrial membrane potential is considered to be the driving force for mitochondrial Ca^{2+} uptake [220,221]. Previous studies have shown that ablation

of MFN2 reduces mitochondrial respiration and membrane potential [222]. There is clear evidence showing that MFN2 knock-down increases the association of the mitochondria and ER membranes, contributing to increased susceptibility for the initiation of the Ca²⁺-induced mitochondrial apoptotic pathway. In the same study, it was shown that MFN2 knock-down did not alter respiration or ATP production in mouse embryonic fibroblast cells [223]. Recently, it was shown in rat aortic muscle cells that MFN2 knock-down induces an increase in the distance between mitochondria and sarcoplasmic reticulum. Further, MFN2 knock-down was shown to reduce the rate of mitochondrial Ca²⁺ uptake and the rate of clearance of cytoplasmic Ca²⁺ upon agonist stimulation. In addition, it was shown that MFN2 knock-down caused a reduction in the mitochondrial membrane potential and cell proliferation, while the overexpression of MFN2 had the opposite effect to these parameters [224].

An interesting example of the complex nature of the regulation of mitochondrial function by MFN2 comes from a recent study by Wolf and co-workers ([225]). In this study, the authors show that a specific point mutation of MFN2, which is indicated in the progression of the Charcot-Marie-Tooth (CMT) disease subtype 2A2A, causes, to some extent, fragmentation of the mitochondrial network but is nevertheless without a phenotype with regard to mitochondrial respiration, membrane potential and ATP production in a basal condition. However, upon exposing the cells to mild oxidative stress, the expression of the specific point mutant of MFN2 shows increased mitochondrial respiration whereas ATP production is decreased in these cells [225].

In addition, the structural properties of MFN2 homodimerization and heterodimerization with MFN1, along with the properties regarding the fusogenic capacity of CMT2A-related MFN2 mutant proteins, was recently characterized [226]. Interestingly, MFN2 was found to form homodimers through the GTPase domain even after the hydrolysis of GTP, which was not the case for MFN1 dimerization. Further, Li et al [226] proposed two alternative models for a mechanism causing the CMT2A phenotype, depending on the effect of the specific mutation on the fusion and dimerization capacity of MFN2. The two models proposed by Li et al are; 1) a mutation completely inhibits MFN2 dimerization; or 2), a mutation allows for MFN2 dimerization but nevertheless results in diminished mitochondrial fusion. Effectively, both of the above alternative scenarios result in defects of mitochondrial function, causing CMT2A disease progression. The experimental data and the two models presented by Li et al are interesting as they show alternative pathways for how defects in MFN2 protein function and interaction may cause downstream effects affecting the mitochondria and downstream processes. In a similar fashion, the hypothesis presented in the publication 2 of this thesis, proposes a model where the SK1induced MFN2 fragments may bind to and modulate the full-length MFN2 affecting function and protein interaction properties of MFN2, resulting in downstream mitochondrial effects. On this note, it would be extremely interesting to characterize the tentative binding of the MFN2 fragments to the full-length MFN2 molecule, as postulated in publication 2 of this thesis, using similar approaches as e.g. in the publication by Li et al by employing protein binding-assays and purified proteins in vitro.

Another recent and very interesting study by Kuo et al showed that knocking down the protein polycystin 2 (PC2) resulted in increased MFN2 expression, leading to diminished cytoplasmic Ca²⁺ and increased mitochondrial Ca²⁺ concentration upon ATP stimulation in LLC-PK1 cells. The effect of PC2 knockdown, augmenting mitochondrial Ca²⁺, was attributed to a proposed model where PC2 in a coordinated fashion with the IP-receptor 3 and MFN2 proteins regulates the Ca²⁺ fluxes at the MAM contacts [227]. Of note, mutations in the polycystin 1 and 2 proteins are implicated in the development of polycystic kidney disease [228]. Interestingly, Kuo et al also showed, very much similarly to what we show in Publication 2; Fig 7A, that the basal oxygen consumption was increased in the cells where mitochondrial Ca^{2+} uptake was augmented through the proposed PC2-MFN2-pathway. Further, it has been shown by employing a rat disease model for polycystic kidney disease, that S1P levels were accumulated in these animals, and that the immunomodulatory drug FTY720, by targeting S1P metabolism, alleviates disease phenotype [229]. With these implications, it might be of interest to further characterize whether there may be a common mechanism for kidney disease involving mitochondrial Ca²⁺ signaling, PC2 and sphingolipid metabolism [228,230]. Thus, multiple studies indicate an important role for MFN2 and its related regulatory pathways, such as Ca²⁺ and sphingolipid signaling, both upstream and downstream of the protein. It will be of utmost interest to conduct follow-up studies further elucidating the role of these processes in regulating mitochondrial function in health and disease. The main findings and a tentative mechanistic model of publication 2 are summarized in Fig. 10.



Figure 10. Graphical summary and a proposed model for the findings in publication 2. Sphingosine kinase 1 (SK1) phosphorylates (P) sphingosine to sphingosine 1-phosphate (S1P), which is transported to the extracellular space through S1P transporters. S1P binds to its G-protein coupled receptors (S1PRs) and, upon SK1-overexpression, calpain is activated. Mitofusin-2 (MFN2) is cleaved by calpain. The resulting MFN2 fragments may retain intact active domains, e.g. GTPase domain or coiled-coil heptad repeat (HR1) domain, that may bind to full-length MFN2, thus modulating the activity of the protein. Alternatively, or concomitantly, the cleavage of MFN2 may through an unknown mechanism inhibit the activity of the mitochondrial Na⁺/Ca²⁺ exchanger, NCLX, blocking the mitochondrial Ca²⁺ extrusion, thus leading to accumulation of mitochondrial matrix Ca²⁺ as observed upon overexpression of SK1.

4.4 Summary on the SK1-mediated regulation of mitochondrial and caveolar Ca²⁺

Taken together, we found that SK1-overexpression augmented significantly the mitochondrial Ca²⁺ uptake, the ER-calcium release, and the Ca²⁺ concentration at the local caveolar microdomain of the PM during agonist stimulation. The observed SK1-induced alterations in local Ca²⁺ handling were reflected in the form of altered cell physiological processes, such as augmented mitochondrial respiration and increased cell migration [116,171]. SK1 was thus characterized as a novel modulatory component of compartment-specific Ca²⁺ signaling in HeLa cells, with implications for downstream regulation of central

(patho)physiological cellular processes, providing additional insight to the complex nature of the interplay between sphingolipid and Ca^{2+} ion signaling [125].

4.5 ORP5/8 regulate Ca²⁺ in specific cell compartments

At the time of designing the ORP5/8 study of this thesis (publication 3), the information on ORP proteins' relevance for Ca^{2+} signaling was limited. To date, however, several studies have shown that multiple proteins of the ORP family are linked to, or may regulate, Ca^{2+} signaling events [170,231–235].

Of specific interest in the context of this study, and while forming the initial hypothesis, were the existing observations, also mentioned in the above introductory sections, that ORP 5/8 had been shown to localize to the MCS of the ER and the mitochondria, as well as to the ER-PM MCS, and that ORP5/8 had been shown to interact with phosphatidylinositol-4,5-bisphosphate (PIP₂) in the PM, along with the finding that ORP5/8 may modulate mitochondrial respiration and morphology [164].

Therefore, given that PIP_2 is the direct precursor of IP_3 , the key second messenger responsible for Ca^{2+} -release from the intracellular Ca^{2+} stores [5,158,163,164,166] and that the MCS are emerging as important regulatory "hot-spots" of cell signalling events, including Ca^{2+} signalling [158] we asked whether the expression of ORP5/8 would play a role in modulating Ca^{2+} signalling at the specific MCS or cell compartments of mitochondria and caveolae, or in the cell cytoplasm in general.

4.5.1 ORP5/8 regulate Ca²⁺ in mitochondria and at the caveolae

Based on the indications above, we set out to study the possible role of ORP5/8 in modulating compartmentalized intracellular Ca^{2+} . We investigated whether ORP5 or ORP8 overexpression, respectively, would affect Ca^{2+} signalling specifically at the caveolae, in the mitochondrial matrix or in the overall cytoplasm. For this, we employed the genetically engineered aequorin Ca^{2+} probes to interrogate the mitochondrial matrix and caveolar Ca^{2+} concentrations.

Indeed, our results show that ORP5 overexpression leads to increased mitochondrial matrix Ca²⁺ during the histamine-induced GPCR-mediated Ca²⁺ flux activation in the presence of extracellular Ca²⁺ while overexpression of ORP8 in this condition did not affect the mitochondrial matrix Ca²⁺ concentration (publication 3; Fig 1A). To characterize further whether ORP8 overexpression might play a role in the regulation of the mitochondria matrix Ca²⁺ flux, we

employed a different experimental setting omitting extracellular Ca^{2+} by EGTA chelation. Interestingly, when the extracellular Ca^{2+} was chelated, and the source of Ca^{2+} thus were the intracellular stores, ORP8 overexpression indeed significantly increased mitochondrial Ca^{2+} uptake during histamine stimulation (publication 3; Fig 1B). Intriguingly, downregulation of ORP5 and 8, either respectively or while both proteins were downregulated at the same time, did not have any effect on the agonist-induced uptake of Ca^{2+} to the mitochondrial matrix (publication 3; Fig 2A). The overall cytoplasmic, histamine-induced Ca^{2+} flux was not affected by ORP5/8 overexpression (publication 3, Fig 1.).

In addition, we found that ORP5 and 8 overexpression, respectively, increased Ca^{2+} concentration at the caveolar subdomains of the PM during histamine stimulation. (publication 3, Fig 3).

Downregulation of either ORP5 or ORP8, or downregulation of both proteins at the same time, did not alter Ca²⁺ levels in the mitochondria or in the overall cytoplasm (publication 3, Fig 2).

Interestingly, ORP5/8 overexpression was found also to significantly increase cell proliferation (publication 3, Fig 6).

Of note, we employed a mutant ORP8 plasmid construct deficient of the pleckstrin homology (PH) domain that binds to the PIP₂ in the PM to study the importance of the PIP₂-binding capacity of ORP8 for Ca^{2+} regulation. Interestingly, and in contrast to the increased Ca^{2+} in caveolae upon overexpression of wild-type ORP8, the overexpression of the mutant ORP8 did not affect caveolar Ca^{2+} handling during histamine stimulation (Fig. 11, unpublished data, Olkkonen V, Törnquist K, Pulli I). This finding indicates that a functional PH domain for PIP₂ binding is a requirement for OPR8 to exert its modulatory function in regulating caveolar Ca^{2+} .



Figure 11. Transient expression of mutant ORP8, deficient of the pleckstrin homology domain (PHD) function (Orp8-deltaPHD), does not affect the histamine induced Ca²⁺ flux in the caveolar microdomain of HeLa cells as compared to the control cells (GFP). A) Representative traces of the experiment. B) The bar diagrams show the average with S.E.M. N=3, ns=not significant, blue arrow=100 μ M histamine stimulation. The histamine stimulation was done in the presence of 150 μ M EGTA and following the same protocol as described in Pulli *et al* 2018 for the same condition [170].

4.5.2 Implications for the ORP5/8 -mediated modulation of Ca²⁺ signaling events

Our results above show that ORP5/8 are involved in the regulation of Ca²⁺ signaling events at specific MCS sites, possibly through modulating the molecular or inter-organellear interactions at the ER-mitochondria and at the ER-caveolae domains. These findings have possible indications in the context of previous findings regarding ORP-proteins and, especially, ORP5/8. For instance, it has been found that ORP5/8 depletion causes aberrations in mitochondrial respiration [164]. This finding is interesting in the context of our findings, and may be reflecting the observed ORP5/8-induced increase in mitochondrial matrix Ca²⁺ concentration, as mitochondrial matrix Ca²⁺ concentration and also the physical apposition of mitochondria to the intracellular Ca²⁺ stores, have been characterized as key factors determining the activity of mitochondrial oxidative energy production processes [73,236,237].

Interestingly, previous results show that upregulation of another ORP-protein family member, ORP4L, facilitates PLCß3 activation and increases IP3 production in T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia cells, resulting in augmented cytoplasmic Ca²⁺ signals [238]. In line with this finding, we showed that ORP5 overexpression increased IP3 production upon PLC activation in histamine-stimulated HeLa cells, whereas overexpression of ORP8 was without an effect in this respect. However, in our study, we identified no significant alterations in the

histamine-induced cytoplasmic Ca²⁺ fluxes in ORP5/8 overexpressing HeLa cells. The lack of an effect in terms of global cytoplasmic Ca²⁺ handling may highlight the importance of ORP5/8 in the compartment-specific regulation of intracellular Ca²⁺ signalling at the caveolar and mitochondrial sites. The ORP5-induced increase in the observed local Ca²⁺ concentrations may in part be attributed to the increased IP₃ production, while the ORP8-induced increase in mitochondrial and caveolar Ca²⁺ is likely due to other factors.

In addition, and again in contrast to our findings showing that ORP5/8 overexpression increased HeLa cell proliferation, ORP8 overexpression has been shown to inhibit cell growth in non-small cell lung cancer cell lines. In these cells, the basal ORP8 expression was found to be low, while overexpression of ORP8 resulted in the release of cytochrome c from the mitochondria, leading to apoptotic cell death [239]. In this study, Li et al did not however investigate whether ORP8 overexpression would modulate Ca^{2+} levels in the mitochondria of the tested cell lines. As the mitochondrial apoptotic pathway resulting from the release of cytochrome c may be initiated by Ca^{2+} overloading in the mitochondria matrix [240], and as Ca^{2+} regulation at the (ER-)mitochondria compartment may be of importance in terms of oncogenesis, apoptosis and emerging chemotherapy approaches [241], it would be interesting to investigate whether mitochondrial Ca^{2+} is a factor in the ORP8-mediated apoptotic process in non-small lung cancer cells.

In a similar fashion, low basal ORP8 expression was found in hepatocellular cancer cells, while overexpression of ORP8 resulted in a marked ER stress response, followed by apoptosis through the Fas/Fas ligand -mediated apoptotic pathway [242]. As a Ca²⁺ is a factor in ER stress, linking ER stress also to mitochondrial Ca²⁺ overloading and apoptosis [9], it would be intriguing to investigate whether Ca²⁺-regulated cell stress and apoptosis pathways would function as a co-factor in the ORP8-mediated cell death in hepatocellular cancer cells observed by Zhong et al [242].

In summary, the novel observations presented in this thesis regarding the ORP5/8-mediated modulation of compartment-specific Ca²⁺ signaling events may have intriguing implications for the ORP5/8 proteins in the regulation of a wide range of cell physiological processes such as mitochondrial respiration, cell proliferation, oncogenesis and cell death. The main results and a potential model for the findings in publication 3 are summarized in Fig 12.



Figure 12. Graphical summary and a proposed model for the findings in publication 3. Oxysterol-binding protein-related proteins 5 and 8 (ORP5/8) localize to the membrane contact sites between the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) and mitochondria, and ER and the plasma membrane (PM), respectively. Overexpression of ORP5 or 8 augments mitochondrial Ca²⁺ uptake, as well as increases the Ca²⁺ concentration at the caveolin-rich PM sub-compartments during G-protein coupled receptor stimulation.

5 CONCLUSIONS

The main findings of this thesis are:

- 1. Sphingosine kinase 1 (SK1) regulates cellular Ca²⁺ signaling in a compartment-specific manner
- 2. In terms of Ca²⁺ signaling, overexpression of SK1 in HeLa cells leads to:
 - a. increased Ca^{2+} at the caveolar sub-compartment of the plasma membrane upon agonist-induced Ca^{2+} release from the intracellular stores and during receptor-operate Ca^{2+} entry (summarized in Fig. 8)
 - b. increased mitochondrial matrix Ca²⁺ during agonist-induced Ca²⁺ release (summarized in Fig. 10)
- 3. SK1 overexpression augments cell migration and cell respiration, possibly through the altered Ca^{2+} handling in the specific cell compartments
- 4. ORP5/8 overexpression regulates Ca²⁺ in the mitochondrial matrix and at the caveolar compartment (summarized in Fig. 12)
- 5. ORP5/8 overexpression augments cell proliferation, possibly through the altered Ca²⁺ handling in the specific cell compartments

Taken together, by employing a novel aequorin-based Ca²⁺ indicator targeted to the caveolae, and using SK1 overexpression in HeLa cells as a cell physiological model, the work in this thesis provides new insight for Ca²⁺ regulation in this specific caveolar compartment of the PM. In addition, this thesis provides indications for a tentative pathway by which SK1 overexpression may through calpain-mediated modulation of MFN2, and possibly through modulation of NCLX activity, regulate mitochondrial matrix Ca²⁺ level and cellular respiration. In addition, the findings in this thesis corroborate the relevance of ORP5/8 as regulators of cellular events at membrane contact sites, and, specifically, as a novel finding, provides data indicating that ORP5/8 participate in the regulation of caveolar and mitochondrial matrix Ca²⁺.
6 ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The thesis work was carried out at the Faculty of Science and Engineering, at the department of Cell Biology, at Åbo Akademi University (ÅAU). I wish to very warmly thank the Åbo Akademi University and the ÅA Cell Biology group leaders Prof. Kid Törnquist, Prof. John Eriksson, Prof. Lea Sistonen, Prof. Cecilia Sahlgren, Diana Toivola, and Annika Meinander for providing the excellent research environment and the exceptionally inspiring atmosphere. The thesis work was financially supported by the Finnish Cultural Foundation, the K. Albin Johansson Foundation, the Magnus Ehrnrooth Foundation, the Sigrid Juselius Foundation, Stiftelsen för Åbo Akademi, Svenska kulturfonden, the Tor, Joe and Pentti Borg Foundation, the Waldemar von Frenckell Foundation and the rector of Åbo Akademi and for this I am most grateful. I wish to thank Prof. Carlos Villalobos and Prof. Khaled Machaca for reviewing my thesis and for their excellent comments and suggestions. I would like to express my gratitude for the thesis advisory committee members Prof. Vesa Olkkonen and Prof. Jyrki Kukkonen for the inspiring discussions and helpful feedback.

I wish to thank all of the co-authors and collaborators throughout the years – the many joint projects and collaborations have been an adventure and I am truly thankful for having had the honor of working with so many colleagues on so many interesting research questions!

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to Prof. Kid Törnquist who supervised my thesis – thank you Kid for the science we accomplished together and thank you for the friendship! I wish to thank all the Törnquist laboratory members and co-authors for the excellent collegiality and friendship – Christoffer for supervising my masters' thesis, all the help and friendship throughout the years and all the papers we authored together; Tomas for co-authoring and support, especially on the caveolin paper; Kati for the endless support and fun in the lab; Yasir and Pramod for all the discussions on Ca^{2+} and all good times; Tero for discussions on ions and music; Lauri for all the inspiring discussions and novel observations; all the colleagues at the laboratory, Nina W, Nina B, Melissa, Emad, Sonja, Taru – a huge thank you to everyone for all the fantastic interactions over the years.

Thank you to the office and technical staff for the all the support.

A very special thank you to all of the colleagues and friends at the department and in the local and international science community – we've had fun in the lab, and we've had fun outside of the lab in various fun and inspiring occasions! Thank you especially to all the study friends. Thank you Valter for the journey since 2005 when we started studies at ÅA – it became a life-long friendship and now our kids have joined the party! A big thank you to colleagues at Turku BioImaging and at Euro-BioImaging for creating such an inspiring environment and also for your support while finalizing this thesis! Very special thanks to Prof. John Eriksson for the journey with Euro-BioImaging since 2018 – thank you for all the discussions, words of wisdom & comradery!

To all my friends; thank you for all the great times, with many of you since the childhood and youth in Rauma. A sincere thank you for your genuine support and for being there during the time of our lives. And thank you for the music.

For my family – I am most grateful for your support.

Thank you grandparents Irja and Erkki for such a lovely childhood and all the fun, all the beautiful times in Kuusela and thank you for the wisdoms of life. Thank you grandparents Liisa and Hannes for all the wonderful times in Saari, the childhood summer days that were full of adventure, for sharing the life experience and wisdom throughout the years, and Liisa, thank you for being so interested in discussing also the subject of this thesis.

Thank you parents Katri and Tapani for everything, for the continuous support, love and inspiration, for great grandparenting, and for all the discussions and shared wisdom! Thank you brother Eero for all the adventures as a child and all the adventures and brotherly friendship in the adulthood, thank you sister Anna-Mikaela for your wonderful presence and smile while you still were with us.

Veera,

thank you for being by my side – you are the love of my life. And thank you for being such a wonderful mother to our beautiful children Nils, Ellis and Elodie. Dearest children Nils, Ellis and Elodie, thank you for being you. You are my everything.

7 REFERENCES

- [1] H. Watson, Biological membranes., Essays Biochem. 59 (2015) 43–69. doi:10.1042/bse0590043.
- [2] N. Lane, W.F. Martin, The origin of membrane bioenergetics., Cell. 151 (2012) 1406–16. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2012.11.050.
- [3] D.E. Clapham, Calcium signaling., Cell. 131 (2007) 1047–58. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2007.11.028.
- [4] E. Marchadier, M.E. Oates, H. Fang, P.C.J. Donoghue, A.M. Hetherington, J. Gough, Evolution of the Calcium-Based Intracellular Signaling System., Genome Biol. Evol. 8 (2016) 2118–32. doi:10.1093/gbe/evw139.
- [5] M.J. Berridge, M.D. Bootman, H.L. Roderick, Calcium signalling: dynamics, homeostasis and remodelling, Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 4 (2003) 517–529. doi:10.1038/nrm1155.
- [6] R. Tisi, M. Rigamonti, S. Groppi, F. Belotti, Calcium homeostasis and signaling in fungi and their relevance forpathogenicity of yeasts and filamentous fungi, AIMS Mol. Sci. 3 (2016) 505–549. doi:10.3934/molsci.2016.4.505.
- [7] E. Carafoli, Calcium signaling: a tale for all seasons., Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.
 U. S. A. 99 (2002) 1115–22. doi:10.1073/pnas.032427999.
- [8] M.J. Berridge, P. Lipp, M.D. Bootman, The versatility and universality of calcium signalling., Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 1 (2000) 11–21. doi:10.1038/35036035.
- [9] C. Giorgi, S. Marchi, P. Pinton, The machineries, regulation and cellular functions of mitochondrial calcium, Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. (2018). doi:10.1038/s41580-018-0052-8.
- [10] M.A. Lemmon, D.M. Freed, J. Schlessinger, A. Kiyatkin, The Dark Side of Cell Signaling: Positive Roles for Negative Regulators., Cell. 164 (2016) 1172–1184. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2016.02.047.
- [11] R. Kopan, M.X.G. Ilagan, The canonical Notch signaling pathway: unfolding the activation mechanism., Cell. 137 (2009) 216–33. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2009.03.045.
- M. Yáñez, J. Gil-Longo, M. Campos-Toimil, Calcium binding proteins., Adv.
 Exp. Med. Biol. 740 (2012) 461–82. doi:10.1007/978-94-007-2888-2_19.
- [13] E. Carafoli, L. Santella, D. Branca, M. Brini, Generation, control, and processing of cellular calcium signals, Crit. Rev. Biochem. Mol. Biol. 36 (2001) 107–260. doi:10.1080/20014091074183.
- [15] M.T. Swulius, M.N. Waxham, Ca(2+)/calmodulin-dependent protein kinases., Cell. Mol. Life Sci. 65 (2008) 2637–57. doi:10.1007/s00018-008-8086-2.
- [16] Y. Ono, H. Sorimachi, Calpains An elaborate proteolytic system,

Biochim. Biophys. Acta - Proteins Proteomics. 1824 (2012) 224–236. doi:10.1016/J.BBAPAP.2011.08.005.

- [17] H. Sorimachi, Y. Ono, Regulation and physiological roles of the calpain system in muscular disorders, Cardiovasc. Res. 96 (2012) 11–22. doi:10.1093/cvr/cvs157.
- [18] L. Wang, K.J. Alzayady, D.I. Yule, Proteolytic fragmentation of inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate receptors: a novel mechanism regulating channel activity?, J. Physiol. 594 (2016) 2867–76. doi:10.1113/JP271140.
- [19] S.J. Storr, N.O. Carragher, M.C. Frame, T. Parr, S.G. Martin, The calpain system and cancer, Nat. Rev. Cancer. 11 (2011) 364–374. doi:10.1038/nrc3050.
- [20] B.A. Potz, M.R. Abid, F.W. Sellke, Role of Calpain in Pathogenesis of Human Disease Processes., J. Nat. Sci. 2 (2016). http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/27747292 (accessed October 6, 2018).
- [21] M. Schmidt, P.A. Oude Weernink, F. vom Dorp, M.B. Stope, K.H. Jakobs, Mammalian phospholipase C, Adv. Mol. Cell Biol. 33 (2003) 431–450. doi:10.1016/S1569-2558(03)33021-8.
- [22] P. Lipp, G. Reither, Protein kinase C: the "Masters" of calcium and lipid., Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol. 3 (2011) a004556. doi:10.1101/cshperspect.a004556.
- [23] K. Venkatachalam, F. Zheng, D.L. Gill, Regulation of Canonical Transient Receptor Potential (TRPC) Channel Function by Diacylglycerol and Protein Kinase C, J. Biol. Chem. 278 (2003) 29031–29040. doi:10.1074/jbc.M302751200.
- [24] I. McFadzean, A. Gibson, The developing relationship between receptoroperated and store-operated calcium channels in smooth muscle, Br. J. Pharmacol. 135 (2002) 1–13. doi:10.1038/sj.bjp.0704468.
- [25] E. Palazzo, F. Rossi, V. de Novellis, S. Maione, Endogenous modulators of TRP channels, Curr. Top. Med. Chem. 13 (2013) 398–407. doi:10.2174/1568026611313030014.
- [26] M. Prakriya, R.S. Lewis, Store-Operated Calcium Channels., Physiol. Rev. 95 (2015) 1383–436. doi:10.1152/physrev.00020.2014.
- [27] B. Pani, B.B. Singh, Lipid rafts/caveolae as microdomains of calcium signaling, Cell Calcium. 45 (2009) 625–633.
 doi:10.1016/j.ceca.2009.02.009; 10.1016/j.ceca.2009.02.009.
- [28] C. Lopez-Crisosto, C. Pennanen, C. Vasquez-Trincado, P.E. Morales, R. Bravo-Sagua, A.F.G. Quest, M. Chiong, S. Lavandero, Sarcoplasmic reticulum-mitochondria communication in cardiovascular pathophysiology, Nat. Rev. Cardiol. 14 (2017) 342–360. doi:10.1038/nrcardio.2017.23.
- [29] J. Alvarez, M. Montero, Measuring [Ca2+] in the endoplasmic reticulum with aequorin, Cell Calcium. 32 (2002) 251–260. doi:10.1016/S0143416002001860.
- [30] M. Bonora, C. Giorgi, A. Bononi, S. Marchi, S. Patergnani, A. Rimessi, R.

Rizzuto, P. Pinton, Subcellular calcium measurements in mammalian cells using jellyfish photoprotein aequorin-based probes, Nat. Protoc. 8 (2013) 2105–2118. doi:10.1038/nprot.2013.127; 10.1038/nprot.2013.127.

- [31] S.G. Priori, C. Napolitano, Cardiac and skeletal muscle disorders caused by mutations in the intracellular Ca 2+ release channels, J. Clin. Invest. 115 (2005). doi:10.1172/JCI25664.
- [32] J.T. Lanner, D.K. Georgiou, A.D. Joshi, S.L. Hamilton, Ryanodine Receptors: Structure, Expression, Molecular Details, and Function in Calcium Release, (n.d.). doi:10.1101/cshperspect.a003996.
- [33] G. Kadamur, E.M. Ross, Mammalian Phospholipase C, Annu. Rev. Physiol. 75 (2013) 127–154. doi:10.1146/annurev-physiol-030212-183750.
- [34] J.K. Foskett, C. White, K.-H. Cheung, D.-O.D. Mak, Inositol Trisphosphate Receptor Ca²⁺ Release Channels, Physiol. Rev. 87 (2007) 593–658. doi:10.1152/physrev.00035.2006.
- [35] Y. Nakamura, K. Fukami, Regulation and physiological functions of mammalian phospholipase C, J. Biochem. 161 (2017) mvw094. doi:10.1093/jb/mvw094.
- [36] A.M. Lyon, J.J.G. Tesmer, Structural insights into phospholipase C-β function, Mol. Pharmacol. 84 (2013) 488–500. doi:10.1124/mol.113.087403.
- [37] T.K. Harden, G.L. Waldo, S.N. Hicks, J. Sondek, Mechanism of activation and inactivation of Gq/phospholipase C-B signaling nodes, Chem. Rev. 111 (2011) 6120–6129. doi:10.1021/cr200209p.
- [38] A.C. Newton, Protein Kinase C: Perfectly Balanced, (n.d.). doi:10.1080/10409238.2018.1442408.
- [39] D. Mochly-Rosen, K. Das, K. V. Grimes, Protein kinase C, an elusive therapeutic target?, Nat. Rev. Drug Discov. 11 (2012) 937–957. doi:10.1038/nrd3871.
- [40] E.M. Griner, M.G. Kazanietz, Protein kinase C and other diacylglycerol effectors in cancer, Nat. Rev. Cancer. 7 (2007) 281–294. doi:10.1038/nrc2110.
- M. Kerkhofs, B. Seitaj, H. Ivanova, G. Monaco, J.B. Parys, Pathophysiological consequences of isoform-specific IP3 receptor mutations, Biochim. Biophys. Acta - Mol. Cell Res. 1865 (2018) 1707– 1717. doi:10.1016/J.BBAMCR.2018.06.004.
- S. Zhang, N. Fritz, C. Ibarra, P. Uhlén, Inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate receptor subtype-specific regulation of calcium oscillations., Neurochem. Res. 36 (2011) 1175–85. doi:10.1007/s11064-011-0457-7.
- [43] V. Ilyin, I. Parker, Role of cytosolic Ca2" in inhibition of InsP3-evoked Ca2" release in Xenopus oocytes, J. Physiol. 477 (1994). doi:10.1113/jphysiol.1994.sp020211.
- [44] C.W. Taylor, S.C. Tovey, IP(3) receptors: toward understanding their activation., Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol. 2 (2010) a004010. doi:10.1101/cshperspect.a004010.

- [45] M. Bootman, E. Niggli, M. Berridge, P. Lipp, Imaging the hierarchical Ca2' signalling system in HeLa cells, 1997.
- [46] G. Dupont, L. Combettes, G.S. Bird, J.W. Putney, Calcium oscillations, Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol. 3 (2011) 1–18. doi:10.1101/cshperspect.a004226.
- [47] G.S. Bird, S.Y. Hwang, J.T. Smyth, M. Fukushima, R.R. Boyles, J.W. Putney, STIM1 Is a Calcium Sensor Specialized for Digital Signaling, Curr. Biol. 19 (2009) 1724–1729. doi:10.1016/j.cub.2009.08.022.
- [48] K. Samanta, S. Douglas, A.B. Parekh, Mitochondrial Calcium Uniporter MCU Supports Cytoplasmic Ca2+ Oscillations, Store-Operated Ca2+ Entry and Ca2+-Dependent Gene Expression in Response to Receptor Stimulation, PLoS One. 9 (2014) e101188. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0101188.
- [49] K. Samanta, G.R. Mirams, A.B. Parekh, Sequential forward and reverse transport of the Na+ Ca2+ exchanger generates Ca2+ oscillations within mitochondria, Nat. Commun. 9 (2018) 156. doi:10.1038/s41467-017-02638-2.
- [50] P. Lipp, D. Thomas, M.J. Berridge, M.D. Bootman, Nuclear calcium signalling by individual cytoplasmic calcium puffs, EMBO J. 16 (1997) 7166–7173.
- [51] A.N. Malviya, P.J. Rogue, "Tell Me Where Is Calcium Bred": Clarifying the Roles of Nuclear Calcium, Cell. 92 (1998) 17–23. doi:10.1016/S0092-8674(00)80895-8.
- [52] A. Bartok, D. Weaver, T. Golenár, Z. Nichtova, M. Katona, S. Bánsághi, K.J. Alzayady, V.K. Thomas, H. Ando, K. Mikoshiba, S.K. Joseph, D.I. Yule, G. Csordás, G. Hajnóczky, IP3 receptor isoforms differently regulate ERmitochondrial contacts and local calcium transfer, Nat. Commun. 10 (2019) 3726. doi:10.1038/s41467-019-11646-3.
- [53] P.G. Hogan, A. Rao, Store-operated calcium entry: Mechanisms and modulation., Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 460 (2015) 40–9. doi:10.1016/j.bbrc.2015.02.110.
- Y. Liao, N.W. Plummer, M.D. George, J. Abramowitz, M.X. Zhu, L.
 Birnbaumer, A role for Orai in TRPC-mediated Ca2+ entry suggests that a TRPC:Orai complex may mediate store and receptor operated Ca2+ entry, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 106 (2009) 3202–3206. doi:10.1073/pnas.0813346106.
- [55] M.D. Cahalan, STIMulating store-operated Ca(2+) entry., Nat. Cell Biol. 11 (2009) 669–77. doi:10.1038/ncb0609-669.
- [56] I. Derler, I. Jardin, C. Romanin, Molecular mechanisms of STIM/Orai communication, Am. J. Physiol. Physiol. 310 (2016) C643–C662. doi:10.1152/ajpcell.00007.2016.
- [57] J. Soboloff, B.S. Rothberg, M. Madesh, D.L. Gill, STIM proteins: dynamic calcium signal transducers, Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 13 (2012) 549–565. doi:10.1038/nrm3414.
- [58] P.B. Stathopulos, L. Zheng, M. Ikura, Stromal interaction molecule (STIM)

1 and STIM2 calcium sensing regions exhibit distinct unfolding and oligomerization kinetics., J. Biol. Chem. 284 (2009) 728–32. doi:10.1074/jbc.C800178200.

- [59] K.P. Lee, J.P. Yuan, J.H. Hong, I. So, P.F. Worley, S. Muallem, An endoplasmic reticulum/plasma membrane junction: STIM1/Orai1/TRPCs., FEBS Lett. 584 (2010) 2022–7. doi:10.1016/j.febslet.2009.11.078.
- [60] A.T. Deak, S. Blass, M.J. Khan, L.N. Groschner, M. Waldeck-Weiermair, S. Hallström, W.F. Graier, R. Malli, IP3-mediated STIM1 oligomerization requires intact mitochondrial Ca2+ uptake., J. Cell Sci. 127 (2014) 2944– 55. doi:10.1242/jcs.149807.
- [61] N. Prevarskaya, H. Ouadid-Ahidouch, R. Skryma, Y. Shuba, Remodelling of Ca2+ transport in cancer: how it contributes to cancer hallmarks?, Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B. Biol. Sci. 369 (2014) 20130097. doi:10.1098/rstb.2013.0097.
- [62] S. Bollimuntha, B. Pani, B.B. Singh, Neurological and Motor Disorders: Neuronal Store-Operated Ca2+ Signaling: An Overview and Its Function, in: Adv. Exp. Med. Biol., 2017: pp. 535–556. doi:10.1007/978-3-319-57732-6_27.
- [63] M.D. Bootman, K. Rietdorf, Tissue Specificity: Store-Operated Ca2+ Entry in Cardiac Myocytes, in: Adv. Exp. Med. Biol., 2017: pp. 363–387. doi:10.1007/978-3-319-57732-6_19.
- [64] P.E. Hockberger, H.-Y. Tseng, J.A. Connor, Fura-Measurements of Cultured Rat Purkinje Neurons Show Dendritic Localization of Ca*+ Influx, 1989.
- [65] T. Cremer, J. Neefjes, I. Berlin, The journey of Ca 2 + through the cell pulsing through the network of ER membrane contact sites, (2020). doi:10.1242/jcs.249136.
- [66] N. Demaurex, D. Poburko, M. Frieden, Regulation of plasma membrane calcium fluxes by mitochondria, Biochim. Biophys. Acta - Bioenerg. 1787 (2009) 1383–1394. doi:10.1016/j.bbabio.2008.12.012.
- [67] R.G. Parton, M.A. Del Pozo, Caveolae as plasma membrane sensors, protectors and organizers, Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 14 (2013) 98–112. doi:10.1038/nrm3512.
- [68] G. Bustos, P. Cruz, A. Lovy, C. Cárdenas, Endoplasmic Reticulum-Mitochondria Calcium Communication and the Regulation of Mitochondrial Metabolism in Cancer: A Novel Potential Target., Front. Oncol. 7 (2017) 199. doi:10.3389/fonc.2017.00199.
- [69] M. Colombini, The VDAC channel: Molecular basis for selectivity, Biochim. Biophys. Acta - Mol. Cell Res. 1863 (2016) 2498–2502. doi:10.1016/J.BBAMCR.2016.01.019.
- [70] V. Shoshan-Barmatz, V. De Pinto, M. Zweckstetter, Z. Raviv, N. Keinan, N. Arbel, VDAC, a multi-functional mitochondrial protein regulating cell life and death, Mol. Aspects Med. 31 (2010) 227–285. doi:10.1016/j.mam.2010.03.002.

- [71] N. Nemani, S. Shanmughapriya, M. Madesh, Molecular regulation of MCU: Implications in physiology and disease, Cell Calcium. 74 (2018) 86–93. doi:10.1016/J.CECA.2018.06.006.
- [72] J.J. Lemasters, A.-L. Nieminen, T. Qian, L.C. Trost, S.P. Elmore, Y. Nishimura, R.A. Crowe, W.E. Cascio, C.A. Bradham, D.A. Brenner, B. Herman, The mitochondrial permeability transition in cell death: a common mechanism in necrosis, apoptosis and autophagy, Biochim. Biophys. Acta Bioenerg. 1366 (1998) 177–196. doi:10.1016/S0005-2728(98)00112-1.
- [73] L.S. Jouaville, P. Pinton, C. Bastianutto, G.A. Rutter, R. Rizzuto, Regulation of mitochondrial ATP synthesis by calcium: evidence for a long-term metabolic priming., Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 96 (1999) 13807–12. doi:10.1073/PNAS.96.24.13807.
- [74] B. Glancy, R.S. Balaban, Role of Mitochondrial Ca 2+ in the Regulation of Cellular Energetics, (n.d.). doi:10.1021/bi2018909.
- [75] A.I. Tarasov, E.J. Griffiths, G.A. Rutter, Regulation of ATP production by mitochondrial Ca(2+)., Cell Calcium. 52 (2012) 28–35. doi:10.1016/j.ceca.2012.03.003.
- [76] M. Szibor, Z. Gizatullina, T. Gainutdinov, T. Endres, G. Debska-Vielhaber, M. Kunz, N. Karavasili, K. Hallmann, F. Schreiber, A. Bamberger, M. Schwarzer, T. Doenst, H.-J. Heinze, V. Leßmann, S. Vielhaber, W.S. Kunz, F.N. Gellerich, Cytosolic, but not matrix, calcium is essential for adjustment of mitochondrial pyruvate supply, J. Biol. Chem. (2020) jbc.RA119.011902. doi:10.1074/jbc.RA119.011902.
- [77] M. Kerkhofs, M. Bittremieux, G. Morciano, C. Giorgi, P. Pinton, J.B. Parys, G. Bultynck, Emerging molecular mechanisms in chemotherapy: Ca2+ signaling at the mitochondria-associated endoplasmic reticulum membranes, Cell Death Dis. 9 (2018) 334. doi:10.1038/s41419-017-0179-0.
- [78] S. Marchi, V.A.M. Vitto, A. Danese, M.R. Wieckowski, C. Giorgi, P. Pinton, Mitochondrial calcium uniporter complex modulation in cancerogenesis, Cell Cycle. 18 (2019) 1068–1083. doi:10.1080/15384101.2019.1612698.
- [79] S. Marchi, S. Patergnani, S. Missiroli, G. Morciano, A. Rimessi, M.R. Wieckowski, C. Giorgi, P. Pinton, Mitochondrial and endoplasmic reticulum calcium homeostasis and cell death, Cell Calcium. (2017). doi:10.1016/J.CECA.2017.05.003.
- [80] A. Rimessi, G. Pedriali, B. Vezzani, A. Tarocco, S. Marchi, M.R. Wieckowski, C. Giorgi, P. Pinton, Interorganellar calcium signaling in the regulation of cell metabolism: A cancer perspective, Semin. Cell Dev. Biol. (2019). doi:10.1016/j.semcdb.2019.05.015.
- [81] E. Britti, F. Delaspre, J. Tamarit, J. Ros, Mitochondrial calcium signalling and neurodegenerative diseases, 2 (2018) 20180061. doi:10.1042/NS20180061.
- [82] P. Wang, C. Fernandez-Sanz, W. Wang, S.-S. Sheu, Why don't mice lacking

the mitochondrial Ca ²⁺ uniporter experience an energy crisis?, J. Physiol. (2018). doi:10.1113/JP276636.

- [83] D.S. Dang, J.F. Buhler, H.T. Davis, K.J. Thornton, T.L. Scheffler, S.K. Matarneh, Inhibition of mitochondrial calcium uniporter enhances postmortem proteolysis and tenderness in beef cattle, Meat Sci. 162 (2020) 108039. doi:10.1016/j.meatsci.2019.108039.
- [84] D. De Stefani, A. Raffaello, E. Teardo, I. Szabò, R. Rizzuto, A fortykilodalton protein of the inner membrane is the mitochondrial calcium uniporter, Nature. 476 (2011) 336–340. doi:10.1038/nature10230.
- [85] J.M. Baughman, F. Perocchi, H.S. Girgis, M. Plovanich, C.A. Belcher-Timme, Y. Sancak, X.R. Bao, L. Strittmatter, O. Goldberger, R.L. Bogorad, V. Koteliansky, V.K. Mootha, Integrative genomics identifies MCU as an essential component of the mitochondrial calcium uniporter, Nature. 476 (2011) 341–345. doi:10.1038/nature10234.
- [86] A. Raffaello, D. De Stefani, D. Sabbadin, E. Teardo, G. Merli, A. Picard, V. Checchetto, S. Moro, I. Szabò, R. Rizzuto, The mitochondrial calcium uniporter is a multimer that can include a dominant-negative poreforming subunit., EMBO J. 32 (2013) 2362–76. doi:10.1038/emboj.2013.157.
- [87] F. Perocchi, V.M. Gohil, H.S. Girgis, X.R. Bao, J.E. McCombs, A.E. Palmer, V.K. Mootha, MICU1 encodes a mitochondrial EF hand protein required for Ca2+ uptake, Nature. 467 (2010) 291–296. doi:10.1038/nature09358.
- [88] K. Mallilankaraman, C. Cárdenas, P.J. Doonan, H.C. Chandramoorthy, K.M. Irrinki, T. Golenár, G. Csordás, P. Madireddi, J. Yang, M. Müller, R. Miller, J.E. Kolesar, J. Molgó, B. Kaufman, G. Hajnóczky, J.K. Foskett, M. Madesh, MCUR1 is an essential component of mitochondrial Ca2+ uptake that regulates cellular metabolism, Nat. Cell Biol. 14 (2012) 1336–1343. doi:10.1038/ncb2622.
- [89] H. Vais, K. Mallilankaraman, D.-O.D. Mak, H. Hoff, R. Payne, J.E. Tanis, J.K. Foskett, EMRE Is a Matrix Ca(2+) Sensor that Governs Gatekeeping of the Mitochondrial Ca(2+) Uniporter., Cell Rep. 14 (2016) 403–410. doi:10.1016/j.celrep.2015.12.054.
- [90] M. Patron, V. Checchetto, A. Raffaello, E. Teardo, D. Vecellio Reane, M. Mantoan, V. Granatiero, I. Szabò, D. De Stefani, R. Rizzuto, MICU1 and MICU2 finely tune the mitochondrial Ca2+ uniporter by exerting opposite effects on MCU activity., Mol. Cell. 53 (2014) 726–37. doi:10.1016/j.molcel.2014.01.013.
- [91] M. Patron, V. Granatiero, J. Espino, R. Rizzuto, D. De Stefani, MICU3 is a tissue-specific enhancer of mitochondrial calcium uptake, Cell Death Differ. (2018). doi:10.1038/s41418-018-0113-8.
- [92] D. De Stefani, M. Patron, R. Rizzuto, Structure and function of the mitochondrial calcium uniporter complex, Biochim. Biophys. Acta - Mol. Cell Res. 1853 (2015) 2006–2011. doi:10.1016/j.bbamcr.2015.04.008.
- [93] R. Palty, W.F. Silverman, M. Hershfinkel, T. Caporale, S.L. Sensi, J. Parnis,

C. Nolte, D. Fishman, V. Shoshan-Barmatz, S. Herrmann, D. Khananshvili, I. Sekler, NCLX is an essential component of mitochondrial Na+/Ca2+ exchange, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 107 (2010) 436–441. doi:10.1073/pnas.0908099107.

- [94] M. Plovanich, R.L. Bogorad, Y. Sancak, K.J. Kamer, L. Strittmatter, A.A. Li, H.S. Girgis, S. Kuchimanchi, J. De Groot, L. Speciner, N. Taneja, J. OShea, V. Koteliansky, V.K. Mootha, MICU2, a Paralog of MICU1, Resides within the Mitochondrial Uniporter Complex to Regulate Calcium Handling, PLoS One. 8 (2013) e55785. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0055785.
- [95] A. Watanabe, K. Maeda, A. Nara, M. Hashida, M. Ozono, A. Nakao, A. Yamada, Y. Shinohara, T. Yamamoto, Quantitative analysis of mitochondrial calcium uniporter (MCU) and essential MCU regulator (EMRE) in mitochondria from mouse tissues and HeLa cells, FEBS Open Bio. 12 (2022) 811–826. doi:10.1002/2211-5463.13371.
- [96] C. Petrungaro, K.M. Zimmermann, V. Küttner, M. Fischer, J. Dengjel, I. Bogeski, J. Riemer, The Ca(2+)-Dependent Release of the Mia40-Induced MICU1-MICU2 Dimer from MCU Regulates Mitochondrial Ca(2+) Uptake., Cell Metab. 22 (2015) 721–33. doi:10.1016/j.cmet.2015.08.019.
- [97] K.J. Kamer, Z. Grabarek, V.K. Mootha, High-affinity cooperative Ca²⁺ binding by MICU 1– MICU 2 serves as an on–off switch for the uniporter, EMBO Rep. 18 (2017) 1397–1411. doi:10.15252/embr.201643748.
- [98] J. Matesanz-Isabel, J. Arias-del-Val, P. Alvarez-Illera, R.I. Fonteriz, M. Montero, J. Alvarez, Functional roles of MICU1 and MICU2 in mitochondrial Ca2 + uptake, Biochim. Biophys. Acta - Biomembr. 1858 (2016) 1110–1117. doi:10.1016/J.BBAMEM.2016.02.022.
- [99] M. Paillard, G. Csordás, G. Szanda, T. Golenár, V. Debattisti, A. Bartok, N. Wang, C. Moffat, E.L. Seifert, A. Spät, G. Hajnóczky, Tissue-Specific Mitochondrial Decoding of Cytoplasmic Ca2+ Signals Is Controlled by the Stoichiometry of MICU1/2 and MCU, Cell Rep. 18 (2017) 2291–2300. doi:10.1016/j.celrep.2017.02.032.
- [100] D. Jiang, L. Zhao, D.E. Clapham, Genome-Wide RNAi Screen Identifies Letm1 as a Mitochondrial Ca2+/H+ Antiporter, Science (80-.). 326 (2009) 144–147. doi:10.1126/science.1175145.
- [101] S. Feng, H. Li, Y. Tai, J. Huang, Y. Su, J. Abramowitz, M.X. Zhu, L. Birnbaumer, Y. Wang, Canonical transient receptor potential 3 channels regulate mitochondrial calcium uptake, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 110 (2013) 11011–11016. doi:10.1073/pnas.1309531110.
- [102] H. Kogo, M. Shioya, Y. Takahashi, T. Fujimoto, Caveolae and Endoplasmic Reticulum: Immunofluorescence Microscopy and Time-Lapse Analysis., Acta Histochem. Cytochem. 30 (1997) 593–599. doi:10.1267/ahc.30.593.
- [103] R.G. Parton, Caveolae : Structure, Function, and Relationship to Disease, Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol. 34 (2018) 111–136. doi:10.1146/annurevcellbio-100617-062737.
- [104] S. Muallem, W.Y. Chung, A. Jha, M. Ahuja, Lipids at membrane contact sites: cell signaling and ion transport, EMBO Rep. 18 (2017)

e201744331. doi:10.15252/embr.201744331.

- [105] C.G. Hansen, G. Howard, B.J. Nichols, Pacsin 2 is recruited to caveolae and functions in caveolar biogenesis, J. Cell Sci. 124 (2011) 2777–2785. doi:10.1242/jcs.084319.
- [106] E. Seemann, M. Sun, S. Krueger, J. Tröger, W. Hou, N. Haag, S. Schüler, M. Westermann, C.A. Huebner, B. Romeike, M.M. Kessels, B. Qualmann, Deciphering caveolar functions by syndapin III KO-mediated impairment of caveolar invagination, Elife. 6 (2017). doi:10.7554/eLife.29854.
- [107] R.G. Parton, V.A. Tillu, B.M. Collins, Caveolae, Curr. Biol. 28 (2018) R402– R405. doi:10.1016/j.cub.2017.11.075.
- [108] M. Bastiani, R.G. Parton, Caveolae at a glance, J. Cell Sci. 123 (2010) 3831–3836. doi:10.1242/jcs.070102.
- [109] R.G. Parton, B.M. Collins, Unraveling the architecture of caveolae, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 113 (2016) 14170–14172. doi:10.1073/pnas.1617954113.
- [110] A.W. Cohen, R. Hnasko, W. Schubert, M.P. Lisanti, Role of caveolae and caveolins in health and disease, Physiol. Rev. 84 (2004) 1341–1379. doi:10.1152/physrev.00046.2003.
- [111] A. Rimessi, S. Marchi, S. Patergnani, P. Pinton, H-Ras-driven tumoral maintenance is sustained through caveolin-1-dependent alterations in calcium signaling, Oncogene. 33 (2014) 2329–2340. doi:10.1038/onc.2013.192.
- [112] P.C. Sundivakkam, A.M. Kwiatek, T.T. Sharma, R.D. Minshall, A.B. Malik, C. Tiruppathi, Caveolin-1 scaffold domain interacts with TRPC1 and IP3R3 to regulate Ca2+ store release-induced Ca2+ entry in endothelial cells, AJP Cell Physiol. 296 (2008) C403–C413. doi:10.1152/ajpcell.00470.2008.
- [113] M.A. Rodrigues, D.A. Gomes, R. Fiorotto, M.T. Guerra, J.
 Weerachayaphorn, T. Bo, W.C. Sessa, M. Strazzabosco, M.H. Nathanson, Molecular determinants of peri-apical targeting of inositol 1,4,5trisphosphate receptor type 3 in cholangiocytes, Hepatol. Commun. (2022). doi:10.1002/HEP4.2042.
- [114] M. Isshiki, Y.-S. Ying, T. Fujita, R.G.W. Anderson, A molecular sensor detects signal transduction from caveolae in living cells., J. Biol. Chem. 277 (2002) 43389–98. doi:10.1074/jbc.M205411200.
- [115] M. Isshiki, M. Nishimoto, R. Mizuno, T. Fujita, FRET-based sensor analysis reveals caveolae are spatially distinct Ca2+ stores in endothelial cells, Cell Calcium. 54 (2013) 395–403. doi:10.1016/J.CECA.2013.09.002.
- [116] I. Pulli, T. Blom, C. Lof, M. Magnusson, A. Rimessi, P. Pinton, K. Tornquist, A novel chimeric aequorin fused with caveolin-1 reveals a sphingosine kinase 1-regulated Ca(2)(+) microdomain in the caveolar compartment, Biochim. Biophys. Acta. 1853 (2015) 2173–2182. doi:10.1016/j.bbamcr.2015.04.005 [doi].
- [117] P.C. Trivedi, J.J. Bartlett, T. Pulinilkunnil, Lysosomal Biology and Function: Modern View of Cellular Debris Bin, Cells. 9 (2020).

doi:10.3390/cells9051131.

- [118] A. Raffaello, C. Mammucari, G. Gherardi, R. Rizzuto, Calcium at the Center of Cell Signaling: Interplay between Endoplasmic Reticulum, Mitochondria, and Lysosomes, (2016). doi:10.1016/j.tibs.2016.09.001.
- [119] S. Patel, Y. Yuan, G.S. Gunaratne, T. Rahman, J.S. Marchant, Activation of endo-lysosomal two-pore channels by NAADP and PI(3,5)P2. Five things to know., Cell Calcium. 103 (2022). doi:10.1016/J.CECA.2022.102543.
- [120] J. V. Gerasimenko, A. V. Tepikin, O.H. Petersen, O. V. Gerasimenko, Calcium uptake via endocytosis with rapid release from acidifying endosomes, Curr. Biol. 8 (1998) 1335–1338. doi:10.1016/S0960-9822(07)00565-9.
- [121] R.M.L. La Rovere, G. Roest, G. Bultynck, J.B. Parys, Intracellular Ca2+ signaling and Ca2+ microdomains in the control of cell survival, apoptosis and autophagy, Cell Calcium. 60 (2016) 74–87. doi:10.1016/j.ceca.2016.04.005.
- [122] J. Yang, Z. Zhao, M. Gu, X. Feng, H. Xu, Release and uptake mechanisms of vesicular Ca2+ stores, Protein Cell 2018 101. 10 (2018) 8–19. doi:10.1007/S13238-018-0523-X.
- [123] J. Newton, S. Lima, M. Maceyka, S. Spiegel, Revisiting the sphingolipid rheostat: Evolving concepts in cancer therapy, Exp. Cell Res. 333 (2015) 195–200. doi:10.1016/j.yexcr.2015.02.025.
- [124] B. Ogretmen, Sphingolipid metabolism in cancer signalling and therapy, Nat. Rev. Cancer. 18 (2017) 33–50. doi:10.1038/nrc.2017.96.
- [125] I. Pulli, M.Y. Asghar, K. Kemppainen, K. Törnquist, Sphingolipid-mediated calcium signaling and its pathological effects, Biochim. Biophys. Acta -Mol. Cell Res. (2018). doi:10.1016/j.bbamcr.2018.04.012.
- [126] S.N. Patmanathan, W. Wang, L.F. Yap, D.R. Herr, I.C. Paterson, Mechanisms of sphingosine 1-phosphate receptor signalling in cancer, Cell. Signal. 34 (2017) 66–75. doi:10.1016/J.CELLSIG.2017.03.002.
- [127] M. Nagahashi, K. Takabe, K.P. Terracina, D. Soma, Y. Hirose, T. Kobayashi, Y. Matsuda, T. Wakai, Sphingosine-1-Phosphate Transporters as Targets for Cancer Therapy, Biomed Res. Int. 2014 (2014) 1–7. doi:10.1155/2014/651727.
- [128] S. Pyne, D.R. Adams, N.J. Pyne, Sphingosine 1-phosphate and sphingosine kinases in health and disease: Recent advances, Prog. Lipid Res. 62 (2016) 93–106. doi:10.1016/J.PLIPRES.2016.03.001.
- [129] O. Sukocheva, O. A., Expansion of Sphingosine Kinase and Sphingosine-1-Phosphate Receptor Function in Normal and Cancer Cells: From Membrane Restructuring to Mediation of Estrogen Signaling and Stem Cell Programming, Int. J. Mol. Sci. 19 (2018) 420. doi:10.3390/ijms19020420.
- [130] J.W. Yester, E. Tizazu, K.B. Harikumar, T. Kordula, Extracellular and intracellular sphingosine-1-phosphate in cancer, Cancer Metastasis Rev. 30 (2011) 577–597. doi:10.1007/s10555-011-9305-0.
- [131] T. Nishi, N. Kobayashi, Y. Hisano, A. Kawahara, A. Yamaguchi, Molecular

and physiological functions of sphingosine 1-phosphate transporters, Biochim. Biophys. Acta - Mol. Cell Biol. Lipids. 1841 (2014) 759–765. doi:10.1016/J.BBALIP.2013.07.012.

- [132] E. Meacci, M. Garcia-Gil, S1P/S1P Receptor Signaling in Neuromuscolar Disorders, Int. J. Mol. Sci. 20 (2019) 1–23. doi:10.3390/ijms20246364.
- [133] A. Di Pardo, V. Maglione, Sphingolipid Metabolism: A New Therapeutic Opportunity for Brain Degenerative Disorders., Front. Neurosci. 12 (2018) 249. doi:10.3389/fnins.2018.00249.
- [134] N.U. Linzer, R.W. Truman, J.-P. Gurevich, M.A. Hannun, Y.A. Senkal, C.E. Obeid, Decreased ceramide underlies mitochondrial dysfunction in Charcot-Marie-Tooth 2F, FASEB J. 32 (2018) 1716–1728. doi:10.1096/fj.201701067R.
- [135] D. Atkinson, J. Nikodinovic Glumac, B. Asselbergh, B. Ermanoska, D. Blocquel, R. Steiner, A. Estrada-Cuzcano, K. Peeters, T. Ooms, E. De Vriendt, X.L. Yang, T. Hornemann, V. Milic Rasic, A. Jordanova, Sphingosine 1-phosphate lyase deficiency causes Charcot-Marie-Tooth neuropathy, Neurology. 88 (2017) 533–542. doi:10.1212/WNL.00000000003595.
- [136] G. Schneider, S1P Signaling in the Tumor Microenvironment, in: Adv. Exp. Med. Biol., Springer, 2020: pp. 129–153. doi:10.1007/978-3-030-35582-1_7.
- [137] N.C. Hait, J. Allegood, M. Maceyka, G.M. Strub, K.B. Harikumar, S.K. Singh, C. Luo, R. Marmorstein, T. Kordula, S. Milstien, S. Spiegel, Regulation of histone acetylation in the nucleus by sphingosine-1-phosphate, Science (80-.). 325 (2009) 1254–1257. doi:10.1126/science.1176709.
- [138] N. Takasugi, T. Sasaki, K. Suzuki, S. Osawa, H. Isshiki, Y. Hori, N. Shimada, T. Higo, S. Yokoshima, T. Fukuyama, V.M.Y. Lee, J.Q. Trojanowski, T. Tomita, T. Iwatsubo, BACE1 activity is modulated by cell-associated sphingosine-1-phosphate, J. Neurosci. 31 (2011) 6850–6857. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.6467-10.2011.
- [139] S.R. Sprang, Z. Chen, X. Du, Structural Basis of Effector Regulation and Signal Termination in Heterotrimeric Gα Proteins, Adv. Protein Chem. 74 (2007) 1–65. doi:10.1016/S0065-3233(07)74001-9.
- [140] R.H. Kim, K. Takabe, S. Milstien, S. Spiegel, Export and functions of sphingosine-1-phosphate, Biochim. Biophys. Acta - Mol. Cell Biol. Lipids. 1791 (2009) 692–696. doi:10.1016/j.bbalip.2009.02.011.
- [141] M. Maceyka, K.B. Harikumar, S. Milstien, S. Spiegel, Sphingosine-1phosphate signaling and its role in disease., Trends Cell Biol. 22 (2012) 50–60. doi:10.1016/j.tcb.2011.09.003.
- [142] R. Brunkhorst, R. Vutukuri, W. Pfeilschifter, Fingolimod for the treatment of neurological diseases - state of play and future perspectives, Front. Cell. Neurosci. 8 (2014) 283. doi:10.3389/fncel.2014.00283.
- [143] S.M. Pitson, P. Xia, T.M. Leclercq, P.A.B. Moretti, J.R. Zebol, H.E. Lynn, B.W. Wattenberg, M.A. Vadas, Phosphorylation-dependent translocation of sphingosine kinase to the plasma membrane drives its oncogenic

signalling., J. Exp. Med. 201 (2005) 49–54. doi:10.1084/jem.20040559.

- [144] S.M. Pitson, P.A.B. Moretti, J.R. Zebol, H.E. Lynn, P. Xia, M.A. Vadas, B.W. Wattenberg, Activation of sphingosine kinase 1 by ERK1/2-mediated phosphorylation, EMBO J. 22 (2003) 5491–5500. doi:10.1093/EMBOJ/CDG540.
- [145] K.W. Young, J.M. Willets, M.J. Parkinson, P. Bartlett, S. Spiegel, S.R. Nahorski, R.A.J. Challiss, Ca2+/calmodulin-dependent translocation of sphingosine kinase: role in plasma membrane relocation but not activation, Cell Calcium. 33 (2003) 119–128. doi:10.1016/S0143-4160(02)00205-1.
- [146] N. Agell, O. Bachs, N. Rocamora, P. Villalonga, Modulation of the Ras/Raf/MEK/ERK pathway by Ca(2+), and calmodulin., Cell. Signal. 14 (2002) 649–54. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12020764 (accessed February 16, 2018).
- [147] H. Bazzazi, A.S. Popel, Computational investigation of sphingosine kinase 1 (SphK1) and calcium dependent ERK1/2 activation downstream of VEGFR2 in endothelial cells, PLOS Comput. Biol. 13 (2017) e1005332. doi:10.1371/journal.pcbi.1005332.
- [148] K.E. Jarman, P.A.B. Moretti, J.R. Zebol, S.M. Pitson, Translocation of Sphingosine Kinase 1 to the Plasma Membrane Is Mediated by Calciumand Integrin-binding Protein 1, J. Biol. Chem. 285 (2010) 483–492. doi:10.1074/jbc.M109.068395.
- [149] W. Zhu, B.L. Gliddon, K.E. Jarman, P.A.B. Moretti, T. Tin, L. V Parise, J.M. Woodcock, J.A. Powell, A. Ruszkiewicz, M.R. Pitman, S.M. Pitson, CIB1 contributes to oncogenic signalling by Ras via modulating the subcellular localisation of sphingosine kinase 1, Oncogene. 36 (2017) 2619–2627. doi:10.1038/onc.2016.428.
- [150] W. Zhu, K.E. Jarman, N.A. Lokman, H.A. Neubauer, L.T. Davies, B.L. Gliddon, H. Taing, P.A.B. Moretti, M.K. Oehler, M.R. Pitman, S.M. Pitson, CIB2 Negatively Regulates Oncogenic Signaling in Ovarian Cancer via Sphingosine Kinase 1, Cancer Res. 77 (2017) 4823–4834. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-17-0025.
- [151] M. Nagahashi, K. Takabe, K.P. Terracina, D. Soma, Y. Hirose, T. Kobayashi, Y. Matsuda, T. Wakai, Sphingosine-1-phosphate transporters as targets for cancer therapy., Biomed Res. Int. 2014 (2014) 651727. doi:10.1155/2014/651727.
- [152] N. Kobayashi, T. Nishi, T. Hirata, A. Kihara, T. Sano, Y. Igarashi, A. Yamaguchi, Sphingosine 1-phosphate is released from the cytosol of rat platelets in a carrier-mediated manner, J. Lipid Res. 47 (2006) 614–621. doi:10.1194/jlr.M500468-JLR200.
- [153] R. Alemany, C.J. Van Koppen, K. Danneberg, M. Ter Braak, D. Meyer Zu Heringdorf, Regulation and functional roles of sphingosine kinases, (n.d.). doi:10.1007/s00210-007-0132-3.
- [154] D. Meyer zu Heringdorf, K. Liliom, M. Schaefer, K. Danneberg, J.H. Jaggar, G. Tigyi, K.H. Jakobs, Photolysis of intracellular caged sphingosine-1-

phosphate causes Ca2+ mobilization independently of G-protein-coupled receptors., FEBS Lett. 554 (2003) 443–9.

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/14623109 (accessed January 31, 2018).

- [155] I. Pulli, M.Y. Asghar, K. Kemppainen, K. Törnquist, Sphingolipid-mediated calcium signaling and its pathological effects, Biochim. Biophys. Acta -Mol. Cell Res. 1865 (2018) 1668–1677. doi:10.1016/j.bbamcr.2018.04.012.
- [156] H. Kentala, M. Weber-Boyvat, V.M. Olkkonen, OSBP-Related Protein Family: Mediators of Lipid Transport and Signaling at Membrane Contact Sites., Int. Rev. Cell Mol. Biol. 321 (2016) 299–340. doi:10.1016/bs.ircmb.2015.09.006.
- [157] B.P. Head, H.H. Patel, P.A. Insel, Interaction of membrane/lipid rafts with the cytoskeleton: Impact on signaling and function: Membrane/lipid rafts, mediators of cytoskeletal arrangement and cell signaling, Biochim. Biophys. Acta - Biomembr. 1838 (2014) 532–545. doi:10.1016/J.BBAMEM.2013.07.018.
- [158] T. Balla, Ca 2+ and lipid signals hold hands at endoplasmic reticulumplasma membrane contact sites, J. Physiol. (2018). doi:10.1113/JP274957.
- [159] J.F.C. Glatz, Lipids and lipid binding proteins: A perfect match, Prostaglandins, Leukot. Essent. Fat. Acids. 93 (2015) 45–49. doi:10.1016/J.PLEFA.2014.07.011.
- [160] M. Weber-Boyvat, W. Zhong, D. Yan, V.M. Olkkonen, Oxysterol-binding proteins: Functions in cell regulation beyond lipid metabolism, Biochem. Pharmacol. 86 (2013) 89–95. doi:10.1016/J.BCP.2013.02.016.
- [161] X. Du, N. Turner, H. Yang, The role of oxysterol-binding protein and its related proteins in cancer, Semin. Cell Dev. Biol. (2017). doi:10.1016/J.SEMCDB.2017.07.017.
- [162] V.M. Olkkonen, S. Li, Oxysterol-binding proteins: sterol and phosphoinositide sensors coordinating transport, signaling and metabolism, Prog. Lipid Res. 52 (2013) 529–538. doi:10.1016/j.plipres.2013.06.004 [doi].
- [163] M. Sohn, M. Korzeniowski, J.P. Zewe, R.C. Wills, G.R. V Hammond, J. Humpolickova, L. Vrzal, D. Chalupska, V. Veverka, G.D. Fairn, E. Boura, T. Balla, PI(4,5)P2controls plasma membrane PI4P and PS levels via ORP5/8 recruitment to ER-PM contact sites., J. Cell Biol. (2018) jcb.201710095. doi:10.1083/jcb.201710095.
- [164] R. Galmes, A. Houcine, A.R. van Vliet, P. Agostinis, C.L. Jackson, F. Giordano, ORP5/ORP8 localize to endoplasmic reticulum-mitochondria contacts and are involved in mitochondrial function, EMBO Rep. 17 (2016) 800–810. doi:10.15252/embr.201541108 [doi].
- [165] L. Scorrano, M.A. De Matteis, S. Emr, F. Giordano, G. Hajnóczky, B. Kornmann, L.L. Lackner, T.P. Levine, L. Pellegrini, K. Reinisch, R. Rizzuto, T. Simmen, H. Stenmark, C. Ungermann, M. Schuldiner, Coming together

to define membrane contact sites, Nat. Commun. 10 (2019) 1287. doi:10.1038/s41467-019-09253-3.

- [166] J. Chung, F. Torta, K. Masai, L. Lucast, H. Czapla, L.B. Tanner, P. Narayanaswamy, M.R. Wenk, F. Nakatsu, P. De Camilli, INTRACELLULAR TRANSPORT. PI4P/phosphatidylserine countertransport at ORP5- and ORP8-mediated ER-plasma membrane contacts, Science. 349 (2015) 428–432. doi:10.1126/science.aab1370 [doi].
- [167] M. Lee, G.D. Fairn, Both the PH domain and N-terminal region of oxysterol-binding protein related protein 8S are required for localization to PM-ER contact sites, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 496 (2018) 1088–1094. doi:10.1016/j.bbrc.2018.01.138.
- [168] N.C. Santos, V. Girik, P. Nunes-Hasler, ORP5 and ORP8: Sterol Sensors and Phospholipid Transfer Proteins at Membrane Contact Sites?, Biomolecules. 10 (2020) 928. doi:10.3390/biom10060928.
- [169] R. Ghai, X. Du, H. Wang, J. Dong, C. Ferguson, A.J. Brown, R.G. Parton, J.W. Wu, H. Yang, ORP5 and ORP8 bind phosphatidylinositol-4, 5-biphosphate (PtdIns(4,5)P 2) and regulate its level at the plasma membrane, Nat. Commun. 8 (2017) 5. doi:10.1038/s41467-017-00861-5 [doi].
- [170] I. Pulli, T. Lassila, G. Pan, D. Yan, V.M. Olkkonen, K. Törnquist, Oxysterolbinding protein related-proteins (ORPs) 5 and 8 regulate calcium signaling at specific cell compartments, Cell Calcium. 72 (2018) 62–69. doi:10.1016/j.ceca.2018.03.001.
- I. Pulli, C. Löf, T. Blom, M.Y. Asghar, T. Lassila, N. Bäck, K.-L. Lin, J.H. Nyström, K. Kemppainen, D.M. Toivola, E. Dufour, A. Sanz, H.M. Cooper, J.B. Parys, K. Törnquist, Sphingosine kinase 1 overexpression induces MFN2 fragmentation and alters mitochondrial matrix Ca2+ handling in HeLa cells, Biochim. Biophys. Acta - Mol. Cell Res. (2019). doi:10.1016/j.bbamcr.2019.06.006.
- [172] V. Kalhori, M. Magnusson, M.Y. Asghar, I. Pulli, K. Törnquist, FTY720 (Fingolimod) attenuates basal and sphingosine-1-phosphate-evoked thyroid cancer cell invasion, Endocr. Relat. Cancer. 23 (2016). doi:10.1530/ERC-16-0050.
- [173] X. Liu, L. Yang, Q. Long, D. Weaver, G. Hajnóczky, Choosing proper fluorescent dyes, proteins, and imaging techniques to study mitochondrial dynamics in mammalian cells., Biophys. Reports. 3 (2017) 64–72. doi:10.1007/s41048-017-0037-8.
- [174] M.A. Beaven, Calcium signalling: Sphingosine kinase versus phospholipase C?, Curr. Biol. 6 (1996) 798–801. doi:10.1016/S0960-9822(02)00598-5.
- [175] E. Rapizzi, C. Donati, F. Cencetti, P. Pinton, R. Rizzuto, P. Bruni, Sphingosine 1-phosphate receptors modulate intracellular Ca2+homeostasis, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 353 (2007) 268– 274. doi:10.1016/j.bbrc.2006.12.010.
- [176] L.B. Fugio, F.B. Coeli-lacchini, A.M. Leopoldino, Sphingolipids and Mitochondrial Dynamic, (2020) 1–15. doi:10.3390/cells9030581.

- [177] M.Z. Haque, V.J. McIntosh, A.B. Abou Samra, R.M. Mohammad, R.D. Lasley, Cholesterol Depletion Alters Cardiomyocyte Subcellular Signaling and Increases Contractility, PLoS One. 11 (2016) e0154151. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0154151.
- [178] M. Löhn, M. Fürstenau, V. Sagach, M. Elger, W. Schulze, F.C. Luft, H. Haller, M. Gollasch, Ignition of Calcium Sparks in Arterial and Cardiac Muscle Through Caveolae, Circ. Res. 87 (2000) 1034–1039. doi:10.1161/01.RES.87.11.1034.
- [179] J. Igarashi, K. Shoji, T. Hashimoto, T. Moriue, K. Yoneda, T. Takamura, T. Yamashita, Y. Kubota, H. Kosaka, K.H. Transforming, Transforming growth factor-1 downregulates caveolin-1 expression and enhances sphingosine 1-phosphate signaling in cultured vascular endothelial cells, Am J Physiol Cell Physiol. 297 (2009) 1263–1274. doi:10.1152/ajpcell.00109.2009.-In.
- [180] J. Igarashi, T. Michel, Agonist-modulated targeting of the EDG-1 receptor to plasmalemmal caveolae. eNOS activation by sphingosine 1-phosphate and the role of caveolin-1 in sphingolipid signal transduction., J. Biol. Chem. 275 (2000) 32363–70. doi:10.1074/jbc.M003075200.
- [181] J.A. Hengst, J.M. Guilford, T.E. Fox, X. Wang, E.J. Conroy, J.K. Yun, Sphingosine kinase 1 localized to the plasma membrane lipid raft microdomain overcomes serum deprivation induced growth inhibition, Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 492 (2009) 62–73. doi:10.1016/j.abb.2009.09.013.
- [182] G.M. Strub, M. Maceyka, N.C. Hait, S. Milstien, S. Spiegel, Extracellular and Intracellular Actions of Sphingosine-1-Phosphate, in: Springer, New York, NY, 2010: pp. 141–155. doi:10.1007/978-1-4419-6741-1_10.
- [183] A.M. Hashad, O.F. Harraz, S.E. Brett, M. Romero, M. Kassmann, J.L. Puglisi, S.M. Wilson, M. Gollasch, D.G. Welsh, Caveolae Link Ca v 3.2 Channels to BK _{Ca} -Mediated Feedback in Vascular Smooth Muscle, Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 38 (2018) 2371–2381. doi:10.1161/ATVBAHA.118.311394.
- [184] D.L. Bennett, T.R. Cheek, M.J. Berridge, H. De Smedt, J.B. Parys, L. Missiaen, M.D. Bootman, Expression and function of ryanodine receptors in nonexcitable cells., J. Biol. Chem. 271 (1996) 6356–62. doi:10.1074/JBC.271.11.6356.
- [185] A. Titievsky, I. Titievskaya, M. Pasternack, K. Kaila, K. Törnquist, Sphingosine inhibits voltage-operated calcium channels in GH4C1 cells, J. Biol. Chem. 273 (1998) 242–247. doi:10.1074/JBC.273.1.242.
- [186] N. Calloway, M. Vig, J.-P. Kinet, D. Holowka, B. Baird, Molecular Clustering of STIM1 with Orai1/CRACM1 at the Plasma Membrane Depends Dynamically on Depletion of Ca²⁺ Stores and on Electrostatic Interactions, Mol. Biol. Cell. 20 (2009) 389–399. doi:10.1091/mbc.e07-11-1132.
- [187] N. Kotelevets, D. Fabbro, A. Huwiler, U. Zangemeister-Wittke, Targeting Sphingosine Kinase 1 in Carcinoma Cells Decreases Proliferation and

Survival by Compromising PKC Activity and Cytokinesis, PLoS One. 7 (2012) e39209. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0039209.

- [188] C. Mathes, A. Fleig, R. Penner, Calcium release-activated calcium current (I(CRAC)) is a direct target for sphingosine, J. Biol. Chem. 273 (1998) 25020–25030. doi:10.1074/JBC.273.39.25020.
- [189] V. Paupe, J. Prudent, New insights into the role of mitochondrial calcium homeostasis in cell migration, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 500 (2018) 75–86. doi:10.1016/J.BBRC.2017.05.039.
- [190] A. Vultur, C.S. Gibhardt, H. Stanisz, I. Bogeski, The role of the mitochondrial calcium uniporter (MCU) complex in cancer, Pflügers Arch. - Eur. J. Physiol. 470 (2018) 1149–1163. doi:10.1007/s00424-018-2162-8.
- [191] G. Pedriali, A. Rimessi, L. Sbano, C. Giorgi, M.R. Wieckowski, M. Previati, P. Pinton, Regulation of Endoplasmic Reticulum-Mitochondria Ca2+ Transfer and Its Importance for Anti-Cancer Therapies., Front. Oncol. 7 (2017) 180. doi:10.3389/fonc.2017.00180.
- [192] M. Kerkhofs, C. Giorgi, S. Marchi, B. Seitaj, J.B. Parys, P. Pinton, G. Bultynck, M. Bittremieux, Alterations in Ca2+ Signalling via ER-Mitochondria Contact Site Remodelling in Cancer., Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. 997 (2017) 225–254. doi:10.1007/978-981-10-4567-7_17.
- [193] S. Marchi, M. Bittremieux, S. Missiroli, C. Morganti, S. Patergnani, L. Sbano, A. Rimessi, M. Kerkhofs, J.B. Parys, G. Bultynck, C. Giorgi, P. Pinton, Endoplasmic Reticulum-Mitochondria Communication Through Ca2+ Signaling: The Importance of Mitochondria-Associated Membranes (MAMs), Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. 997 (2017) 49–67. doi:10.1007/978-981-10-4567-7_4 [doi].
- [194] D. De Stefani, R. Rizzuto, T. Pozzan, Enjoy the Trip: Calcium in Mitochondria Back and Forth, Annu. Rev. Biochem. 85 (2016) 161–192. doi:10.1146/annurev-biochem-060614-034216.
- [195] M.J. Hernández-Corbacho, M.F. Salama, D. Canals, C.E. Senkal, L.M. Obeid, Sphingolipids in mitochondria., Biochim. Biophys. Acta. Mol. Cell Biol. Lipids. 1862 (2017) 56–68. doi:10.1016/j.bbalip.2016.09.019.
- [196] S.-W. Hong, J. Lee, H. Kwon, S.E. Park, E.-J. Rhee, C.-Y. Park, K.-W. Oh, S.-W. Park, W.-Y. Lee, Deficiency of Sphingosine-1-Phosphate Reduces the Expression of Prohibitin and Causes β-Cell Impairment via Mitochondrial Dysregulation, Endocrinol. Metab. 33 (2018) 403. doi:10.3803/EnM.2018.33.3.403.
- [197] G.M. Strub, M. Paillard, J. Liang, L. Gomez, J.C. Allegood, N.C. Hait, M. Maceyka, M.M. Price, Q. Chen, D.C. Simpson, T. Kordula, S. Milstien, E.J. Lesnefsky, S. Spiegel, Sphingosine-1-phosphate produced by sphingosine kinase 2 in mitochondria interacts with prohibitin 2 to regulate complex IV assembly and respiration., FASEB J. 25 (2011) 600–12. doi:10.1096/fj.10-167502.
- [198] L. Gomez, M. Paillard, M. Price, Q. Chen, G. Teixeira, S. Spiegel, E.J. Lesnefsky, A novel role for mitochondrial sphingosine-1-phosphate

produced by sphingosine kinase-2 in PTP-mediated cell survival during cardioprotection, Basic Res. Cardiol. 106 (2011) 1341–1353. doi:10.1007/s00395-011-0223-7.

- [199] S. Kim, D. Sieburth, Sphingosine Kinase Activates the Mitochondrial Unfolded Protein Response and Is Targeted to Mitochondria by Stress, Cell Rep. 24 (2018) 2932–2945.e4. doi:10.1016/j.celrep.2018.08.037.
- [200] D.O.D. Mak, S.M.J. McBride, N.B. Petrenko, J.K. Foskett, Novel Regulation of Calcium Inhibition of the Inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate Receptor Calcium-release Channel, J. Gen. Physiol. 122 (2003) 569–581. doi:10.1085/jgp.200308808.
- [201] R. Rizzuto, M. Brini, M. Murgia, T. Pozzan, Microdomains with high Ca2+close to IP3-sensitive channels that are sensed by neighboring mitochondria, Science (80-.). 262 (1993) 744–747. doi:10.1126/science.8235595.
- [202] Y. Luo, J.D. Bond, V.M. Ingram, Compromised mitochondrial function leads to increased cytosolic calcium and to activation of MAP kinases, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 94 (1997) 9705–9710.
- [203] F. Maltecca, D. De Stefani, L. Cassina, F. Consolato, M. Wasilewski, L. Scorrano, R. Rizzuto, G. Casari, Respiratory dysfunction by AFG3L2 deficiency causes decreased mitochondrial calcium uptake via organellar network fragmentation, Hum. Mol. Genet. 21 (2012) 3858–3870. doi:10.1093/hmg/dds214.
- [204] F. Maltecca, A. Aghaie, D.G. Schroeder, L. Cassina, B.A. Taylor, S.J. Phillips, M. Malaguti, S. Previtali, J.L. Guénet, A. Quattrini, G.A. Cox, G. Casari, The Mitochondrial Protease AFG3L2 Is Essential for Axonal Development, J. Neurosci. 28 (2008) 2827–2836. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4677-07.2008.
- [205] R. Filadi, E. Greotti, P. Pizzo, Highlighting the endoplasmic reticulummitochondria connection: Focus on Mitofusin 2, Pharmacol. Res. 128 (2018) 42–51. doi:10.1016/J.PHRS.2018.01.003.
- [206] W. Wang, F. Zhang, L. Li, F. Tang, S.L. Siedlak, H. Fujioka, Y. Liu, B. Su, Y. Pi, X. Wang, MFN2 couples glutamate excitotoxicity and mitochondrial dysfunction in motor neurons, J. Biol. Chem. 290 (2015) 168–182. doi:10.1074/jbc.M114.617167.
- [207] D.A. duVerle, Y. Ono, H. Sorimachi, H. Mamitsuka, Calpain Cleavage Prediction Using Multiple Kernel Learning, PLoS One. 6 (2011) e19035. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0019035.
- [208] A.G. Rocha, A. Franco, A.M. Krezel, J.M. Rumsey, J.M. Alberti, W.C. Knight, N. Biris, E. Zacharioudakis, J.W. Janetka, R.H. Baloh, R.N. Kitsis, D. Mochly-Rosen, R.R. Townsend, E. Gavathiotis, G.W. Dorn, MFN2 agonists reverse mitochondrial defects in preclinical models of Charcot-Marie-Tooth disease type 2A, Science (80-.). 360 (2018) 336–341. doi:10.1126/science.aao1785.
- [209] A. Franco, R.N. Kitsis, J.A. Fleischer, E. Gavathiotis, O.S. Kornfeld, G. Gong, N. Biris, A. Benz, N. Qvit, S.K. Donnelly, Y. Chen, S. Mennerick, L. Hodgson,

D. Mochly-Rosen, G.W. Dorn, Correcting mitochondrial fusion by manipulating mitofusin conformations, Nature. 540 (2016) 74–79. doi:10.1038/nature20156.

- [210] J. Segales, J.C. Paz, M.I. Hernandez-Alvarez, D. Sala, J.P. Munoz, E. Noguera, S. Pich, M. Palacin, J.A. Enriquez, A. Zorzano, A form of mitofusin 2 (Mfn2) lacking the transmembrane domains and the COOHterminal end stimulates metabolism in muscle and liver cells, AJP Endocrinol. Metab. 305 (2013) E1208–E1221. doi:10.1152/ajpendo.00546.2012.
- [211] N. Hagen, M. Hans, D. Hartmann, D. Swandulla, G. van Echten-Deckert, Sphingosine-1-phosphate links glycosphingolipid metabolism to neurodegeneration via a calpain-mediated mechanism., Cell Death Differ. 18 (2011) 1356–65. doi:10.1038/cdd.2011.7.
- [212] H. Kang, H.-I. Kwak, R. Kaunas, K.J. Bayless, Fluid shear stress and sphingosine 1-phosphate activate calpain to promote membrane type 1 matrix metalloproteinase (MT1-MMP) membrane translocation and endothelial invasion into three-dimensional collagen matrices., J. Biol. Chem. 286 (2011) 42017–26. doi:10.1074/jbc.M111.290841.
- [213] M. Kostic, M.H.R. Ludtmann, H. Bading, M. Hershfinkel, E. Steer, C.T. Chu, A.Y. Abramov, I. Sekler, PKA Phosphorylation of NCLX Reverses Mitochondrial Calcium Overload and Depolarization, Promoting Survival of PINK1-Deficient Dopaminergic Neurons, Cell Rep. 13 (2015) 376–386. doi:10.1016/j.celrep.2015.08.079.
- [214] J.G. McCormack, R.M. Denton, The effects of calcium ions and adenine nucleotides on the activity of pig heart 2-oxoglutarate dehydrogenase complex., Biochem. J. 180 (1979) 533–44. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/39549 (accessed November 16, 2018).
- [215] J.Q. Kwong, J. Huo, M.J. Bround, J.G. Boyer, J.A. Schwanekamp, N. Ghazal, J.T. Maxwell, Y.C. Jang, Z. Khuchua, K. Shi, D.M. Bers, J. Davis, J.D. Molkentin, The mitochondrial calcium uniporter underlies metabolic fuel preference in skeletal muscle, JCI Insight. 3 (2018). doi:10.1172/jci.insight.121689.
- [216] J. Prudent, N. Popgeorgiev, R. Gadet, M. Deygas, R. Rimokh, G. Gillet, Mitochondrial Ca2+ uptake controls actin cytoskeleton dynamics during cell migration, Sci. Rep. 6 (2016) 36570. doi:10.1038/srep36570.
- [217] S. Jung, J.-O. Kwon, M.K. Kim, M.-K. Song, B. Kim, Z.H. Lee, H.-H. Kim, Mitofusin 2, a mitochondria-ER tethering protein, facilitates osteoclastogenesis by regulating the calcium-calcineurin-NFATc1 axis, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 516 (2019) 202–208. doi:10.1016/J.BBRC.2019.06.017.
- [218] B. Wacquier, L. Combettes, G.T. Van Nhieu, G. Dupont, Interplay Between Intracellular Ca(2+) Oscillations and Ca(2+)-stimulated Mitochondrial Metabolism., Sci. Rep. 6 (2016) 19316. doi:10.1038/srep19316.
- [219] E. Hernández-SanMiguel, L. Vay, J. Santo-Domingo, C.D. Lobatón, A.

Moreno, M. Montero, J. Alvarez, The mitochondrial Na+/Ca2+ exchanger plays a key role in the control of cytosolic Ca2+ oscillations, Cell Calcium. 40 (2006) 53–61. doi:10.1016/J.CECA.2006.03.009.

- [220] M.D. Brand, C.H. Chen, A.L. Lehninger, Stoichiometry of H+ ejection during respiration dependent accumulation of Ca2+ by rat liver mitochoneria, J. Biol. Chem. 251 (1976) 968–974.
- [221] N.M. Storey, D.G. Lambert, Mitochondrial pharmacology turns its sights on the Ca2+ uniporter, Cell Death Discov. 3 (2017). doi:10.1038/cddiscovery.2017.64.
- [222] D. Bach, S. Pich, F.X. Soriano, N. Vega, B. Baumgartner, J. Oriola, J.R. Daugaard, J. Lloberas, M. Camps, J.R. Zierath, R. Rabasa-Lhoret, H. Wallberg-Henriksson, M. Laville, M. Palacín, H. Vidal, F. Rivera, M. Brand, A. Zorzano, Mitofusin-2 determines mitochondrial network architecture and mitochondrial metabolism: A novel regulatory mechanism altered in obesity, J. Biol. Chem. 278 (2003) 17190–17197. doi:10.1074/jbc.M212754200.
- [223] R. Filadi, E. Greotti, G. Turacchio, A. Luini, T. Pozzan, P. Pizzo, Mitofusin 2 ablation increases endoplasmic reticulum-mitochondria coupling, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 112 (2015) E2174–E2181. doi:10.1073/pnas.1504880112.
- [224] S. Inagaki, Y. Suzuki, K. Kawasaki, R. Kondo, Y. Imaizumi, H. Yamamura, Mitofusin 2 positively regulates Ca2+ signaling by tethering the sarcoplasmic reticulum and mitochondria in rat aortic smooth muscle cells, Https://Doi.Org/10.1152/Ajpcell.00274.2021. (2022). doi:10.1152/AJPCELL.00274.2021.
- [225] C. Wolf, R. Zimmermann, O. Thaher, D. Bueno, V. Wüllner, M.K.E. Schäfer, P. Albrecht, A. Methner, The Charcot–Marie Tooth Disease Mutation R94Q in MFN2 Decreases ATP Production but Increases Mitochondrial Respiration under Conditions of Mild Oxidative Stress, Cells. 8 (2019) 1289. doi:10.3390/cells8101289.
- [226] Y.-J. Li, Y.-L. Cao, J.-X. Feng, Y. Qi, S. Meng, J.-F. Yang, Y.-T. Zhong, S. Kang, X. Chen, L. Lan, L. Luo, B. Yu, S. Chen, D.C. Chan, J. Hu, S. Gao, Structural insights of human mitofusin-2 into mitochondrial fusion and CMT2A onset, Nat. Commun. 10 (2019) 4914. doi:10.1038/s41467-019-12912-0.
- [227] I.Y. Kuo, A.L. Brill, F.O. Lemos, J.Y. Jiang, J.L. Falcone, E.P. Kimmerling, Y. Cai, K. Dong, D.L. Kaplan, D.P. Wallace, A.M. Hofer, B.E. Ehrlich, Polycystin 2 regulates mitochondrial Ca2+ signaling, bioenergetics, and dynamics through mitofusin 2, Sci. Signal. 12 (2019). doi:10.1126/scisignal.aat7397.
- [228] O. Devuyst, Genetics of kidney diseases in 2017: Unveiling the genetic architecture of kidney disease, Nat. Publ. Gr. 14 (2018). doi:10.1038/nrneph.2017.177.
- [229] X. Li, M. Wu, L. Chen, J. Lu, G. Li, L. Fu, N. Qi, Y. Lin, Z. Sun, X. Wang, H. Zhang, J. Liu, H. Jiang, L. Li, C.L. Mei, C. Luo, A Sphingosine-1-Phosphate

Modulator Ameliorates Polycystic Kidney Disease in Han:SPRD Rats, Am. J. Nephrol. (2019). doi:10.1159/000502855.

- [230] T.A. Natoli, H. Husson, K.A. Rogers, L.A. Smith, B. Wang, Y. Budman, N.O. Bukanov, S.R. Ledbetter, K.W. Klinger, J.P. Leonard, O. Ibraghimovbeskrovnaya, Loss of GM3 synthase gene, but not sphingosine kinase 1, is protective against murine nephronophthisis-related polycystic kidney disease, Hum. Mol. Genet. 21 (2012) 3397–3407. doi:10.1093/hmg/dds172.
- [231] X. Cao, J. Chen, D. Li, P. Xie, M. Xu, W. Lin, S. Li, G. Pan, Y. Tang, J. Xu, V.M. Olkkonen, D. Yan, W. Zhong, ORP4L couples IP3 to ITPR1 in control of endoplasmic reticulum calcium release., FASEB J. (2019) fj201900933RR. doi:10.1096/fj.201900933RR.
- [232] J.-W. Li, Y.-L. Xiao, C.-F. Lai, N. Lou, H.-L. Ma, B.-Y. Zhu, W.-B. Zhong, D.-G. Yan, Oxysterol-binding protein-related protein 4L promotes cell proliferation by sustaining intracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> homeostasis in cervical carcinoma cell lines, Oncotarget. 7 (2016) 65849–65861. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.11671.
- [233] G. Gulyás, M. Sohn, Y.J. Kim, P. Várnai, T. Balla, ORP3 phosphorylation regulates phosphatidylinositol 4-phosphate and Ca2+ dynamics at plasma membrane-ER contact sites, J. Cell Sci. 133 (2020). doi:10.1242/JCS.237388.
- [234] R.S. D'Souza, J.Y. Lim, A. Turgut, K. Servage, J. Zhang, K. Orth, N.G. Sosale, M.J. Lazzara, J. Allegood, J.E. Casanova, Calcium-stimulated disassembly of focal adhesions mediated by an ORP3/IQSec1 complex, Elife. 9 (2020). doi:10.7554/eLife.54113.
- [235] M. Xu, B. Zhu, X. Cao, S. Li, D. Li, H. Zhou, V.M. Olkkonen, W. Zhong, J. Xu, OSBP-Related Protein 5L Maintains Intracellular IP 3 /Ca 2+ Signaling and Proliferation in T Cells by Facilitating PIP 2 Hydrolysis, (2020). doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1900671.
- [236] C. Cárdenas, R.A. Miller, I. Smith, T. Bui, J. Molgó, M. Müller, H. Vais, K.-H. Cheung, J. Yang, I. Parker, C.B. Thompson, M.J. Birnbaum, K.R. Hallows, J.K. Foskett, Essential regulation of cell bioenergetics by constitutive InsP3 receptor Ca2+ transfer to mitochondria., Cell. 142 (2010) 270–83. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2010.06.007.
- [237] E.J. Griffiths, G.A. Rutter, Mitochondrial calcium as a key regulator of mitochondrial ATP production in mammalian cells, Biochim. Biophys. Acta - Bioenerg. 1787 (2009) 1324–1333. doi:10.1016/J.BBABIO.2009.01.019.
- [238] W. Zhong, Q. Yi, B. Xu, S. Li, T. Wang, F. Liu, B. Zhu, P.R. Hoffmann, G. Ji, P. Lei, G. Li, J. Li, J. Li, V.M. Olkkonen, D. Yan, ORP4L is essential for T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia cell survival, Nat. Commun. 7 (2016) 12702. doi:10.1038/ncomms12702.
- [239] J. Li, J. Cui, Z. Li, X. Fu, J. Li, H. Li, S. Wang, M. Zhang, ORP8 induces apoptosis by releasing cytochrome c from mitochondria in non–small cell lung cancer, Oncol. Rep. 43 (2020) 1516–1524.

doi:10.3892/or.2020.7517.

- [240] J.-P. Decuypere, G. Monaco, L. Missiaen, H. De Smedt, J.B. Parys, G. Bultynck, IP(3) Receptors, Mitochondria, and Ca Signaling: Implications for Aging., J. Aging Res. 2011 (2011) 920178. doi:10.4061/2011/920178.
- [241] M. Kerkhofs, M. Bittremieux, G. Morciano, C. Giorgi, P. Pinton, J.B. Parys, G. Bultynck, Emerging molecular mechanisms in chemotherapy: Ca2+ signaling at the mitochondria-associated endoplasmic reticulum membranes, Cell Death Dis. 9 (2018) 334. doi:10.1038/s41419-017-0179-0.
- [242] W. Zhong, S. Qin, B. Zhu, M. Pu, F. Liu, L. Wang, G. Ye, Q. Yi, D. Yan, Oxysterol-binding protein-related protein 8 (ORP8) increases sensitivity of hepatocellular carcinoma cells to Fas-mediated apoptosis., J. Biol. Chem. 290 (2015) 8876–87. doi:10.1074/jbc.M114.610188.

APPENDIX: ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

Pulli I*, Blom T*, Löf C, Magnusson M, Rimessi A, Pinton P, Törnquist K. (2015) A novel chimeric aequorin fused with caveolin-1 reveals a sphingosine kinase 1-regulated Ca2+ microdomain in the caveolar compartment, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1853 (2015) 2173-2182, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamcr.2015.04.005

Biochimica et Biophysica Acta 1853 (2015) 2173-2182



Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Biochimica et Biophysica Acta



A novel chimeric aequorin fused with caveolin-1 reveals a sphingosine kinase 1-regulated Ca^{2+} microdomain in the caveolar compartment*



CrossMark

Ilari Pulli ^{a,1}, Tomas Blom ^{b,1}, Christoffer Löf ^c, Melissa Magnusson ^a, Alessandro Rimessi ^d, Paolo Pinton ^d, Kid Törnquist ^{a,e,*}

^a Åbo Akademi University, Tykistökatu 6A, 20520 Turku, Finland

^b University Of Helsinki, 00014 Helsinki, Finland

^c University Of Turku, Department of Physiology, Institute of Biomedicine, Kiinamyllynkatu 10, 20520 Turku, Finland

^d University of Ferrara, Dept. of Morphology, Surgery and Experimental Medicine, Section of Pathology, Oncology and Experimental Biology, Laboratory for Technologies of Advanced Therapies (LTTA), 44121 Ferrara, Italy

^e Minerva Foundation Institute For Medical Research, Biomedicum Helsinki, 00270 Helsinki, Finland

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 12 December 2014 Received in revised form 13 March 2015 Accepted 7 April 2015 Available online 16 April 2015

Keywords: Caveolin-1 Aequorin Sphingosine kinase 1 Sphingosine-1-phosphate Calcium Plasma membrane

ABSTRACT

Caveolae are plasma membrane invaginations enriched in sterols and sphingolipids. Sphingosine kinase 1 (SK1) is an oncogenic protein that converts sphingosine to sphingosine 1-phosphate (S1P), which is a messenger molecule involved in calcium signaling. Caveolae contain calcium responsive proteins, but the effects of SK1 or S1P on caveolar calcium signaling have not been investigated. We generated a Caveolin-1-Aequorin fusion protein (Cav1-Aeq) that can be employed for monitoring the local calcium concentration at the caveolae ([Ca²⁺]cav). In HeLa cells, Cav1-Aeq prepted different [Ca²⁺] as compared to the plasma membrane [Ca²⁺] in general (reported by SNAP25-Aeq) or a compared to the cytosolic [Ca²⁺] (reported by yrt-Aeq). The Ca²⁺ signals detected by Cav1-Aeq were significantly attenuated when the caveolar structures were disrupted by methyl- β -cyclodextrin, suggesting that the caveolae are specific targets for Ca²⁺ signaling. HeLa cells overexpressing SK1 showed increased [Ca²⁺]cav during histamine-induced Ca²⁺ mobilization in the absence of extracellular Ca²⁺ as well as during receptor-operated Ca²⁺ entry (ROCE). The SK1-induced increase in [Ca²⁺]cav during ROCE. S1P treatment stimulated the [Ca²⁺]cav upon ROCE. The Ca²⁺ responses at the plasma membrane in general were not affected by SK1 expression. In summary, our results show that SK1/S1P-signaling regulates Ca²⁺ signals at the caveolae. This article is part of a Special Issue entitled: 13th European Symposium on Calcium.

© 2015 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

Sphingosine kinase 1 (SK1) is an oncogenic protein that converts sphingosine to the lipid messenger molecule sphingosine-1-phosphate (S1P). Sphingosine and its metabolic precursor ceramide are considered to be pro-apoptotic lipids whereas S1P is involved in promoting cell survival. SK1/S1P signaling acts through direct intracellular mechanisms as well as through extracellular stimulation of specific G-protein coupled S1P receptors (S1PR1-5), some of which are known to couple to phospholipase C (PLC) [1,2]. Activation of PLC results in the hydrolysis of phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate (IPI2) into two central Ca²⁺ signaling molecules, diacylglycerol (DAG) and inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate (IP3).

Members of the transient receptor potential canonical channels (TRPC1-7) are activated upon DAG-binding [3], thus facilitating

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamcr.2015.04.005 0167-4889/© 2015 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved. receptor-operated Ca²⁺ entry (ROCE) and S1P has been shown to be involved in this process [3,4]. In accordance, S1P treatment activates TRPC2 in rat thyroid FRTL-5 cells [5]. IP3 is a major regulator of the intracellular endoplasmic reticulum (ER) Ca²⁺ store and acts by ligating the IP3 receptor (IP3R) Ca²⁺ channels in the ER membrane [6]. There is also evidence for S1P to directly mediate the release of Ca²⁺ from the intracellular stores [7]. However, the role of SK1 and S1P in regulating Ca²⁺ signaling in specific cellular sub-compartments is poorly characterized.

Since the development of organelle-specific Ca^{2+} reporters, it has become increasingly evident that highly localized Ca^{2+} signals regulate various cell physiological phenomena. For instance, recent reports have highlighted the importance of mitochondrial Ca^{2+} handling in multiple (patho)physiological situations, and the long-sought molecular identity of the mitochondrial Ca^{2+} uniporter (MCU) complex is now emerging [8–11]. Also, the importance of the interplay between the major Ca^{2+} store, the endoplasmic reticulum (ER), and the mitochondria is being characterized [12,13]. Furthermore, the lysosomal compartments are involved in cellular Ca^{2+} handling [14].

[☆] This article is part of a Special Issue entitled: 13th European Symposium on Calcium.
* Corresponding author. Tel.: + 358 50 5855262.

E-mail address: ktornqvi@abo.fi (K. Törnquist).

¹ Authors contributed equally.

In addition to the Ca²⁺ domains in membrane enclosed organelles, local micro domains of cytosolic Ca²⁺ play a role in cell physiological events. Such Ca²⁺ micro domains may for instance arise near channels and pumps involved in Ca²⁺ handling near the plasma membrane (PM) or the ER [15,16]. Many components of the cellular Ca²⁺ handling reside in the PM. These include the plasma membrane Ca²⁺ ATPases (PMCAs), ion channels of the transient receptor potential (TRP) family, and the Orai channels with functions ranging from maintaining the Ca²⁺ hord meostasis to regulation of cell proliferation and migration. PM and ER have been shown to interact to regulate Ca²⁺ fluxes. For instance, the stromal interaction molecules (STIMs) that reside in the ER and sense the luminal Ca²⁺ concentrations of the organelle can couple to the Orai and TRP canonical (TRPC) channels to activate store-operated calcium entry (SOCE) [17,18].

To organize cellular signaling, the lipid and protein composition of the PM is compartmentalized through cytoskeletal and integral membrane protein scaffolding [19]. Caveolae are invaginated cholesterol-rich compartments of the PM which are involved in facilitating and organizing cellular signals. Caveolin proteins (caveolin1– 3) are the main structural components of caveolae, caveolin-1 being the most abundantly expressed isoform in most tissues. Caveolae have numerous proposed functions including the regulation of local Ca^{2+} signaling as well as contact coordination at the PM, ER and mitochondrial interfaces. Multiple molecules that are related to Ca^{2+} signaling have been shown to localize to caveolae, including G-protein coupled receptors (GPCRs), receptor tyrosine kinases (RTKs), ion channels (e.g. TRPC1 and 4) as well as PIP2, PLC and IP3R. Also scaffolding functions for caveolin-1 mediating the activity of TRPC1 upon SOCE have been proposed [20–22].

Depending on the cellular context, SK1 may translocate to the caveolin-1 enriched domains in PM upon activation [23]. This PM translocation of SK1 is in part mediated by Ca^{2+} [24] and may facilitate S1P secretion to the cell exterior, leading to autocrine S1P signaling [5, 24–26]. Since caveolae are versatile Ca^{2+} signaling domains with implicated functions for all of the major cellular Ca^{2+} handling mechanisms (i.e. ER Ca^{2+} -release through the IP3R channels and Ca^{2+} -uptake through ROCE and SOCE), we wanted to investigate whether SK1-mediated signaling would act locally at the caveolae to coordinate some of these central Ca^{2+} signaling events.

Experimental methods for measuring Ca^{2+} at the caveolae are relatively limited. Ca^{2+} signaling molecules interacting with caveolae associated structures are to some extent characterized, but experimental data for specific caveolar Ca^{2+} fluxes is scarce. To our knowledge, two approaches to investigate Ca^{2+} signaling related to caveolae have been reported. By employing targeted fluorescent Ca^{2+} reporters and FRET, Isshiki et al. [27,28] have shown that caveolae are the preferred plasma membrane domains for SOCE, and that the internalized caveolin-enclosed vesicles may act as sealed compartments that are able to release Ca^{2+} in an IP3R-dependent manner.

Here, we characterize a novel chimeric Ca^{2+} reporter protein comprising of the Asp119Ala-mutated aequorin [29] and caveolin-1 (designated here as Cav1–Aeq) that specifically reports Ca^{2+} signals from a caveolar microdomain. These Ca^{2+} signals are registered at the cytoplasmic subcellular domain near to the caveolae and are distinct from the Ca^{2+} signals from the overall near PM Ca^{2+} compartment. By employing this approach, we show novel roles for the oncogenic protein SK1 in controlling the caveolar Ca^{2+} microdomain upon IP3R stimulation, ROCE and SOCE.

2. Materials and methods

2.1. Cell culture, transduction and transfection

HeLa cells were cultured in DMEM (#D5546, Sigma-Aldrich) supplemented with 10% FBS, 1% penicillin-streptomycin and 1% L-glutamine (Life Technologies) at 37 °C and 5% CO₂. The ML1 thyroid cancer cells that were used in a supplementary experiment were grown in the same medium as described here for HeLa cells. To overexpress SK1, we used a previously described lentiviral expression vector [5]. Transduction with the SK1 overexpression vector was performed by incubating the cells with polybrene (8 mg/ml) along with the viral particles at multiplicity of infection 10 for 6 h. Control cells were created by mock-vector transduction. The lentiviral particles for SK1 shRNA (sc-156038-V), as well as the control vectors (sc-108080), were acquired from Santa Cruz Biotechnology and the cells were transduced by incubating the cells for 12 h with polybrene (8 mg/ml) along with the lentiviral particles at multiplicity of infection 30. After 24 h the cells were subjected to continuous selection with 0.5 mg/ml puromycin (Life Technologies). Plasmid transfection mixtures were prepared by using TurboFect transfection reagent (#R0531, Thermo Scientific), OptiMEM media (#31985-070, Life Technologies) and 1 µg/ml plasmid (final concentration). The transfections were conducted in the same cell culture conditions as described above.

2.2. Construction of the caveolin-1-aequorin plasmid

For measurements in the caveolar compartment we created a plasmid chimera with the sequences for caveolin-1 and the previously described Asp119Ala-mutated aequorin (mut-Aeq) [29]. Among other targeting sequences (see Materials and methods, Section 2.6 for additional references), this mut-Aeq has been previously characterized for the plasma membrane targeting SNAP25-Aeq chimera [29]. The Cav1-Aeq was generated by amplifying Cav-1 using the primers (5-CGGGGT ACCATGTCTGGGGGGAAATAC-3; forward, 5-GGCGAATTCTATTTCTTTCT GCAAGTTGAT-3; reverse). The PCR fragment was subcloned into a pSC-A vector. The fragment coding Cav-1 was excised by KpnI and EcoRI digestion, and the fragment encoding Cav-1 was ligated into pcDNA3 to generate pcDNA3-Cav1. The mut-Aeq fragment was cut from a pSC-A plasmid using EcoRI, and ligated into the pcDNA3-Cav1, to generate the pcDNA3-Cav1-Aeq encoding a chimeric protein with the N-terminus of mut-Aeq fused to the C-terminus of caveolin-1. Nterminal modifications to the mut-Aeq have been shown not to affect the luminescence production of the chimeric proteins [30].

2.3. Separation of detergent resistant membrane fractions on Optiprep gradient

All steps were performed at +4 °C. Cells were washed 2× in PBS, harvested and pelleted by centrifugation for 5 min at 2500 rpm. The cells were homogenized in 250 µl TNE buffer (25 mM Tris–HCl pH 7.5, 150 mM NaCl, 5 mM EDTA, 0.1% Triton-X 100, 10% sucrose, 1 mM DTT and protease inhibitor cocktail). The lysate was blended with 480 µl 60% Optiprep and mixed. The lysate was transferred to an ultracentrifuge tube, and TNE buffer with decreasing percent Optiprep were layered on top. The samples were centrifuged for 4 h, 40,000 rpm using a Beckman Coulter centrifuge with a SW 60Ti rotor after which the fractions were collected in Eppendorf tubes.

2.4. Western blot

For western blotting, the cells were grown to 70% confluence, followed by three washes with phosphate buffered saline (PBS) on ice. The cells were then lysed by addition of 3x Laemmli sample buffer (LSB), where after the lysates were boiled for 5 min. Then, the proteins were subjected to SDS-PAGE and transferred to a nitrocellulose membrane. The membranes were then blocked with 5% milk in TBS (Trisbuffered saline, 150 mM NaCl, 20 mM Tris base, pH 7.5) with 0.1% Tween 20 (Sigma-Aldrich) and incubated overnight with the desired primary antibody at +4 °C. The primary antibodies were diluted 1:1000 in PBS containing 0.5% bovine serum albumin (BSA). Then, the membranes were washed and incubated with the secondary, horseradish peroxidase (HRP) conjugated antibodies (1:3000 dilution in

TBST + 5% milk). The proteins were then detected by chemiluminescence using Western Lightning Plus-ECL substrate (Perkin Elmer). The sphingosine kinase 1 antibody was from Cell Signaling and the HSC70 antibody was from Enzo life sciences. The caveolin-1 antibody was from Santa Cruz and the anti-HA antibody from Sigma-Aldrich.

2.5. Immunocytochemistry and microscopy

For immunocytochemistry, the cells were grown on poly-L-lysine coated coverslips and, when targeted fluorescent plasmids were used, transfected with the desired plasmid constructs. Then, the cells were washed three times with PBS and fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde in PBS for 15 min, followed by three washes and a 5-minute treatment with 1% Triton-X in PBS. Next, the cells were treated with 1% BSA in PBS for 1 h followed by three washes in PBS. Then, the cells were treated overnight at +4 °C with the desired primary antibody. After this, the

cells were washed, treated with the secondary antibodies and mounted using Mowiol mounting medium. The primary antibodies used were caveolin-1 (#sc-894, Santa Cruz) and anti-HA (#H9658, Sigma-Aldrich). The AlexaFluor secondary antibodies were from Life Technologies. The ER-GFP was described before in [31] and the plasmids encoding RFP and EGFP tagged CAV1 were from Addgene (plasmids #14434 and #27704, deposited by Ari Helenius, described in [32]). TIRF microscopy was performed with a Nikon Eclipse Ti-E microscope using a 100×/1.49 NA oil immersion objective. ER-GFP and Cav1-RFP were excited by the 488 nm and 561 nm laser lines, respectively. The calculated imaging depth was ~100 nm, and the microscope was controlled with NIS-Elements Advanced Research 3.1 (Nikon). Widefield microscopy was done using the same microscope with epifluorescence settings and a 40×/0.75 objective. Confocal microscopy was done on a Leica TCS SP2 attached to a DM RXA2 microscope using a 63×/0.90 NA water immersion objective.



Fig. 1. Caveolae sense Ca^{2+} -signals differently from the plasma membrane. (A) HeLa cells overexpressing Caveolin-1–Aequorin (Cav1–Aeq) and SNAP25–Aequorin (SNAP–Aeq) were harvested and detergent resistant and soluble fractions were separated on an Optiprep gradient by ultracentrifugation. The gradient fractions were collected and the detergent resistance of the indicated proteins was addressed by western blotting. (B) Confocal images showing the distribution of Cav1–Aeq (pseudo color green). (C) HeLa cells transfected with Cav1–Aeq. SNAP–Aeq + Cav1–EGFP were stimulated with 100 µM histamine in Ca^{2+} -free conditions. Representative traces are shown. The bar diagrams show the average change in $[Ca^{2+}]$. The error bar depicts S.E.M., n = 4–20, ***P < 0.001 (SNAP–AEQ compared to Cav1–AEQ), pP < 0.01 (Cav1–AEQ compared to SNAP–Aeq + Cav1). (D) HeLa cells were stimulated with 100 µM histamine in Ca^{2+} . The error bar depicts S.E.M., n = 12–13, ***P < 0.001.

2176

2.6. Aequorin-based Ca^{2+} measurements

Measurements of subplasmalemmal $[Ca^{2+}]$ and cytosolic $[Ca^{2+}]$ were conducted by employing the SNAP25-fused aequorin or the nontargeted aequorin (cyt-Aeq), respectively, as described in [29]. Cav1– Aeq was employed for the measurements of $[Ca^{2+}]$ cav. The general experimental setup was as described in [33]. Briefly, one hundred thousand cells per well were seeded on 12-well plates containing poly-Llysine (Sigma-Aldrich) coated round 13 mm coverslips. The following day, the cells were transfected with the desired plasmid constructs as described in Section 2.1. Twenty-four hours after transfection the cells were washed three times with Ca^{2+} free HEPES-buffered saline solution (HBSS: 118 mM NaCl, 4.6 mM KCl, 10 mM glucose and 20 mM HEPES) supplemented with 150 μ M EGTA. Thereafter, the cells were incubated for 1 h in HBSS containing 150 μ M EGTA and 5 μ M wild-type coelenterazine (#s053, Synchem). To record the luminescence the cells were transferred to a purpose-built chamber and perfused with the desired solutions at 37 °C. The sampling rate of the luminescence recordings was set to one measurement per second. The intracellular Ca²⁺ stores were replenished by incubating the cells in HBSS containing 1 mM Ca²⁺ for 2–3 min before starting the experimental treatments. The maximal luminescence of each sample was obtained by permeating the cells with 100 μ M digitonin (Sigma-Aldrich) in HBSS containing 10 mM Ca²⁺. The results were then calibrated using the calibration values for Asp119Ala-mutated aequorins as described in [29,34–39]. Histamine was from Sigma-Aldrich, the sphingosine kinase inhibitor



Fig. 2. Disrupting caveolae by depleting plasma membrane cholesterol leads to an attenuation of the Ca²⁺-signal sensed by Cav1–Aeq. (A) Hela cells overexpressing Cav1–EGFP were imaged by confocal microscopy before and after treatment with 10 mM M/CD for 30 min. (B) Cav1–EGFP intensity along the line displayed in (A), before and after M/ICD treatment. (C) Hela cells transfected with cytosolic keq (cyt-keq). SNP25–Aeq or cav1–Aeq were treated with or without 10 mM M/CD for 30 min. and Ca²⁺ transitis at the bulk cytosol, at the plasma membrane (PM) or at the caveolae, respectively, were measured upon stimulation with 100 μ M Histamine in the presence of 1 mM Ca²⁺. Representative traces of 4–10 separate experiments are shown. Please note the different scale in cytosolic measurements. (D) TIRF microscopy pictures of Hela cells expressing Cav1–RP and ER-GPP. The lower panels are magnifications from the area within the rectangles (dotted line) in the upper panels.

was from Calbiochem (#567731), JTE013 was from Tocris (#2391) and VPC23019 was from Avanti Polar Lipids (#857360P). Sphingosine 1phosphate (S1P) was from Enzo Life Sciences. JTE013 and sphingosine kinase inhibitor were dissolved in DMSO. VPC23019 was dissolved according to the compound datasheet (95 parts of 3% fatty acid free bovine serum albumin and 5 parts acidified DMSO). S1P was dissolved in HBSS buffer containing 4 mg/nL fatty acid free bovine serum albumin. The solvents served as controls.

2.7. Ca²⁺ measurements using Fura-2 AM

For Ca²⁺ experiments where Fura-2 AM (Life Technologies) was employed, the cells were grown on 25 mm poly-L-lysine coated coverslips, washed three times in HBSS and incubated for 30 min with 2 µM Fura-2 AM at room temperature (RT). Then the cells were washed and incubated for 15 min at RT. The coverslips were then transferred to a Sykes-Moore gasket which was mounted on a custom-made holder for perfusions. The excitation filters were set to 340 and 380 nanometers (nm), respectively, and the emission was recorded at 510 nm. The filters were controlled by a Lambda 10-2 device (Sutter Instruments, USA) and the excitation light was produced by an XBO 75 W/2 xenon lamp. To collect the images, we used an inverted Zeiss Axiovert 35 microscope with a Hamamatsu ORCA2 camera. The recordings were operated with an Axon Imaging Workbench software (version 6.0, Axon Instruments, USA). The recording frequency was set to one image per second and the fluorescence ratio (F340/F380) at each measured time point was used to evaluate the changes in cytosolic Ca²⁺.

2.8. Statistics

Statistical analysis of the data was conducted by unpaired Student's t-test when two variables were compared or by One-Way Anova with Tukey's post-hoc test when three or more variables were compared. P-values below 0.05 were considered as statistically significant. The results are shown with S.E.M.

3. Results

3.1. Caveolin-1-aequorin chimera reports Ca^{2+} signals specifically from the caveolar microdomain

Caveolae are rich in sphingolipids and cholesterol and form distinct "raft-like" domains in the PM. The caveolae are associated with proteins central to Ca^{2+} signaling cascades [40–43] and thus likely play an important role in coordinating Ca^{2+} signaling events. In order to study Ca^{2+} signaling in caveolae, we generated a novel chimeric protein of caveolin-1 and aequorin (Cav1–Aeq). First, we validated the correct subcellular localization of Cav1–Aeq and its usefulness as reporter of caveolar Ca^{2+} signals in HeLa cells.

Cav1–Aeq partitioned similarly to endogenous caveolin-1 to the detergent resistant membrane fractions on an Optiprep gradient, while the general PM reporter SNAP–Aeq was found mainly in the soluble fraction (Fig. 1A). Immunofluorescence staining showed that Cav1–Aeq separated into small domains on the cell surface (Fig. 1B) in a similar fashion as Cav1–RFP (Supplementary Fig. 1), while SNAP–Aeq was distributed uniformly on the PM (Fig. 1B), as reported previously [34]. The caveolar Ca²⁺ responses ([Ca²⁺]cav) reported by Cav1–Aeq differed substantially from the Ca²⁺ responses in the PM ([Ca²⁺]PM) reported by SNAP25–aequorin chimera (SNAP–Aeq). When intracellular Ca²⁺ stores were mobilized by histamine stimulation in Ca²⁺ free medium, the peak of [Ca²⁺]cav was higher than [Ca²⁺]PM. Importantly, [Ca²⁺]PM was not affected by caveolin–1 expression (Fig. 1C). Also, [Ca²⁺]cav was higher than [Ca²⁺]PM upon histamine stimulation in a Ga²⁺-containing buffer (Fig. 1D).

To further verify that Cav1–Aeq reports Ca^{2+} transients in caveolar domains, we disrupted the caveolar structures by removing PM

cholesterol using methyl- β -cyclodextrin (M β CD) (Fig. 2A, B). The M β CD treatment did not affect the cytosolic Ca²⁺ response upon histamine treatment suggesting that M β CD does not interfere with the mobilization of intracellular Ca²⁺ stores (Fig. 2C, left panel, the average Δ [Ca²⁺] \pm S.E.M. were 2.24 \pm 0.14 (control) and 1.84 \pm 0.11 (M β CD), P > 0.05). The [Ca²⁺]PM was reduced by approximately 40% (Fig. 2C, middle panel, the average Δ [Ca²⁺] \pm S.E.M. were 8.5 \pm 0.6 (control) and 5.1 \pm 0.27 (M β CD), P < 0.01) which may be due to the cholesterol-dependence of SNAP-25 for effective PM localization [44]. However, the Ca²⁺ transient reported by the dispersed Cav1–Aeq in M β CD treated cells was blunted by approximately 80% (Fig. 2C, right panel, the average Δ [Ca²⁺] \pm S.E.M. were 14.3 \pm 1.9 (control) and 2.7 \pm 1.1 (M β CD), P < 0.01), indicating that the Ca²⁺ signaling is



Fig. 3. The effect of SK1-overexpression on $[Ga^{2+}]$ at the plasma membrane as reported by SNAP25-acquorin (SNAP-Acq) and in the cytosol as reported by Fura-2 AM. (A) Representative traces showing $[Ga^{2+}]$ PM during histamine (100 µM) stimulation in presence of EGTA (150 µM), and Ga²⁺ (1 mM) re-addition (ROCE). Bar diagrams show the mean with S.E.M. indicating the change in $[Ga^{2+}]$ PM during histamine-stimulation (B), and during Ga^{2+} re-addition (C), n = 5. (D) Average traces showing the Fura-2 AM fluorescence ratio ($F_{340}F_{850}$) upon the same experimental conditions as in (A). The bar diagrams show the mean with S.E.M. indicating the change in the fluorescence ratio ($\Delta F_{340}/$ F_{850}) during histamine stimulation in the presence of EGTA (E) and during Ga^{2+} re-addition (F), n = 6, P < 0.05.

directed towards properly assembled caveolae and not the caveolin-1 protein by itself.

In HeLa cells, histamine is known to mobilize Ca^{2+} from the ER by activating the PLC/IP3/IP3R pathway [45]. Interestingly, TIRF microscopy showed that ER tubules in close proximity to the PM tend to associate with caveolae (Fig. 2D). These results establish that Cav1–Aeq is a useful probe for measuring caveolar Ca^{2+} transients. Moreover, the histamine-induced Ca^{2+} mobilization seems to be concentrated in the vicinity of caveolae.

3.2. Sphingosine kinase 1 regulates [Ca²⁺] specifically at caveolar microdomains

As caveolae are enriched in sphingomyelin [46] and have been reported to associate with receptors for the sphingomyelin metabolite S1P [47], we next utilized the Cav1–Aeq probe to test whether sphingosine kinase 1/S1P induced Ca²⁺ signaling is integrated at caveolae.

To investigate the importance of SK1 in HeLa cells, we created cell lines where SK1 is either overexpressed (hSK1 cells) or downregulated (shSK1 cells) with the respective control cell lines (mock and shC cells). The SK1 protein levels were approximately 4-fold higher in the hSK1 as compared to the mock control cells (Supplementary Fig. 2). Since caveolae are rich in sphingolipids and caveolae have shown to contain multiple components of the Ca²⁺ signaling machinery, we wanted to investigate whether SK1 could be involved in Ca²⁺ signaling locally at the caveolar sub-compartment of the PM. To test this hypothesis, we employed Cav1–Aeq reporter and compared the caveolar Ca²⁺ signals to the overall PM Ca²⁺ signals by utilizing the previously characterized SNAP–Aeq [29].

First, we performed experiments where the cells were stimulated with 100 μ M histamine in presence of 150 μ M EGTA, which was

followed by Ca²⁺ 1 mM re-addition (induction of ROCE). During the both phases of this experiment, the [Ca2+]PM response remained unchanged upon SK1 overexpression, compared with control cells (Fig. 3A, B, C). The cytosolic Ca^{2+} responses ($[Ca^{2+}]_i$), as reported by the Ca2+ indicator Fura-2 AM, were unaffected by SK1 overexpression during 100 µM histamine stimulation in the presence of 150 µM EGTA (Fig. 3D & E) and slightly but significantly increased upon ROCE (Fig. 3D & F). However, we found that [Ca²⁺]cav was increased by SK1 overexpression during both phases of the experiment, as compared with control cells. Furthermore, the SK1-induced increase in [Ca²⁺]cav during ROCE was sensitive to the S1PR inhibitors [TE013 (10 µM) and VPC23019 (1 µM) (Fig. 4). Interestingly, stable SK1 overexpression in ML1 thyroid cancer cells showed increased [Ca2+]cav during 40 µM ATP stimulation in the presence of 150 µM EGTA but not during the 1 mM Ca²⁺ re-addition (Supplementary Fig. 3). Also, please note the effect of the control solutions (see Materials and methods, Section 2.6) on [Ca²⁺]cav as evidenced by comparison of Fig. 4 and Supplementary Fig. 4.

To study the possibility that extracellular S1P regulates the caveolar Ga^{2+} microdomain, we acutely treated HeIa cells with 700 nM S1P and conducted caveolar Ga^{2+} measurements with the same experimental protocol as in Fig. 3. Interestingly, we found that acute S1P treatment was without an effect during the histamine-induced Ca^{2+} -release from the intracellular Ca^{2+} stores (Fig. 5A), whereas upon ROCE the uptake of Ca^{2+} via caveolae was augmented by S1P (Fig. 5A & B). We next asked whether pharmacological inhibition of SK1 might have an effect. For this purpose, we treated HeLa cells with a SK inhibitor (SKi; 10 µM for 1 h), followed by the same experimental procedures as in Fig. 3. SKi, or the vehicle DMSO, were present throughout the whole experiment. This experiment showed that SKi blocked the Ca^{2+} -uptake during ROCE (Fig. 5C & D), whereas Ca^{2+} -release upon histamine



Fig. 4. Overexpression of SK1 induces an increase in $[Ca^{2+}]$ cav during histamine-stimulated release of endoplasmic Ca^{2+} , as well as during receptor-operated Ca^{2+} entry (ROCE). The cells were pretreated for 1 h with either 1 µM VPC and 10 µM JTE in combination, or with the control solutions. Following the pre-incubation, the compounds were present throughout the experiments. A) Representative traces of experiments howing $[Ca^{2+}]$ face during histamine (100 µM) stimulation in presence of FGAT (150 µM), and Ca^{2+} (1mM) re-addition (ROCE). B) Quantification of the change in $[Ca^{2+}]$ at the caveolae during histamine-induced Ca^{2+} mobilization in the absence of extracellular Ca^{2+} . C) Quantification of the change in $[Ca^{2+}]$ at the caveolae during histamine. The bar diagrams show the mean with S.E.M., n = 7-10, "P < 0.00, "**P < 0.001 (mock control vs hSK1 control) vs hSK1 PCC + ITE).

2178

stimulation in extracellular Ca^{2+} free condition was not significantly changed (Fig. 5C). The $[Ca^{2+}]PM$ was unaffected by S1P treatment whereas the SKi treatment diminished the Ca^{2+} during ROCE (Supplementary Fig. 5).

To indirectly assess whether SK1 induces the increase in $[Ca^{2+}]cav$ through increased physical interactions between the ER and caveolae, we performed an experiment where the ER Ca^{2+} is passively released by ionomycin (5 μ M) treatment in the absence of extracellular Ca^{2+} . In this case, SK1 did not affect $[Ca^{2+}]cav$ (Fig. 6) indicating that the physical ER-caveolae contact sites remain unaltered upon SK1 overexpression.

Sphingosine, the substrate for SK1, is known to block the interactions between STIM1 and Orai1 at the cell membrane, thus attenuating store-operated Ca²⁺ entry in the cells [48]. Therefore, we performed thapsigargin (TG, 1 μ M) induced store-operated Ca²⁺ entry (SOCE) experiments. Overexpression of SK1 did not affect the [Ca²⁺] at the caveolae or at the PM during SOCE (Fig. 7), whereas cells with SK1 down-regulation (Supplementary Fig. 2) displayed slightly reduced [Ca²⁺]cav upon SOCE, leaving the [Ca²⁺]PM fluxes unchanged (Fig. 7). Cellular sphingosine has been shown to accumulate upon SK1 downregulation [49]. Therefore, we find it possible that sphingosine levels are increased in our shSK1 HeLa cells, which might facilitate the sphingosine induced inhibition of SOC channels, and reduced SOCE at the caveolae.

4. Discussion

Caveolin-1 expression has been associated to regulation of cancer progression in a multifaceted and context-dependent manner. Caveolin-1 has both anti-tumorigenic as well as cancer-promoting qualities [20,50, 51]. In this work, we describe a novel probe for investigating Ca^{2+} signaling at the cytoplasmic face of the caveolae. Further, we establish that with our approach it is possible to detect truly distinguishable Ca^{2+}

microdomains at the caveolae that functionally differ from the overall PM Ca^{2+} domain (Figs. 1 & 2).

By comparing overall PM Ca^{2+} levels to those reported by Cav1-Aeqwe show that specific Ca^{2+} signaling events are taking place locally at the caveolae upon altered expression levels of the oncogenic protein SK1. These findings represent interesting examples for the local Ca^{2+} microdomain signaling that has been proposed to be coordinated at the caveolae or directly controlled via scaffolding functions of caveolin-1.

Deranged regulation of Ca^{2+} handling is an emerging concept in cancer biology affecting many aspects of cancer cell physiology such as proliferation, cellular migration and deregulated apoptotic pathways. These physiological processes are in part regulated by intricate Ca^{2+} signaling events that are controlled by a multitude of specialized Ca^{2+} channels, Ca^{2+} pumps and exchangers, Ca^{2+} binding proteins, as well as cellular organelles and compartments [52,53]. In this context, our findings on the SK1-mediated caveolar Ca^{2+} microdomain may have several functional implications.

As we demonstrate here, overexpression of SK1 induces an increase in $[Ca^{2^+}]cav$ upon the histamine-stimulated, IP3-receptor mediated Ca^{2^+} -release when extracellular Ca^{2^+} is chelated, while the $[Ca^{2^+}]PM$ remains unaltered. This effect of SK1 was not blocked by S1PR1-3 antagonism indicating that autocrine S1P signaling might not play a major role here.

However, IP3Rs and ER may be found in close association to caveolae [21], and S1P has been shown to directly release ca^{2+} from the ER [54]. Also, SK1 is known to be activated and translocated in a Ca^{2+} dependent manner [24] and Serine225 phosphorylation of SK1 guides the activated kinase to caveolin-1 enriched lipid raft domains of the PM [23]. Thus, it may be feasible to motivate this SK1-induced increase in [Ca²⁺] cav by a Ca²⁺-activated local S1P production. Further, local Ca²⁺ -induced Ca²⁺ release (CICR) [6] might play a role in amplifying the SK1-induced [Ca²⁺] cav.



Fig. 5. Sphingosine 1-phosphate (S1P) treatment increases Ca^{2+} at the caveolar compartment during receptor-operated Ca^{2+} entry whereas SK inhibitor (SKi) blocks ROCE. A) Representative traces of an experiment where the cells were acutely treated with 700 nM S1P as indicated in the figure, followed by consecutive perfusions with histamine (150 µM) in the presence or 150 µM EGTA and 1 nm Ca^{2+} , respectively. B) Quantification of the Ca^{2+} addition in (A), showing the mean with S.E.M., **p < 0.01, n = 5. C) Representative traces from an experiment where the cells were pre-treated for 60 min with 10 µM SKi and stimulated with histamine in the presence of 150 µM EGTA, followed by 1 mM Ca^{2+} re-addition. SKi or DMSO was present throughout the whole experiment. D) Quantification of the Ca^{2+} addition in (C) showing the mean with S.E.M., **p < 0.01, n = 5 for DMSO, n = 7 for SK inhibitor.



Fig. 6. Ionomycin treatment in presence of EGTA does not show a SK1-induced caveolar microdomain. The cells were perfused with HBSS containing 150 µM EGTA followed by perfusion with EGTA and 5 µM ionomycin. Representative traces (A) and bar diagrams indicating the mean with S.E.M. (B) are shown, n = 3, ns = not significant.



Fig. 7. Store-operated Ca²⁺ entry (SOCE) at the caveolae and at the plasma membrane upon SK1 overexpression and downregulation, respectively. The cells were pre-treated with 1 μ M thas igargin (TG) in HBSS containing ECTA (150 μ M) for 4 min. Then, the cells were perfused with 1 mM Ca²⁺ in the presence of 1 μ M TC. SOCE was not affected by SK1 overexpression at the caveolae (A, B) nor at the PM (C, D), whereas knock-down of SK1 resulted in diminished SOCE specifically at the caveolae (E, F) but not at the overall PM (G, H). The bar diagrams indicate the means with S.E.M., n = 3-6, *P < 0.05.

2180
Also, we show that caveolar ROCE is increased upon SK1 overexpression and this effect of SK1 is reversed by antagonizing the S1PR1-3. Further, we demonstrate that S1P treatment mimics SK1 overexpression by increasing $[Ca^{2+}]$ cav upon ROCE, whereas SK1 inhibition attenuates ROCE in the caveolar domain. It has been shown that S1PR1 is localized to the caveolar fraction [47] and as noted above, SK1 translocates to caveolin-1 enriched lipid rafts upon activation. The increased ROCE through caveolae could thus be explained by autocrine S1P signaling, where S1P receptor activation leads to generation of DAG to promote ROC channel opening [55] upon histamine stimulation locally at the caveolae.

Interestingly, SK1 seems to affect Ca²⁺ mobilization and ROCE via two partially independent signaling pathways. The SK1 effect on ROCE is highly dependent on S1PR1-3 and can be reproduced by acute addition of S1P and antagonized by SK1-inhibition. In contrast, the effect of SK1 on histamine-induced Ca²⁺ mobilization is largely independent of S1PR1-3 and is not significantly affected by short term treatment with S1P or by acute inhibition of SK1. These results suggest that SK1 affects Ca²⁺ mobilization by a process requiring long term adaptation of the cells, while ROCE can be regulated on short notice.

Further, our results may have implications for the oncogenic actions of SK1. As SK1 activity and translocation are controlled by Ca^{2+} , it is possible that aberrant SK1 overexpression could lead to deranged amplification of other cellular Ca^{2+} signals through over-activated autocrine or intracellular S1P signaling. This would, in turn, lead to aberrant activation of ROCE or increased local Ca^{2+} release from the intracellular stores. SK1 induced increase in $[Ca^{2+}]cav$, during both IP3-receptor stimulation and ROCE, might then have importance for oncogenic processes such as deregulated cytoskeletal and focal adhesion assembly, leading to altered migratory capacity of the cells [53].

Taken together, we describe here a novel tool for Ca^{2+} measurement that reports Ca^{2+} concentrations from the caveolar domain of the PM. By employing this method, we show for the first time the importance of SK1 for regulating local Ca^{2+} signaling at this PM microdomain.

Supplementary data to this article can be found online at http://dx. doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamcr.2015.04.005.

Disclosure of conflicts of interest

The authors declare that there are no conflicts of interest.

Acknowledgment

This work was supported by grants to I.P. from Tor, Joe och Pentti Borgs Minnesfond, Oscar Öflunds stiftelse and Svenska Kulturfonden, and by grants to T.B. from Academy of Finland (grant number 266092), Stiftelsens för Åbo Akademi Forskningsnistitut, Liv och Hälsa and Magnus Ehrnrooths sfiftelse as well as by funding to K.T. from Sigrid Juselius Foundation and the Centre of Excellence in Cell Stress and Molecular Ageing (Åbo Akademi University).

References

- S.M. Pitson, Regulation of sphingosine kinase and sphingolipid signaling, Trends Biochem. Sci. 36 (2011) 97–107.
- [2] N.J. Pyne, F. Tonelli, K.G. Lim, J.S. Long, J. Edwards, S. Pyne, Sphingosine 1-phosphate signalling in cancer, Biochem. Soc. Trans. 40 (2012) 94–100.
 [3] S. Crousillac, J. Colonna, E. MCMains, J.S. Devey, E. Gleason, Sphingosine-1-phos-
- [3] S. Crousillac, J. Colonna, E. McMains, J.S. Dewey, E. Gleason, Sphingosine-1-phosphate elicits receptor-dependent calcium signaling in retinal amacrine cells, J. Neurophysiol. 102 (2009) 3295–3309.
- [4] E. Palazzo, F. Rossi, V. de Novellis, S. Maione, Endogenous modulators of TRP channels, Curr. Top. Med. Chem. 13 (2013) 398–407.
- [5] D. Gratschev, C. Lof, J. Heikkila, A. Bjorkbom, P. Sukumaran, A. Hinkkanen, J.P. Slotte, K. Tornquist, Sphingosine kinase as a regulator of calcium entry through autocrine sphingosine 1-phosphate signaling in thyroid FRTL-5 cells, Endocrinology 150 (2009) 5125–5134.
 [6] J.K. Foskett, C. White, K.H. Cheung, D.O. Mak, Inositol trisphosphate receptor Ca²⁺
- [6] J.K. Foskett, C. White, K.H. Cheung, D.O. Mak, Inositol trisphosphate receptor Ca²⁺ release channels, Physiol. Rev. 87 (2007) 593–658.

- [7] D. Meyer zu Heringdorf, K. Liliom, M. Schaefer, K. Danneberg, J.H. Jaggar, G. Tigyi, K.H. Jakobs, Photolysis of intracellular caged sphingosine-1-phosphate causes Ca²⁺¹ mobilization independently of G-protein-coupled receptors, FEBS Lett. 554 (2003) 443-449.
- [8] S. Marchi, P. Pinton, The mitochondrial calcium uniporter complex: molecular components, structure and physiopathological implications, J. Physiol. 592 (2014) 829–839.
- [9] D. De Stefani, A. Raffaello, E. Teardo, I. Szabo, R. Rizzuto, A forty-kilodalton protein of the inner membrane is the mitochondrial calcium uniporter, Nature 476 (2011) 336–340.
- [10] G. Csordas, T. Golenar, E.L. Seifert, K.J. Kamer, Y. Sancak, F. Perocchi, C. Moffat, D. Weaver, S. de la Fuente Perez, R. Bogorad, V. Koteliansky, J. Adijanto, V.K. Mootha, G. Hajnoczky, MICU1 controls both the threshold and cooperative activation of the mitochondrial Ca(2)(+) uniporter, Cell Metab. 17 (2013) 976–987.
- G. Fnajnozzy, MiCJ Controls both the threshold and coppetative activation on the mitochondrial (a2)(2)(+1) uniporter, Cell Metab. 17 (2013) 976–987.
 K. Mallilankaraman, C. Cardenas, P.J. Doonan, H.C. Chandramoorthy, K.M. Irrinki, T. Golenar, G. Csordas, P. Madireddi, J. Yang, M. Wuller, R. Miller, J.E. Kloesar, J. Molgo, B. Kaufman, G. Hajnoczky, J.K. Foskett, M. Madesh, MCUR1 is an essential component of mitochondral Ca^{2+*} uptake that regulates cellular metabolism, Nat. Cell Biol. 14 (2012) 1336–1343.
- [12] B. Kornmann, The molecular hug between the ER and the mitochondria, Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. 25 (2013) 443–448.
- Cell biol. 20 (2015) 475-474.
 Stephone States and States
- on mucchondria Pr-hand Ca² binding proteins: Wiles, Miles, EEM and Solue carriers, Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. 29 (2014) 133–141.
 [14] A.J. Morgan, F.M. Platt, E. Lloyd-Evans, A. Galione, Molecular mechanisms of endolysosomal Ca²⁺ signalling in health and disease, Biochem. J. 439 (2011) 349–374.
- [15] M.J. Berridge, Calcium microdomains: organization and function, Cell Calcium 40 (2006) 405–412.
 [16] R. Rizzuto. T. Pozzan, Microdomains of intracellular Ca²⁺: molecular determinants
- K. Krzzuto, I. Pozzan, Microdomains of intracellular Ca⁻⁺: molecular determinants and functional consequences, Physiol. Rev. 86 (2006) 369–408.
 M. Berridge, M.D. Bootman, H.L. Roderick, Calcium signalling: dynamics, homeosta-
- M.J. BETTIGGE, M.D. BOOTMAN, H.L. KOGETICK, Calcium signalling: dynamics, nomeostasis and remodelling, Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 4 (2003) 517–529.
 J. Soboloff, B.S. Rothberg, M. Madesh, D.L. Gill, STIM proteins: dynamic calcium sig-
- [18] J. Soboloff, B.S. Rothberg, M. Madesh, D.L. Gill, S1IM proteins: dynamic calcium signal transducers, Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 13 (2012) 549–565.
- B.P. Head, H.H. Patel, P.A. Insel, Interaction of membrane/lipid rafts with the cytoskeleton: impact on signaling and function: membrane/lipid rafts, mediators of cytoskeletal arrangement and cell signaling, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1838 (2014) 532–545.
 R.G. Parton, M.A. del Pozo, Caveolae as plasma membrane sensors, protectors and
- [20] K.G. Parton, M.A. del Pozo, Caveolae as plasma membrane sensors, protectors and organizers, Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 14 (2013) 98–112.
- [21] B. Pani, B.B. Singh, Lipid rafts/caveolae as microdomains of calcium signaling, Cell Calcium 45 (2009) 625–633.
- [22] B. Pani, H.L. Ong, S.C. Brazer, X. Liu, K. Rauser, B.B. Singh, I.S. Ambudkar, Activation of TRPC1 by STIM1 in ER-PM microdomains involves release of the channel from its scaffold caveolin-1, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 106 (2009) 20087–20092.[23] J.A. Hengst, J.M. Guilford, T.E. Fox, X. Wang, E.J. Conroy, J.K. Yun, Sphingosine kinase
- [23] JA. Hengst, JM. Guiltord, I.E. Fox, X. Wang, LJ. Conroy, JX. Yun, Sphingosine kinase 1 localized to the plasma membrane lipid raft microdomain overcomes serum deprivation induced growth inhibition, Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 492 (2009) 62–73.
 [24] K.E. Jarman, P.A. Moretti, J.R. Zebol, S.M. Pitson, Translocation of sphingosine kinase
- [24] K.E. Jarman, P.A. Moretti, J.R. Zebol, S.M. Pitson, Translocation of sphingosine kinase 1 to the plasma membrane is mediated by calcium- and integrin-binding protein 1, J. Biol. Chem. 285 (2010) 483–492.
- [25] D. Siow, B. Wattenberg, The compartmentalization and translocation of the sphingosine kinases: mechanisms and functions in cell signaling and sphingolipid metabolism, Crit. Rev. Biochem. Mol. Biol. 46 (2011) 365–375.
- [26] T. Blom, N. Bergelin, A. Meinander, C. Lof, J.P. Slotte, J.E. Eriksson, K. Tornquist, An autocrine sphingosine-1-phosphate signaling loop enhances NF-kappaB-activation and survival, BMC Cell Biol. 11 (2010) (45-2121-11-45).
 [27] M. Isshiki, Y.S. Ying, T. Fujita, R.G. Anderson, A molecular sensor detects signal trans-
- [27] M. Isshiki, Y.S. Ying, I. Fujita, K.G. Anderson, A molecular sensor detects signal transduction from caveolae in living cells, J. Biol. Chem. 277 (2002) 43389–43398.
- [28] M. Isshiki, M. Nishimoto, R. Mizuno, T. Fujita, FRET-based sensor analysis reveals caveolae are spatially distinct Ca²⁺ stores in endothelial cells, Cell Calcium 54 (2013) 395–403.
- [29] M. Bonora, C. Giorgi, A. Bononi, S. Marchi, S. Patergnani, A. Rimessi, R. Rizzuto, P. Pinton, Subcellular calcium measurements in mammalian cells using jellyfish photoprotein aequorin-based probes, Nat. Protoc. 8 (2013) 2105–2118.
- [30] J.M. Kendall, G. Sala-Newby, V. Ghalaut, R.L. Dormer, A.K. Campbell, Engineering the CA(2+)-activated photoprotein aequorin with reduced affinity for calcium, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 187 (1992) 1091–1097.
- [31] R. Rizzuto, P. Pinton, W. Carrington, F.S. Fay, K.E. Fogarty, I.M. Lifshitz, R.A. Tuft, T. Pozzan, Close contacts with the endoplasmic reticulum as determinants of mitochondrial Ca⁺⁺ responses, Science 280 (1998) 1763–1766.
- [32] A. Hayer, M. Stoeber, C. Bissig, A. Helenius, Biogenesis of caveolae: stepwise assembly of large caveolin and cavin complexes, Traffic 11 (2010) 361–382.
- [33] A. Hyrskyluoto, I. Pulli, K. Tomqvist, T.H. Ho, L. Korhonen, D. Lindholm, Sigma-1 receptor agonist PRE084 is protective against mutant huntingtin-induced cell degeneration: involvement of calpastatin and the NF-kappaB pathway, Cell. Death Dis. 4 (2013) e646.
- [34] Ř. Marsault, M. Murgia, T. Pozzan, R. Rizzuto, Domains of high Ca²⁺ beneath the plasma membrane of living A7r5 cells, EMBO J. 16 (1997) 1575–1581.
- [35] M. Montero, J. Alvarez, W.J. Scheenen, R. Rizzuto, J. Meldolesi, T. Pozzan, Ca²⁺ homeostasis in the endoplasmic reticulum: coexistence of high and low [Ca²⁺] subcompartments in intact HeIa cells, J. cell Biol. 139 (1997) 601–611.
- [36] P. Pinton, T. Pozzan, R. Rizzuto, The Golgi apparatus is an inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate-sensitive Ca²⁺ store, with functional properties distinct from those of the endoplasmic reticulum, BMBO J. 17 (1998) 5298–5308.

2182

- [37] KJ. Mitchell, P. Pinton, A. Varadi, C. Tacchetti, E.K. Ainscow, T. Pozzan, R. Rizzuto, G.A. Rutter, Dense core secretory vesicles revealed as a dynamic Ca(2+) store in neuroendocrine cells with a vesicle-associated membrane protein aequorin chimaera, J. Cell Biol. 155 (2001) 41–51.
- [38] F.M. Lasorsa, P. Pinton, L. Palmieri, P. Scarcia, H. Rottensteiner, R. Rizzuto, F. Palmieri, Peroxisomes as novel players in cell calcium homeostasis, J. Biol. Chem. 283 (2008) 15300–15308.
- [39] S. Marchi, L. Lupini, S. Patergnani, A. Rimessi, S. Missiroli, M. Bonora, A. Bononi, F. Corra, C. Giorgi, E. De Marchi, F. Poletti, R. Gafa, G. Lanza, M. Negrini, R. Rizzuto, P. Pinton, Downregulation of the mitochondrial calcium uniporter by cancer-related miR-25, Curr. Biol. 23 (2013) 58–63.
- [40] D. Marques-da-Silva, C. Gutierrez-Merino, Caveolin-rich lipid rafts of the plasma membrane of mature cerebellar granule neurons are microcompartments for clacium/reactive oxygen and nitrogen species cross-talk signaling, Cell Calcium 56 (2014) 108–123.
- [41] T. Fujimoto, Calcium pump of the plasma membrane is localized in caveolae, J. Cell Biol, 120 (1993) 1147–1157.
- [42] T. Fujimoto, S. Nakade, A. Miyawaki, K. Mikoshiba, K. Ogawa, Localization of inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate receptor-like protein in plasmalemmal caveolae, J. Cell Biol, 119 (1992) 1507–1513.
- [43] M. Isshiki, J. Ando, K. Yamamoto, T. Fujita, Y. Ying, R.G. Anderson, Sites of Ca(2+) wave initiation move with caveolae to the trailing edge of migrating cells, J. Cell Sci. 115 (2002) 475–484.
- [44] J. Vikman, J. Jimenez-Feltstrom, P. Nyman, J. Thelin, L. Eliasson, Insulin secretion is highly sensitive to desorption of plasma membrane cholesterol, FASEB J. 23 (2009) 58-67.
- [45] S. Ishida, T. Matsu-Ura, K. Fukami, T. Michikawa, K. Mikoshiba, Phospholipase Cbeta1 and beta4 contribute to non-genetic cell-to-cell variability in histamineinduced calcium signals in Hela cells, PLoS One 9 (2014) e86410.

- [46] M. Taniguchi, T. Okazaki, The role of sphingomyelin and sphingomyelin synthases in cell death, proliferation and migration-from cell and animal models to human disorders, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1841 (2014) 692–703.
- [47] C.K. Means, S. Miyamoto, J. Chun, J.H. Brown, S1P1 receptor localization confers selectivity for Gi-mediated cAMP and contractile responses, J. Biol. Chem. 283 (2008) 11954–11963.
- [48] N. Calloway, M. Vig, J.P. Kinet, D. Holowka, B. Baird, Molecular clustering of STIM1 with Orai1/CRACM1 at the plasma membrane depends dynamically on depletion of ca²⁺ stores and on electrostatic interactions, Mol. Biol. Cell 20 (2009) 389–399.
- [49] N. Kotelevets, D. Fabbro, A. Huwiler, U. Zangemeister-Wittke, Targeting sphingosine kinase 1 in carcinoma cells decreases proliferation and survival by compromising PKC activity and cytokinesis, PLoS One 7 (2012) e39209.
- [50] A. Rimessi, S. Marchi, S. Patergnani, P. Pinton, H-Ras-driven tumoral maintenance is sustained through caveolin-1-dependent alterations in calcium signaling, Oncogene 33 (2014) 2329–2340.[51] H. Yu, H. Shen, Y. Zhang, F. Zhong, Y. Liu, L. Qin, P. Yang, CAV1 promotes HCC cell
- [51] H. Yu, H. Shen, Y. Zhang, F. Zhong, Y. Liu, L. Qin, P. Yang, CAV1 promotes HCC cell progression and metastasis through Wht/beta-catenin pathway, PLoS One 9 (2014) e106451.
- [52] N. Prevarskaya, H. Ouadid-Ahidouch, R. Skryma, Y. Shuba, Remodelling of Ca²⁺ transport in cancer: how it contributes to cancer hallmarks? Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B Biol. Sci. 369 (2014) 20130097.
- [53] N. Prevarskaya, R. Skryma, Y. Shuba, Calcium in tumour metastasis: new roles for known actors, Nat. Rev. Cancer 11 (2011) 609–618.
- [54] G.M. Strub, M. Maceyka, N.C. Hait, S. Milstien, S. Spiegel, Extracellular and intracellular actions of sphingosine-1-phosphate, Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. 688 (2010) 141–155. [55] D.J. Beech, Integration of transient receptor potential canonical channels with lipids,
- [55] D.J. Beech, Integration of transient receptor potential canonical channels with lipids, Acta Physiol. (Oxf.) 204 (2012) 227–237.

Pulli I, Löf C, Blom T, Asghar MY, Lassila T, Bäck N, K.-L. Lin, Nyström JH, Kemppainen K, Toivola DM, Dufour E, Sanz A, Cooper HM, Parys JB, Törnquist K. Sphingosine kinase 1 overexpression induces mitofusin-2 fragmentation and alters mitochondrial matrix Ca2+ handling in HeLa cells. Biochim. Biophys. Acta Mol. Cell Res. 2019 Sep;1866(9):1475-1486. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamcr.2019.06.006</u>

BBA - Molecular Cell Research 1866 (2019) 1475-1486



Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

BBA - Molecular Cell Research



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/bbamcr

Sphingosine kinase 1 overexpression induces MFN2 fragmentation and alters mitochondrial matrix Ca²⁺ handling in HeLa cells



I. Pulli^a, C. Löf^b, T. Blom^{c,g}, M.Y. Asghar^{a,g}, T. Lassila^{a,g}, N. Bäck^c, K.-L. Lin^a, J.H. Nyström^a, K. Kemppainen^a, D.M. Toivola^a, E. Dufour^d, A. Sanz^e, H.M. Cooper^a, J.B. Parys^f, K. Törnquist^{a,g,*}

^a Åbo Akademi University, Faculty of Science and Engineering, Biosciences, Tykistökatu 6A, 20520 Turku, Finland

^b University Of Turku, Research Centre for Cancer, Infections and Immunity, Institute of Biomedicine, Kiinamyllynkatu 10, 20520 Turku, Finland

^c Department of Anatomy, Faculty of Medicine, University of Helsinki, 00014 Helsinki, Finland

^d University of Tampere 33520, Tampere, Finland

^e Newcastle University Institute for Ageing, Newcastle upon Tyne NE4 5PL, United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland ^fLaboratory of Molecular and Cellular Signaling, Department of Cellular and Molecular Medicine, KU Leuven, Leuven, Belgium

⁸ Minerva Foundation Institute For Medical Research, Biomedicum Helsinki, 00270 Helsinki, Finland

ARTICLE INFO

Keywords: Mitochondria Calcium Sphingosine kinase 1 Sphingosine 1-phosphate Mitofusin-2 Endoplasmic reticulum

ABSTRACT

Sphingosine kinase 1 (SK1) converts sphingosine to the bioactive lipid sphingosine 1-phosphate (S1P). S1P binds to G-protein-coupled receptors (S1PR₁₋₅) to regulate cellular events, including Ca^{2+} signaling. The SK1/S1P axis and Ca² ⁺ signaling both play important roles in health and disease. In this respect, Ca²⁺ microdomains at the mitochondria-associated endoplasmic reticulum (ER) membranes (MAMs) are of importance in oncogenesis. Mitofusin 2 (MFN2) modulates ER-mitochondria contacts, and dysregulation of MFN2 is associated with malignancies. We show that overexpression of SK1 augments agonist-induced Ca^{2+} release from the ER resulting in increased mitochondrial matrix Ca^{2+} . Also, overexpression of SK1 induces MFN2 fragmentation, likely through increased calpain activity. Further, expressing putative calpain-cleaved MFN2 N- and C-terminal fragments increases mitochondrial matrix Ca^{2+} during agonist stimulation, mimicking the SK1 overexpression in cells. Moreover, SK1 overexpression enhances cellular respiration and cell migration. Thus, SK1 regulates MFN2 fragmentation resulting in increased mitochondrial Ca2+ and downstream cellular effects.

1. Introduction

Sphingosine kinase 1 (SK1) is a lipid kinase involved in multiple pathologies, including cancer and severe neurological conditions [1,2]. SK1 acts by converting sphingosine into the signaling lipid sphingosine 1-phosphate (S1P), which is exported to the extracellular space for auto/paracrine stimulation of the G-protein coupled S1P receptors 1-5 (S1PR1-5). S1P has been shown to have direct intracellular effects, including modulation of intracellular calcium (Ca2+) signaling. Also, there is evidence for the inter-regulation of SK1/S1P and Ca2+ signaling, as SK1 activation is in part modulated by Ca²⁺ [3,4]. Being a ubiquitous second messenger, Ca²⁺ regulates a wide variety of cellular functions, such as proliferation, migration, respiration, neuronal function and cell death [5-8]. Aberrant intracellular Ca²⁺ signaling may thus lead to pathological effects. The regulation of Ca²⁺ signaling is tightly controlled and compartmentalized. The main intracellular Ca2+ store is the endoplasmic reticulum (ER). Also, mitochondria are

important players in intracellular Ca2+ handling, as they readily take up Ca^{2+} and can act as Ca^{2+} buffers or sinks [9,10]. Importantly, Ca^{2+} is a key regulator of mitochondrial enzymes involved in ATP production [7]. On the other hand, mitochondrial Ca2+ overload may lead to programmed cell death [11]. Interactions between the ER and the mitochondria are regulated at specific membrane contact sites between the two organelles. The sites of the ER-membranes that are involved in this inter-organellar regulation are thus named mitochondria-associated membranes, or MAMs. For instance, lipid transfer and Ca2+ flux are coordinated at the MAM sites [12,13]. Several proteins, including mitofusin 2 (MFN2), have been found to reside at and to regulate the dynamics of the MAM contacts [13,14]. Interestingly, opposing findings concerning the effect of MFN2 expression/depletion on ER-mitochondria tethering and mitochondrial Ca2+ signaling have been reported [14-20].

The concept and importance of compartmentalized intracellular Ca2+ signaling is actively studied with much emphasis put on the ER-

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamcr.2019.06.006

^{*} Corresponding author.

E-mail address: Kid. Tornovist@abo.fi (K. Törnouist).

Received 15 October 2018; Received in revised form 2 June 2019; Accepted 13 June 2019 Available online 17 June 2019

^{0167-4889/ © 2019} Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

mitochondria interactions and mitochondrial Ca2+ uptake [21,22]. Interestingly, S1P signaling is linked to mitochondrial biology. It has been reported that S1P produced by the sphingosine kinase 2 (SK2) isoform modulates mitochondrial respiration and antagonizes the opening of the mitochondrial permeability transition pore (mPTP) in ischemic heart tissue [23,24]. Also, S1P treatment (0.5-2 mg/kg) after experimental heart ischemia/reperfusion in rats suppresses the mPTP opening and thus maintains the mitochondrial membrane potential, which blunts the ischemic reperfusion injury [25]. Further, SK1 has been recently shown to localize to mitochondria to activate the mitochondrial unfolded protein response in C. elegans [26]. Also, inhibition of SK1 through reduced S1P levels induces mitochondrial dysfunction in pancreatic β -cells [27]. As mentioned earlier, S1P has been shown to affect Ca2+ handling through unknown intracellular mechanisms as well as through the G-protein coupled S1P-receptors. Upon activation, the S1PR1-4 couple to phospholipase C (PLC) to induce inositol trisphosphate (IP3) generation which is followed by Ca2+ release from the ER through the IP3-receptors [3]. Mitochondrial uptake of Ca2+ that is released from the ER is coordinated at the MAM contact sites [28]. Further, altered SK1/S1P signaling as well as disrupted Ca² signaling in the mitochondrial matrix and at the MAM sites, respectively, have strong oncogenic implications [1,11,22,29]. Taken together, these observations led us to test whether SK1 overexpression would affect Ca²⁺ handling at the ER-mitochondria compartments. For this, we used a previously established HeLa cell model [30] overexpressing human SK1 (hSK1), and genetically targeted aequorins for the Ca²⁺ measurements [31]. We previously showed that the [Ca²⁺] in caveolin-1 (Cav-1)-enriched microdomains was augmented by hSK1 overexpression as reported by the luminescent chimeric Cav-1-aequorin [30]. However, SK1 overexpression did not significantly increase the cytoplasmic [Ca2+] in HeLa cells during histamine-induced Ca2+ release [30]. Hence, in the present study, we characterized the effects of SK1 overexpression on ER lumen ([Ca²⁺]_{ER}) and mitochondrial matrix Ca²⁺ concentrations ([Ca²⁺]_{mit}).

2. Results

2.1. SK1 augments ER Ca2+ release and mitochondrial Ca2+ uptake

First, we examined mitochondrial matrix and luminal ER Ca2+ concentrations in mock-transduced and SK1-overexpressing (hSK1) HeLa cells. The HeLa cell lines were as described in [30], and the SK1 overexpression is shown in Supplementary Fig. 1. The cells were challenged with the $IP_3\text{-}generating$ agonist histamine (100 $\mu M)$ in the presence of the Ca2+ chelator EGTA (150 µM) in the extracellular buffer. EGTA was added directly prior to the agonist stimulation to avoid unwanted emptying of the intracellular Ca2+ stores, and importantly, to eliminate extracellular Ca2+ as a source for cytoplasmic Ca2+ entry during agonist stimulation. In this experimental setting, both the release of ER Ca²⁺ as well as the Ca²⁺ uptake to the mitochondrial matrix were significantly augmented in SK1-overexpressing cells (Fig. 1A, B). [Ca2+]mit was significantly higher in hSK1 cells upon histamine stimulation also when 1 mM Ca2+ was present in the extracellular buffer solution (Fig. 1C). These results indicate that the increased ER-derived Ca²⁺ is effectively shunted to the mitochondria in SK1-overexpressing cells. This is further highlighted by the previous results from our group [30] that showed no SK1-induced changes in the cytoplasmic Ca² . Of note, SK1-overexpression did not lead to marked changes in the IP3receptor protein levels, indicating that the increased release of ER Ca² during histamine stimulation was not due to altered IP3R expression (Suppl. Fig. 1). Importantly, also transient SK1-overexpression in both HeLa and FTC-133 cell lines led to increased mitochondrial Ca2+ uptake upon agonist stimulation (Suppl. Fig. 2A, B; and see Suppl. Fig. 5).

We then examined the possibility that SK1 overexpression would affect the mitochondrial Ca^{2+} uptake *per se*. For this, the cells were permeabilized by digitonin treatment in the presence of an intracellular

BBA - Molecular Cell Research 1866 (2019) 1475-1486

buffer (IB, supplemented with ATP) containing EGTA to chelate Ca2+ [31]. After plasma membrane permeabilization, the cells were perfused with IB containing $4\,\mu M$ free $Ca^{2\,+}$ to allow for mitochondrial $Ca^{2\,+}$ uptake [31]. In this setting, SK1 overexpression had no effect on [Ca²⁺]_{mit} as compared to the mock-transduced cells (Fig. 2A). This finding is in line with the observation that SK1 overexpression did not markedly alter the expression levels of the proteins involved in mitochondrial matrix Ca²⁺ handling that were tested (MCU [32], MICU1 [33], MCUR1 [34], NCLX [35], AFG3L2 [36], OPA1 [37], Suppl. Fig. 1). Next, we treated mock-transduced and SK1-overexpressing cells with the ionophore ionomycin in the presence of EGTA. In this experiment, the intracellular Ca2+ released by the ionomycin treatment accumulated to a greater extent in the matrix of SK1-overexpressing cell mitochondria (Fig. 2B). The effect of SK1 overexpression was more pronounced when the cells were briefly incubated with the cytoplasmic Ca²⁺ chelator BAPTA-AM prior to the ionomycin treatment (Fig. 2C). Importantly, cytoplasmic calcium was unaffected in SK1-overexpressing cells upon ionomycin treatment in the presence of EGTA (Fig. 2D). These data thus suggest that SK1-overexpression augments the shunting of intracellularly stored Ca2+ to the mitochondria, whereas the intrinsic mitochondrial Ca2+ uptake capacity in permeabilized cells is not altered by SK1.

2.2. SK1 overexpression induces cleavage of mitofusin-2

As we did not see any changes in the mitochondrial inner membrane Ca2+ handling proteins, we asked whether SK1 affects the expression of mitofusin-2 (MFN2), an essential regulator of mitochondrial fusion and mitochondria-ER interactions at the MAM sites [38]. We found that the levels of full-length MFN2 (~80 kDa) were not altered, but observed that the SK1-overexpressing cells showed a distinct protein fragment recognized by the N-terminal targeting anti-MFN2 antibody (Fig. 3A). Intriguingly, calpain has been reported to induce MFN2 fragmentation [39] and calpain is activated by S1P and an S1P analogue [40,41]. In agreement with this, we observed an increase in calpain activity in SK1overexpressing cells (Fig. 3B). Of note, calpain activity was increased, and a MFN2-fragment was identified, in HeLa and FTC-133 cells upon transient SK1 overexpression. Further, long-term SK1-inhibitor treatment reduced MFN2 fragment expression levels (Suppl. Fig. 3). MFN2 contains multiple putative calpain cleavage sites with the highest score predicted for cleavage between the His467 and Arg468 residues (prediction based on ref. [42] and conducted with the online tools at www. calpain.org). Hence, we generated plasmid constructs to express MFN2 fragments that would result from calpain-mediated cleavage at the putative His467-Arg468 site (Fig. 3C). Of note, the resulting fragments include intact active domains of the full-length protein: the N-terminal fragment harbors the GTPase, coiled-coil heptad repeat (HR1) and proline rich (PR) domains, whereas the transmembrane (TM) and HR2 domains reside in the C-terminal fragment (see Fig. 3C and ref. [14] for a schematic representation). Interestingly, the expression of both the Nand C-terminal MFN2 fragments, respectively, was found to augment the mitochondrial Ca²⁺ uptake (Fig. 3D), and similar results were obtained when the FTC-133 cell line was used (Suppl. Fig. 2C). In contrast, cytoplasmic Ca2+ was unaffected by MFN2 fragment expression (Fig. 3E). These results indicate that the MFN2 fragments are biologically active and are able to modulate mitochondrial physiology in a manner that is coupled to mitochondrial Ca2+ uptake. Importantly, this is in agreement with the previous reports that have shown MFN2 fragment/mutant expression or MFN2-derived cell permeable short peptides to be biologically active and to affect mitochondrial function [43-45].

2.3. Mitochondrial Na^+/Ca^{2+} exchanger activity is reduced by SK1 overexpression

The mitochondrial Na⁺/Ca²⁺ exchanger protein (NCLX) regulates

С









nsk'

5



Fig. 1. The effect of SK1 overexpression on ER Ca2+ release and mitochondrial Ca2+ uptake. A) Histamine-induced Ca2+ release from the ER is greater in SK1-overexpressing HeLa cells than in the mock-transduced controls. Targeted aequorins as described in Section 4.2 were employed for Ca2+ measurements in these compartments. The baseline ER Ca^{2+} of the cells was recorded in an HBSS buffer containing 1 mM Ca^{2+} . Thereafter, the cells were perfused with HBSS containing 100 µM histamine and 150 µM EGTA when indicated by the arrow to induce a rapid IP3-mediated Ca2+ release from the ER. Representative traces and quantification with S.E.M of the percental ER Ca^{2+} release are shown, N = 8 for mock, N = 9 for hSK1, ***P < 0.001. B) Mitochon-drial Ca²⁺ was measured upon 100 μ M histamine treatment in the presence of 150 uM EGTA in the buffer. Representative traces and quantification of the change (Δ , delta) in $[Ca^{2+}]_{mit}$ from basal to maximal stimulated concentration are shown, N = 11, $^{**}P < 0.01$. C) Mitochondrial Ca²⁺ was measured after 100 µM histamine treatment in the presence of 1 mM Ca2+ in the buffer. Representative traces and quantification of $\Delta[Ca^{2+}]_{mit}$ are shown, N = 7, *P < 0.01.



the Ca²⁺ efflux from the mitochondrial matrix in a Na⁺-dependent manner, and consequently, NCLX-inhibition leads to accumulation of Ca²⁺ in the matrix [35,46]. Interestingly, the involvement of MFN2 in the regulation of mitochondrial matrix Ca²⁺ by modulating the activity of NCLX has been reported [47]. We conducted mitochondrial Ca²⁺ recordings during increasing agonist concentrations to study the kinetics of $[Ca^{2+}]_{mit}$ upon repeated increases in intracellular $[Ca^{2+}]_{L}$ in this experiment, SK1-overexpressing cells again showed increased [Ca²⁺]_mit compared to the mock-transduced cells (Fig. 4A). To assess the possible involvement of NCLX, the cells were treated with the NCLX inhibitor CGP-37157 (CGP). Blocking NCLX did not significantly affect the $[Ca^{2+}]_{mit}$ in cells overexpressing SK1, whereas the mock-transduced (Fig. 4B). This experiment suggests that the basal NCLX activity is low

in SK1-over expressing cells, contributing, at least in part, to the accumulation of $\rm Ca^{2+}$ in the mitochondrial matrix.

2.4. Overexpression of SK1 or the MFN2 N- and C-terminal fragments has no effect on mitochondrial-ER networks

As mitochondria-ER dynamics regulates Ca²⁺ signaling, we set out to investigate whether SK1 or MFN2 N- and C-terminal fragment overexpression, respectively, would have an effect on these organelles. First, SK1 overexpression showed no significant effects on the appearance of the ER-mitochondria networks as visualized by immunofluorescence and confocal microscopy (Fig. 5A). The expression of MFN2 N- and C- terminal fragments did not have an effect on the mitochondrial network, whereas full-length MFN2 expression resulted in







J_{mit} (µM)

Ca∠

BBA - Molecular Cell Research 1866 (2019) 1475–1486

Fig. 2. Effect of SK1 overexpression on mitochondrial Ca2+ in permeabilized cells during Ca2+ addition as well as in intact cells during ionomycin treatment. Mitochondria-targeted aequorin was employed in the experiment shown in panels A-C, whereas the Ca2+ indicator Fura-2-AM was used for the measurements shown in panel D, see Section 4.2. A) To permeabilize the plasma membrane, the cells were treated with 25 µM digitonin in an intracellular buffer (IB, see the text and ref. [31]) in the presence of EGTA. Then, the cells were perfused with IB containing $4\,\mu M$ free $Ca^{2\,+}$ to allow for mitochondrial Ca2+ uptake (as described in [31]. In this setting, no significant differences between hSK1 and mock-transduced cells could be detected, N = 9 for mock, N = 8 for hSK1. B) The cells were treated with 5 µM ionomycin in the presence of 150 µM EGTA in the extracellular buffer when indicated by the arrow. [Ca2+]_{mit} was significantly higher in SK1-overexpressing cells, N = 4 for mock, N = 5 for hSK1. C) The cells were pretreated with BAPTA-AM for 2.5 min prior to treating the cells with $5\,\mu M$ ionomycin in the presence of $150\,\mu M$ EGTA. The brief BAPTA-AM treatment resulted in significant reduction in ionomycin-induced [Ca2+]mit in the mock-transduced cells as compared to the SK1-overexpressing cells, N = 5 for mock, N = 6 for hSK1. D) Cytoplasmic Ca²⁺ was not affected by SK1 overexpression during 5 µM ionomycin treatment in the presence of 150 μ M EGTA in the extracellular buffer, N = 4. The bar diagrams show the average of the change (Δ) from basal to maximal $[Ca^{2+}]_{mit}$ recorded during each experiment. The error bar shows S.E.M. * = P < 0.05, *** = P < 0.001, ns = not significant.





2.5. SK1 does not affect proliferation but increases cell respiration and migration

note, SK1-GFP did not colocalize with the mitochondria (Fig. 5C). Further, we performed electron microscopy to analyze the mitochondria-ER network. In agreement with the results obtained by confocal microscopy, the mitochondrial surface area or the mitochondria-ER contacts were not affected by SK1 overexpression as evidenced by the electron microscopy approach (Fig. 6).

the previously reported mitochondrial clustering [44,48] (Fig. 5B). Of

Finally, we set out to characterize other possible physiological effects of SK1 overexpression. As Ca^{2+} is an important regulator of metabolism and mitochondrial ATP production, we measured cellular respiration. We found that SK1 overexpression slightly but significantly increased the basal oxygen consumption in HeLa cells (Fig. 7A). Further, mitochondrial Ca^{2+} is of importance in the regulation of cancer

BBA - Molecular Cell Research 1866 (2019) 1475-1486



Fig. 3. Mitofusin-2 is fragmented in SK1-overexpressing cells, and transient MFN2 fragment expression increases mitochondrial Ca^{2+} . Mitochondria-targeted, or non-targeted (cytoplasmic) aequorin was employed in the Ca^{2+} experiments shown. A) Western blot analysis revealed the presence of a fragment of MFN2 protein in lysates of SK1-overexpressing cells. The fragmented MFN2, indicated by the red arrow, was present both in the mitochondrial fraction and in the whole cell lysate of cells overexpressing SK1 (%, mock-cells normalized to 100%). N = 5, ***P < 0.001. C) Schematic presentation of MFN2 with the functional domains, adapted from [14]. The predicted calpain cleavage site is between Arginine 468 and Histidine 467 of MFN2. Plasmid expression vectors (pcDNA3) carrying the N- and C-terminal parts of MFN2 that would result after calpain cleavage at the indicated site (red arrow) were created. GTPase = GTPase domain; HR1, HR2 = heptad-repeat domains, D) Expression of Ne-Na dottructs augmented mitochondrial Ca^{2+} uptake, whereas cytoplasmic Ca^{2+} was unaffected in these conditions (E), N = 14 in D & E. The change in Ca^{2+} conot, seen to significant.



cell proliferation [49]. However, SK1-overexpression did not affect proliferation (Fig. 7B). Finally, we observed an SK1-induced increase in cell migration (Fig. 7C). This finding is in line with the various mechanisms reported by which mitochondrial Ca^{2+} may regulate cell migration [50], and with the widely reported effects of SK1/S1P/S1Preceptor signaling on cancer cell migration and invasion [1,51,52].

BBA - Molecular Cell Research 1866 (2019) 1475-1486

Fig. 4. SK1-overexpressing cell mitochondria accumulate Ca2+ more effectively than the mock-transduced control cells during stimulation with increasing histamine concentrations, and inhibition of the mitochondrial Na+/ Ca2+ exchanger NCLX augments mitochondrial Ca2+ retention in the mocktransduced cells. Mitochondria-targeted aequorin was employed in the Ca² experiments shown. A) SK1-overexpressing HeLa cells were treated with increasing histamine concentrations and mitochondrial matrix Ca2+ was measured. SK1 overexpression augmented [Ca²⁺]_{mit} during all stimulations. Area under curve (AUC) analysis was conducted on the selected timeframe of the experiment (a') and quantified in (a''), N = 4, B) Inhibition of the mitochondrial $Na^+/Ca^{2\,+}$ exchanger NCLX by CGP-37157 (CGP; $10\,\mu M,\,1\,h)$ increases the accumulation of mitochondrial matrix Ca2+ in mock-transduced cells to a level resembling that of SK1-overexpressing cells. The AUC was analysed between the experimental time points shown in (b') and the acquired values were analysed (b"), N = 4 vehicle-treated mock and hSK1, N = 3 for CGP-treated mock and hSK1. The average AUC from the shown time points is quantified in the bar diagrams and the error bars depict S.E.M. *P < 0.05, **P < 0.01.

3. Discussion

Aberrant sphingosine kinase 1/2 (SK1/2) expression and deregulated S1P signaling have been previously associated with severe conditions such as cancer, cardiovascular pathologies, inflammation, diabetes and neurological disorders [1,29]. Here, we show that SK1 overexpression modulates several important physiological parameters in HeLa cervical cancer cells. First, we show that SK1 overexpression significantly augments the IP3-induced release of ER Ca2+, and that the released $\mathrm{Ca}^{2\,+}$ is taken up by the mitochondria. The mechanisms underlying SK1-induced ER Ca2+ release and the following mitochondrial uptake could be many. Firstly, SK1 activation is modulated by Ca²⁺ Ca^{2+} [3]. Histamine-induced Ca^{2+} flux to the cytoplasm may thus activate SK1 leading to S1P production, which would amplify the IP3 production in SK1-overexpressing cells through auto/paracrine stimulation of the G-protein coupled S1P-receptors. However, short-term blocking of the S1P receptors did not specifically abolish the effect of SK1 overexpression on mitochondrial Ca²⁺ (Suppl. Fig. 4A). Hence, the autocrine/paracrine S1P signaling loop does not play a major role here. S1P has been reported to have direct intracellular effects, including the release of Ca2+ from intracellular stores [3,53]. However, treatment with SK1 inhibitor (SKi, 10 µM, 1 h) did not abolish the effects of stable SK1 overexpression on mitochondrial Ca2+ (Suppl. Fig. 4B). Thus, instead of acute S1P-mediated effects, these findings indicated that SK1 overexpression has a long-term effect on ER-mitochondrial Ca2+ handling.

The robust increase in the [Ca2+]mit induced by SK1 overexpression initially suggested that some of the recently characterized components of the mitochondrial calcium uniporter (MCU) might be affected [10,42]. However, no changes in the expression levels of the tested MCU components were found. In agreement with this, the intrinsic mitochondrial Ca2+ uptake capacity was not affected by SK1 overexpression. To further elucidate the nature of the SK1-mediated increase in [Ca2+]mit, we first treated the cells with ionomycin in the presence of the extracellular Ca2+ chelator EGTA (to induce rapid depletion of stored intracellular Ca²⁺). In these conditions, SK1-overexpressing cells show higher [Ca²⁺]_{mit} than the mock-transduced cells. We then included a short incubation with the intracellular Ca²⁺ buffer BAPTA-AM in this experimental protocol [54]. The brief BAPTA-AM treatment blunted the ionomycin-induced mitochondrial Ca²⁺ uptake in mock-transduced cells, whereas the mitochondria in SK1-overexpressing cells were able to effectively accumulate $\mathrm{Ca}^{2+}.$ The results from the ionomycin treatments thus indicate an altered interaction between the mitochondria and the intracellular Ca²⁺ deposits (mainly the ER) in SK1-overexpressing cells. In addition, the previous finding that cytoplasmic Ca2+ was unaffected by SK1 overexpression upon ionomycin treatment (ref. [30]) corroborates the interpretation that SK1 somehow affects the Ca2+ flux between the ER and mitochondria.



BBA - Molecular Cell Research 1866 (2019) 1475-1486

Fig. 5. Analysis of mitochondrial and ER network, as well as SK1 localization by employing confocal microscopy analysis. A) SK1-overexpression does not alter the mitochondria-ER network in HeLa cells. The panels show composite (left), anti-PDIA3 stained (ER-marker, middle) and mitotracker stained (right) representative confocal microscopy images. B) Control transfection (pcDNA) or MFN-2 C- or N-terminal (MFN2-cT; MFN2-nT) fragment overexpression do not alter the mitochondrial network, whereas full-length MFN-2 (MFN2-FL) overexpression leads to the previously reported clustering of mitochondria [44,48]. Co-expression of GFP with the pcDNA, MFN2-cT and MFN2-nT was employed to indicate the transfected cells. Mitochondrial network was visualized by mitotracker. Overexpressed MFN2 was detected by the anti-MFN2 antibody. C) SK1 does not localize to mitochondria in HeLa cells as evidenced by SK1-GFP and mitotracker.



Fig. 6. Assessment of mitochondrial surface area and ER-mitochondrial contacts by electron microscopy. Areas of mitochondria-ER contact (brackets, at higher magnification at right) are equivalent in mock and hSK1 cells. The bar diagrams show the total surface area of mitochondria (μ m2/ μ m3 of cytoplasm) and mitochondrial surface area in contact with the ER (μ m2/ μ m3 of cytoplasm), respectively. Scale bar = 1 μ m (left) and 500 nm (right). N = two independent experiment with 60 mock cell profiles and 606 kSK1 cell profiles analysed, respectively.

The results indicated that SK1 might modulate the ER-mitochondria interactions. However, confocal or electron microscopy revealed no changes in the ER-mitochondria organelle network or contacts, or mitochondrial surface area, upon SK1 overexpression. Nevertheless, we found that SK1 induces fragmentation of the MFN2 protein, which is a positive regulator of mitochondrial fusion, and, in addition, regulates the ER-mitochondria dynamics [14]. As mentioned before, whether MFN2 promotes or hinders the ER-mitochondria tethering is debated [14-20]. However, there is well-established evidence that MFN2 plays an important role in mitochondrial physiology [14]. Our results show that the expression of putative calpain-cleaved MFN2 N- and C- terminal fragments augments [Ca2+]mit upon agonist stimulation. Intriguingly, a truncated, non-fusogenic form of MFN2 has been previously shown to have an effect on mitochondrial metabolism, and MFN2 fragments lacking the transmembrane domain re-establish mitochondrial targeting and activity when co-expressed with the C-terminal and

the transmembrane domain MFN2 fragments [43,44]. Thus, MFN2 fragments are able to interact and retain (some degree) of their functionality. Also, short peptide fragments of MFN2 coiled-coil heptad repeat region (HR)-domains have been shown to bind to and modulate MFN2 functions [45]. Thus, protein fragments and/or peptide derivatives of MFN2 have been shown by others, and by us in the present study, to be biologically active. Further, glutamate-induced calpain activation has been shown to induce MFN2 degradation [39]. These findings are in line with our results showing an SK1-induced calpain activation and MFN2 fragmentation. Interestingly, calpain may localize to caveolae and we have previously shown that SK1-overexpression augments Ca2+ signaling at the caveolar sub-compartment without affecting the overall cytoplasmic Ca2+ [30,55]. As mentioned above, it is debated whether MFN2 antagonizes or augments mitochondrial Ca2+ [14-16]. Our results suggest that MFN2 fragment expression increases mitochondrial Ca2+, but whether this effect is through inhibitory or



Fig. 7. Assessment of cell respiration, proliferation and migration. A) The basal oxygen consumption rate (OCR) in HeLa cells is augmented by SK1 overexpression. Oligo = 1 μ M oligomycin, FCCP = 1 μ M Trifluoromethoxy carbonylcyanide phenylhydrazone, rot = 0.5 μ M rotenone, anti = 0.5 μ M antimycin A. N = 5-6. B) Proliferation, as reported by a thymidine incorporation assay, is not affected by SK1 overexpression. N = 3. C) SK1 overexpression increases cell migration as reported by a transwell migration assay. The cells were allowed to migrate for 12 h. N = 3. The bar diagrams show the average values with S.E.M, *P < 0.05, **P < 0.01.

activating interactions with endogenous MFN2, or through other effects, remains to be clarified.

Charcot-Marie-Tooth (CMT) disease is a neuropathy with multiple known contributing factors leading to the disease phenotype [56]. MFN2 mutations are associated with CMT type 2A (CMT2A) [57]. Interestingly, as evidenced by a *Drosophila* model, mutant MFN2 expression causes a CMT2A-resembling phenotype through excessive mitochondrial fusion or fission, respectively, depending on the site of mutation [58]. Further, S1P lyase deficiency is found in CMT patients, leading to increased S1P plasma levels [59]. SK1 overexpression might resemble S1P lyase deficiency as S1P levels are expected to increase in both conditions [1]. Also, disturbed Ca²⁺ homeostasis and mitochondrial dysfunction has been observed in a CMT model [60]. Given the recent pre-clinical advances in targeting mutant MFN2 in CMT2A models [57], and the fact that S1P signaling can be pharmacologically targeted [61], it would be interesting to test whether MFN2 is affected in patients with S1P lyase dysfunction.

MFN2 has been shown to modulate mitochondrial Ca^{2+} through affecting the activity of the mitochondrial matrix Ca^{2+}/Na^+ exchanger NCLX in conditions where mitochondrial membrane potential is reduced [47]. Intriguingly, we found that mitochondrial membrane potential was reduced in SK1-overexpressing cells (Suppl. Fig. 3D). We observed that inhibition of NCLX did not significantly affect the mitochondrial Ca^{2+} dynamics in SK1-overexpressing cells, whereas the mock-transduced control cells showed increased accumulation of mitochondrial Ca^{2+} when extrusion of Ca^{2+} through NCLX was blocked. Also, it has been very recently reported that reduced mitochondrial membrane potential inhibits NCLX activity leading to accumulation of $[Ca^{2+}]_{mit}$ ([62]; NCLX regulation reviewed in [G3]). It is therefore possible that altered NCLX activity in SK1-overexpressing cells might, in part, account for the observed increase in $[Ca^{2+}]_{mit}$.

The SK1-induced alterations in ER-mitochondrial Ca2+ handling may be of relevance in regard to the oncogenic functions of SK1, since the importance of Ca^{2+} signaling at the MAM sites in cancer is wellacknowledged [11,64]. The SK1-induced increase in mitochondrial matrix Ca2+ may affect cell energetics as [Ca2+]mit regulates ATP production [10,65]. Further, mitochondrial Ca^{2+} has been shown to modulate cell migration [50]. Interestingly, we observed an SK1mediated increase in cell respiration and migration, which is in agreement with the effects of altered $[Ca^{2+}]_{mit}$. The involvement of MFN2 in the regulation of mitochondrial Ca^{2+} is mechanistically complex and partially unclear as evidenced by multiple previous studies ([47], reviewed in [14]). Our data suggests that SK1, through fragmentation of MFN2 and possibly through the modulation of NCLX activity causes alterations in the mitochondrial Ca2+ handling. Further studies are needed to clarify the mechanistic details of MFN2 and mitochondrial Ca²⁺ dynamics. Taken together, our results show augmented mitochondrial Ca2+ uptake upon SK1 overexpression, with implications for the regulation of cell respiration and migration, providing novel insights to the oncogenic role of SK1 (schematic representation; Fig. 8).

4. Materials and methods

4.1. Cell culture, plasmids and transfections

HeLa [30] and human follicular thyroid cancer FTC-133 [66] cell lines were used in this study. The HeLa cells were grown in a humidified and thermostatic incubator with a controlled atmosphere (37°C, 5% CO₂) in DMEM medium (#D6046, Sigma-Aldrich) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum and 1% penicillin/streptomycin (Life Sciences). The FTC-133 cells were cultured in DMEM and F12 (Ham's nutrient) medium (1:1) supplemented with 10% FBS, 1% P/S and 2 mM L-glutamine. Plasmid transfections were carried out by employing TurboFect (#R0531, Thermo Scientific) transfection reagent and OptiMEM media (#31985-070, Life Technologies), or by electroporation (4,000,000 cells with 20 µg of the desired plasmid suspended in 400 µL OptiMEM; 240 V; 500 µF). The stable SK1-overexpressing and mocktransduced HeLa cell lines, respectively, were created as described previously [30]. SK1-EGFP plasmid (SK1-GFP) was as described previously [67,68] the GFP plasmid (EGFP) was as in [69], and the GFP plasmid used in Fig. 5 was from Clontech (EGFP, #6085-1). Full length human MFN2, NT and CT fragments were cloned from human Nthy-ori 3.1 cell cDNA and inserted into pcDNA3 with *Hind*III and BamHI. All constructs were verified by Sanger sequencing. Primer sequences used are available upon request. Aequorin plasmids were as described in [31].

4.2. Ca²⁺ measurements

For compartment-specific Ca2+ measurements, we used luminescent aequorin chimeras [31] genetically targeted to the sarco/endoplasmic reticulum (mutated aequorin), to the mitochondrial matrix (wild-type aequorin) and to the cytoplasm (wild-type, no targeting sequence). These measurements were conducted as described previously by employing an in-house built luminometry setup or by utilizing a plate reader [31,69]. Briefly, the cells were plated either on to 12-well plates (100,000 cells per well) containing poly-L-lysine coated 13 mm coverslips, or, when employing a HIDEX Sense plate reader (HIDEX corp., Turku, Finland), on to 96-well plates (10,000 cells per well). The cells were transfected with the desired plasmid constructs (1 µg plasmid/ml medium, final total plasmid concentration on each well). Twenty-four hours post-transfection the cells were incubated in HBSS buffer (118 mM NaCl, 4.6 mM KCl, 10 mM glucose, 20 mM HEPES, pH 7.4) supplemented with 5 µM coelenterazine and 1 mM CaCl₂ (mitochondrial and cytoplasmic measurements) or 5 µM coelenterazine n along with 100 µM EGTA and 1 mM ionomycin (endo/sarcoplasmic measurements). Mitochondrial aequorin measurements in permeabilized cells were conducted exactly as described by Bonora et al. [31]. The cytoplasmic fluorescent Ca2+ indicator Fura-2-AM (Life Technologies) was employed as described in [69].

4.3. Western blot and antibodies

Western blotting was conducted as described previously [30]. Briefly, cells well were seeded onto 100 mm or 35 mm cell culture plates. At approximately 70% confluence, the cells were washed with phosphate buffered saline solution (PBS) and then harvested in a lysis buffer (10 mM Tris, 150 mM NaCl, 7 mM EDTA, 0.5% NP-40, 0.2 mM PMSF, and $0.5\,\mu\text{g/ml}$ leupeptin, pH 7.7). The mitochondrial isolation was conducted as described in [70]. The lysates were supplemented with Laemmli sample buffer (LSB) and boiled for 5 min. The proteins were separated by SDS-PAGE and transferred to a nitrocellulose membrane by wet transfer. The membranes were incubated overnight with the primary antibodies and then with the horseradish peroxidase (HRP) -conjugated secondary antibodies. The protein bands were detected by chemiluminescence (WesternLightning, PerkinElmer, USA). The antibodies were: Anti-SK1 (Cell Signaling, #32975 [Suppl. Fig. 1] and #12071 [Suppl. Fig. 5]), Anti-Mitofusin-2 (M6319, Sigma-Aldrich), Anti-MCU antibody (HPA016480, MERCK), Pan-IP3R antibody IP3R1/ 2/3 H300 (sc-28613, Santa Cruz Biotechnology), Anti-CBARA1/MICU1 antibody (ab102830, Abcam), anti-GFP antibody (ab290, Abcam), AFG3L2 Polyclonal (#14631-1-AP, Proteintech), anti-OPA1, anti-MCUR1, Anti-mouse IgG HRP-linked secondary, Anti-Rat IgG HRPlinked secondary antibodies were from Cell Signaling Technology. Goat Anti-Rabbit IgG (H + L)-HRP Conjugate (#1706515, Biorad). Anti-HSC70 (ADI-SPA-815, Enzo Life Sciences) and anti-VDAC1 (MABN504, Merck) antibodies served as loading controls for whole cell and mitochondrial lysates, respectively. The anti-NCLX antibody [35] was a kind gift from professor Israel Sekler. The anti-IP3R1 (rbt03) antibody was described in [71]. In addition, antibodies that were used only for immunocytochemistry were: Anti-protein disulfide-isomerase A3



Fig. 8. Schematic representation of the proposed model. Sphingosine kinase 1 (SK1) phosphorylates sphingosine to form sphingosine 1-phosphate (S1P), which promotes calpain activation and consequent cleavage of mitofusin-2 (MFN2) at histidine 467. The cleaved fragments of MFN2 contain the functional GTPase and heptad-repeat 1 (HR1) domains, as well as the transmembrane (TM) and heptad-repeat 2 (HR2) domains, respectively. The MFN2 fragmentation modulates mitochondria-endoplasmic reticulum (ER) dynamics and inhibits the mitochondrial sodium-calcium (Ca^{2+}) exchanger NCLX, leading to increased mitochondrial matrix Ca^{2+} concentration ((Ca^{2+})). Then, mitochondrial Ca^{2+} augments respiration and cell migration.

(PDIA3, AMAB90988, Sigma), Alexa Fluor 488 conjugate (A-11017 Mouse, A-11008 Rabbit, Life Technologies).

4.4. Cell migration and proliferation

Corning Transwell membrane inserts were employed to study cell migration according to a protocol modified from [72]. Briefly, 75,000 cells were collected in serum-free medium and allowed to migrate through uncoated Transwell membrane inserts for 12 h. Fetal bovine serum (FBS) was utilized as a chemoattractant. Then, the membranes were processed as described in [72] and the migrated cells were manually counted. The normalized cell counts were statistically analysed. Cell proliferation was measured by a thymidine incorporation assay at 48 h after seeding the cells as previously described in ref. [69].

4.5. Electron microscopy

For electron microscopy cells were fixed with 2.5% glutaraladehyde in 0.1 M cacodylate buffer, scraped and pelleted in gelatin, postfixed with 1% osmium tetroxide and 1.5% potassium ferrocyanide, dehydrated and embedded in an Epon resin. Ultrathin sections were poststained with uranyl acetate and lead citrate and 30 cell profiles from each culture were systematically sampled and photographed at $6000 \times$ with a Jeol JEM-1400 electron microscope equipped with a Gatan Orius SC 1000B bottom mounted CCD-camera. The pictures were viewed at a final magnification of 160,000×. A regular line grid was overlaid and the surface to volume ratios of mitochondrial outer surface membrane and mitochondrial membrane in close contact with the ER were determined according to the formula S/V = 4c/lh, where c is the number of times the lines intersected the surface of interest, h is the number of times the end points of the lines fell on cytoplasm and l is the length of a test line [73]. The graphs represent the results from 2 experiments (n = 2, in all 60 mock cell profiles, 60 hSK1 cell profiles).

4.6. Calpain activity assay

A calpain activity assay kit (#ab65308, Abcam, Cambridge, MA, USA) was employed. The assay was performed according to the manufacturer's instructions as described previously [66]. Briefly, 2,000,000 cells were grown overnight on 100-mm cell culture plates. The next day, the cells were detached and washed three times with PBS. Fluorescence was measured using a Hidex sense microplate reader instrument (HIDEX Corp, Turku, Finland) with the excitation light set at 400 nm and emitted light collected at 505 nm.

4.7. Cellular oxygen consumption measurements

For the oxygen consumption measurements, 10,000 HeLa cells per well were seeded onto a 96-well Agilent Seahorse XF Cell Mito Stress Test Kit plate and the measurements were conducted as defined in the manufacturer's protocol. To study the different mitochondrial respiration pathways, the cells were sequentially challenged with 1 μ M oligomycin, 1 μ M Trifluoromethoxy carbonylcyanide phenylhydrazone (FCCP) and 0.5 μ M rotenone + 0.5 μ M antimycin A, respectively.

4.8. Immunocytochemistry

The cells were seeded on 35 mm coverslips in 6-well plates the day before transfection. Cells were cultured and transfected as described in Section 4.1. Sixteen hours after transfection, the cells were incubated with MitoTracker-Red (MitoTracker® Red FM, M22425, Thermo) for 20 min, then fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde for 10 min at room temperature and rinsed in PBS three times. Permeabilization and block was performed in PBS containing 5% FBS and 0.3% (v/v) Triton X-100 for 5 min at room temperature. The cells were then incubated with appropriate primary antibodies (as listed below) for 90 min at 37 °C in the dark. After rinsing, the cells were incubated with corresponding secondary antibody for 1 h at 37 °C in the dark. All antibodies were diluted in blocking solution (5% FBS). The cells were then washed three times with PBS for 15 min and mounted with Vectashield Mounting Media with DAPI (H-1200, Vector Laboratories). Cells were imaged with 3i (Intelligent Imaging Innovations) CSU-W1 Confocal Spinning Disk Microscope (Yokogawa Corporation of America) equipped with Hamamatsu sCMOS Orca Flash 4 (Hamamatsu Photonics), using $63 \times$ oil immersion. Also used was Zeiss LSM 780 Confocal Microscope (Zeiss, Germany) with a 63× water immersion objective. The excitation/emission wavelengths (nm) used were: green (GFP), 498/516; and red (DsRed), 558/583. Image acquisition was performed with Slide-Book v 6.0 and Zeiss Zen, respectively. Image processing was done using Fiji (ImageJ plugin collection) [74].

4.9. Mitochondrial membrane potential measurements

The cells were plated on to 24-well plates and treated on the next day with tetramethylrhodamine ethyl ester perchlorate (TMRE) for 20 min in the cell culture conditions as described in 4.1. The control

cells were treated with 100 μ M FCCP 10 min prior to TMRE treatment. Thereafter, the cells were briefly washed in PBS containing 0.2% bovine serum albumin, and the TMRE fluorescence was read by utilizing a plate reader (HIDEX Sense, Hidex, Finland). Values obtained from a colorimetric crystal violet assay [75] was used to normalize the acquired TMRE fluorescence values.

4.10. Statistics

Statistical analysis was conducted by unpaired Student's *t*-test when two means were compared or by One-Way Anova with Tukey's post-hoc test when three or more means were compared. The GraphPad Prism 6 program (GraphPad Software Inc., San Diego, CA) was employed for the statistical analyses. A *P*-value below 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

Supplementary data to this article can be found online at https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamcr.2019.06.006.

Transparency document

The Transparency document associated with this article can be found, in online version.

Acknowledgements

I.P. received funding from the following foundations: Svenska Kulturfonden, the Magnus Ehrnrooths stiftelse, Finsk-Norska medicinska stiftelsen, Tor, Joe och Pentti Borgs Minnesfond, Oscar Öflunds stiftelse, Waldemar Von Frenckells stiftelse, K. Albin Johanssons stiftelse and Ida Montins stiftelse. J.H.N. was supported by Svenska Kulturfonden and the Otto A. Malm Foundation. D.M.T. received funding from the Sigrid Juséliuksen Säätiö and from the Novo Nordisk Foundation. K.T. was supported by the Sigrid Juséliuksen Säätiö and the Liv och Hälsa Foundation.

References

- B. Ogretmen, Sphingolipid metabolism in cancer signalling and therapy, Nat. Rev. Cancer 18 (2017) 33–50, https://doi.org/10.1038/nrc.2017.96.
 R. Brunkhorst, R. Vutukuri, W. Pfeitschifter, Fingolimod for the treatment of neu-
- [2] R. Brunkhorst, R. Vutukuri, W. Pfeilschifter, Fingolimod for the treatment of neurological diseases - state of play and future perspectives, Front. Cell. Neurosci. 8 (2014) 283, https://doi.org/10.3389/fncel.2014.00283.
- [3] I. Pulli, M.Y. Asghar, K. Kemppainen, K. Törnquist, Sphingolipid-mediated calcium signaling and its pathological effects, Biochim. Biophys. Acta, Mol. Cell Res. (2018), https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamcr.2018.04.012.
- [4] K.E. Jarman, P.A.B. Moretti, J.R. Zebol, S.M. Pitson, Translocation of sphingosine kinase 1 to the plasma membrane is mediated by calcium- and integrin-binding protein 1, J. Biol. Chem. 285 (2010) 483–492, https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M109. 068395.
- [5] M. Brini, T. Cali, D. Ottolini, E. Carafoli, Neuronal calcium signaling: function and dysfunction, Cell. Mol. Life Sci. 71 (2014) 2787–2814, https://doi.org/10.1007/ s0018-013-1550-7.
- [6] M.J. Berridge, P. Lipp, M.D. Bootman, The versatility and universality of calcium signalling, Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 1 (2000) 11–21, https://doi.org/10.1038/ 35036035.
- [7] E.J. Griffiths, G.A. Rutter, Mitochondrial calcium as a key regulator of mitochondrial ATP production in mammalian cells, Biochim. Biophys. Acta Bioenerg. 1787 (2009) 1324–1333, https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BBABIO.2009.01.019.
- [8] S. Marchi, S. Patergnani, S. Missiroli, G. Morciano, A. Rimessi, M.R. Wieckowski, C. Giorgi, P. Pinton, Mitcchondrial and endoplasmic reticulum calcium homeostasis in the March Colling, Colling, Colling, Colling, 1997, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 2017, 20
- and cell death, Cell Calcium (2017), https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CECA.2017.05.003. [9] D.E. Clapham, Calcium signaling, Cell. 131 (2007) 1047-1058, https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.cell.2007.11.028.
- [10] N. Nemani, S. Shanmughapriya, M. Madesh, Molecular regulation of MCU: implications in physiology and disease, Cell Calcium 74 (2018) 86–93, https://doi. org/10.1016/J.CECA.2018.06.006.
- [11] M. Kerkhofs, M. Bittremieux, G. Morciano, C. Giorgi, P. Pinton, J.B. Parys, G. Bultynck, Emerging molecular mechanisms in chemotherapy: Ca2 + signaling at the mitochondria-associated endoplasmic reticulum membranes, Cell Death Dis. 9 (2018) 334, https://doi.org/10.1038/s41419-017-0179-0.
- [12] T. Balla, Ca 2+ and lipid signals hold hands at endoplasmic reticulum-plasma membrane contact sites, J. Physiol. (2018), https://doi.org/10.1113/JP274957.
- [13] S. Muallem, W.Y. Chung, A. Jha, M. Ahuja, Lipids at membrane contact sites: cell signaling and ion transport, EMBO Rep. 18 (2017) e201744331, https://doi.org/

10.15252/embr.201744331.

- [14] R. Filadi, E. Greotti, P. Pizzo, Highlighting the endoplasmic reticulum-mitochondria connection: focus on Mitofusin 2, Pharmacol. Res. 128 (2018) 42–51, https://doi. org/10.1016/J.PHRS.2018.01.003.
- D. Naon, M. Zaninello, M. Giacomello, T. Varanita, F. Grespi, S. Lakshminaranayan, A. Serafini, M. Semenzato, S. Herkenne, M.I. Hernández-Alvarez, A. Zorzano, D. De Stefani, G.W. Dorn, L. Scorrano, Critical reappraisal confirms that Mitofusin 2 is an endoplasmic reticulum-mitochondria tether, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 113 (2016) 11249–11254, https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1606786113.
 R. Filadi, E. Greotti, G. Turacchio, A. Luini, T. Pozzan, P. Pizzo, Mitofusin 2 ablation
- [16] R. Filadi, E. Greotti, G. Turacchio, A. Luini, T. Pozzan, P. Pizzo, Mitofusin 2 ablation increases endoplasmic reticulum-mitochondria coupling, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 112 (2015) E2174–E2181, https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1504880112.
- [17] P. Cosson, A. Marchetti, M. Ravazzola, L. Orci, Mitofusin-2 independent juxtaposition of endoplasmic reticulum and mitochondria: an ultrastructural study, PLoS One 7 (2012) e46293, https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0046293.
- [18] N.S. Leal, B. Schreiner, C.M. Pinho, R. Filadi, B. Wiehager, H. Karlström, P. Pizzo, M. Ankarcona, Mitofusin-2 knockdown increases ER-mitochondria contact and decreases amyloid β-peptide production, J. Cell. Mol. Med. 20 (2016) 1686–1695, https://doi.org/10.1111/jcmm.12863.
- [19] P.T.C. Wang, P.O. Garcin, M. Fu, M. Masoudi, P. St-Pierre, N. Panté, I.R. Nabi, Distinct mechanisms controlling rough and smooth endoplasmic reticulum contacts with mitochondria, J. Cell Sci. 128 (2015) 2759–2765, https://doi.org/10.1242/ jcs.171132.
- [20] Y. Chen, G. Csordas, C. Jowdy, T.G. Schneider, N. Csordas, W. Wang, Y. Liu, M. Kohlhaas, M. Meiser, S. Bergem, J.M. Nerbonne, G.W. Dorn, C. Maack, Mitofusin 2-containing mitochondrial-reticular microdomains direct rapid cardiomyocyte bioenergetic responses via Interorganelle Ca2+ crosstalk, Circ. Res. 111 (2012) 863–875, https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.112.266585.
- [21] G. Csordás, D. Weaver, G. Hajnóczky, Endoplasmic reticular-mitochondrial contactology: structure and signaling functions, Trends Cell Biol. (2018), https://doi. org/10.1016/J.TGS.2018.02.009.
- [22] A. Vultur, C.S. Gibhardt, H. Stanisz, I. Bogeski, The role of the mitochondrial calcium uniporter (MCU) complex in cancer, Pflugers Arch. - Eur. J. Physiol. 470 (2018) 1149–1163, https://doi.org/10.1007/s00424-018-2162-8.
- [23] L. Gomez, M. Paillard, M. Price, Q. Chen, G. Teixeira, S. Spiegel, E.J. Lesnefsky, A novel role for mitochondrial sphingosine-1-phosphate produced by sphingosine kinase-2 in PTP-mediated cell survival during cardioprotection, Basic Res. Cardiol. 106 (2011) 1341–1353, https://doi.org/10.1007/s00395-011-0223-7.
 [24] G.M. Strub, M. Paillard, J. Liang, L. Gomez, J.C. Allegood, N.C. Hait, M. Maceyka,
- [24] G.M. Strub, M. Paillard, J. Liang, L. Gomez, J.C. Allegood, N.C. Hait, M. Maceyka M.M. Price, Q. Chen, D.C. Simpson, T. Kordula, S. Milstien, E.J. Lesnefsky, S. Spiegel, Sphingosine-1-phosphate produced by sphingosine kinase 2 in mitochondria interacts with prohibitin 2 to regulate complex IV assembly and respiration, FASEB J. 25 (2011) 600–612, https://doi.org/10.1096/fj.10-167502.
- [25] R. Fang, L. Zhang, L. Zhang, W. Li, M. Li, K. Wen, Sphingosine 1-phosphate postconditioning protects against myocardial ischemia/reperfusion injury in rats via mitochondrial signaling and Akt-Gsk3B phosphorylation, Arch. Med. Res. 48 (2017) 147–155, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.arcmed.2017.03.013.
 [26] S. Kim, D. Sieburth, Sphingosine Kinase activates the mitochondrial unfolded pro-
- [26] S. Kim, D. Sieburth, Sphingosine kinase activates the mitochondrial unfolded protein response and is targeted to mitochondria by stress, Cell Rep. 24 (2018) 2932–2945.e4, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2018.08.037.
- [27] S.-W. Hong, J. Lee, H. Kwon, S.E. Park, E.-J. Rhee, C.-Y. Park, K.-W. Oh, S.-W. Park, W.-Y. Lee, Deficiency of sphingosine-1-phosphate reduces the expression of prohibitin and causes β-cell impairment via mitochondrial dysregulation, Endocrinol. Metab. 33 (2018) 403, https://doi.org/10.3803/EnM.2018.33.3.403. [28] J.-P. Decuypere, G. Monaco, G. Bullynck, L. Missien, H. De Smedt, J.B. Parys, The
- [28] J.-P. Decuypere, G. Monaco, G. Bultynck, L. Missiaen, H. De Smedt, J.B. Parys, The IP3 receptor-mitochondria connection in apoptosis and autophagy, Biochim. Biophys. Acta, Mol. Cell Res. 1813 (2011) 1003–1013, https://doi.org/10.1016/j. bbamcr.2010.11.023.
- S. Pyne, D.R. Adams, N.J. Pyne, Sphingosine 1-phosphate and sphingosine kinases in health and disease: recent advances, Prog. Lipid Res. 62 (2016) 93–106, https:// doi.org/10.1016/J.PLIPRES.2016.03.001.
 I. Pulli, T. Blom, C. Lof, M. Magnusson, A. Rimessi, P. Pinton, K. Tornquist, A novel
- [30] I. Pulli, T. Blom, C. Lof, M. Magnusson, A. Rimessi, P. Pinton, K. Tornquist, A novel chimeric aequorin fused with caveolin-1 reveals a sphingosine kinase 1-regulated Ca(2)(+) microdomain in the caveolar compartment, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1853 (2015) 2173–2182 doi https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamcr.2015.04.005.
- [31] M. Bonora, C. Giorgi, A. Bononi, S. Marchi, S. Patergnani, A. Rimessi, R. Rizzuto, P. Pinton, Subcellular calcium measurements in mammalian cells using jellyfish photoprotein aequorin-based probes, Nat. Protoc. 8 (2013) 2105–2118, https://doi. org/10.1038/nprot.2013.127, 10.1038/nprot.2013.127.
- [32] D. De Stefani, A. Raffaello, E. Teardo, I. Szabò, R. Rizzuto, A forty-kilodalton protein of the inner membrane is the mitochondrial calcium uniporter, Nature. 476 (2011) 336–340, https://doi.org/10.1038/nature10230.
- F. Perocchi, V.M. Gohil, H.S. Girgis, X.R. Bao, J.E. McCombs, A.E. Palmer, V.K. Mootha, MICU1 encodes a mitochondrial EF hand protein required for Ca2+ uptake, Nature. 467 (2010) 291–296, https://doi.org/10.1038/nature09358.
 K. Mallilankaraman, C. Cárdenas, P.J. Doonan, H.C. Chandramoorthy, K.M. Irrinki,
- [34] K. Mallilankaraman, C. Cardenas, P.J. Doonan, H.C. Chandramoorthy, K.M. Irrinki, T. Golenár, G. Csordás, P. Madireddi, J. Yang, M. Müller, R. Riller, J.E. Kolesar, J. Molgó, B. Kaufman, G. Hajnóczky, J.K. Foskett, M. Madesh, MCUR1 is an essential component of mitochondrial Ca2+ uptake that regulates cellular metabolism, Nat. Cell Biol. 14 (2012) 1336–1343, https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb2622.
- [35] R. Palty, W.F. Silverman, M. Hershfinkel, T. Caporale, S.L. Sensi, J. Parnis, C. Nolte, D. Fishman, V. Shoshan-Barmatz, S. Herrmann, D. Khananshvili, I. Sekler, NCLX is an essential component of mitochondrial Na+/Ca2+ exchange, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 107 (2010) 436–441, https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0908099107.
- [36] F. Maltecca, D. De Stefani, L. Cassina, F. Consolato, M. Wasilewski, L. Scorrano, R. Rizzuto, G. Casari, Respiratory dysfunction by AFG3L2 deficiency causes

decreased mitochondrial calcium uptake via organellar network fragmentation, Hum. Mol. Genet. 21 (2012) 3858–3870, https://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/dds214.
[37] L. Fülöp, G. Szanda, B. Enyedi, P. Várnai, A. Spät, The effect of OPA1 on mi-

- tochondrial Ca2+ signaling, PLoS One 6 (2011) e25199, , https://doi.org/10 1371/iournal.pone.0025199.
- [38] R. Filadi, Di. Pendin, P. Pizzo, Mitofusin 2: from functions to disease, Cell Death Dis. 9 (2018), https://doi.org/10.1038/s41419-017-0023-6.
- [39] W. Wang, F. Zhang, L. Li, F. Tang, S.L. Siedlak, H. Fujioka, Y. Liu, B. Su, Y. Pi, X. Wang, MFN2 couples glutamate excitotoxicity and mitochondrial dysfunction in motor neurons, J. Biol. Chem. 290 (2015) 168–182, https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc. M114.617167
- [40] N. Hagen, M. Hans, D. Hartmann, D. Swandulla, G. van Echten-Deckert, Sphingosine-1-phosphate links glycosphingolipid metabolism to neurode via a calpain-mediated mechanism. Cell Death Differ. 18 (2011) 1356-1365. https://doi.org/10.1038/cdd.2011.7.
- [41] H. Kang, H.-I. Kwak, R. Kaunas, K.J. Bayless, Fluid shear stress and sphingosine 1phosphate activate calpain to promote membrane type 1 matrix metalloproteinase (MT1-MMP) membrane translocation and endothelial invasion into three-dimen sional collagen matrices, J. Biol. Chem. 286 (2011) 42017-42026, https://doi.org/ 10.1074/jbc.M111.290841.
- [42] D.A. duVerle, Y. Ono, H. Sorimachi, H. Mamitsuka, Calpain cleavage prediction using multiple kernel learning, PLoS One 6 (2011) e19035, https://doi.org/10. 1371/journal.pone.0019035.
 [43] J. Segales, J.C. Paz, M.I. Hernandez-Alvarez, D. Sala, J.P. Munoz, E. Noguera,
- S. Pich, M. Palacin, J.A. Enriquez, A. Zorzano, A form of mitofusin 2 (Mfn2) lacking the transmembrane domains and the COOH-terminal end stimulates metabolism in muscle and liver cells, AJP Endocrinol. Metab. 305 (2013) E1208-E1221, https:// doi.org/10.1152/ajpendo.00546.2012.
- [44] M. Rojo, F. Legros, D. Chateau, A. Lombes, Membrane topology and mitochondrial targeting of mitofusins, ubiquitous mammalian homologs of the transmembrane GTPase Fzo, J. Cell Sci. 115 (2002) 1663–1674, https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/25. 17.3389
- [45] A. Franco, R.N. Kitsis, J.A. Fleischer, E. Gavathiotis, O.S. Kornfeld, G. Gong, N. Biris, A. Benz, N. Qvit, S.K. Donnelly, Y. Chen, S. Mennerick, L. Hodgson, D. Mochly-Rosen, G.W. Dorn, Correcting mitochondrial fusion by manipulating mitofusin conformations, Nature. 540 (2016) 74–79, https://doi.org/10.1038/ nature20156
- [46] R. Palty, I. Sekler, The mitochondrial Na+/Ca2+ exchanger, Cell Calcium 52 (2012) 9-15, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ceca.2012.02.010
- [47] K. Samanta, G.R. Mirams, A.B. Parekh, Sequential forward and reverse transport of the Na + Ca2 + exchanger generates Ca2 + oscillations within mitochondria, Nat. Commun. 9 (2018) 156, https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-017-02638-2. [48] D. Bach, S. Pich, F.X. Soriano, N. Vega, B. Baumgartner, J. Oriola, J.R. Daugaard,
- J. Lloberas, M. Camps, J.R. Zierath, R. Rabasa-Lhoret, H. Wallberg-Henriksson M. Laville, M. Palacín, H. Vidal, F. Rivera, M. Brand, A. Zorzano, Mitofusin-2 de termines mitochondrial network architecture and mitochondrial metabolism, Biol. Chem. 278 (2003) 17190–17197, https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M212754200.
 [49] G. Bustos, P. Cruz, A. Lovy, C. Cárdenas, Endoplasmic reticulum-mitochondria
- calcium communication and the regulation of mitochondrial metabolism in cancer: a novel potential target, Front. Oncol. 7 (2017) 199, , https://doi.org/10.3389/ fonc.2017.00199
- [50] V. Paupe, J. Prudent, New insights into the role of mitochondrial calcium homeostasis in cell migration, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 500 (2018) 75-86, https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BBRC.2017.05.039.
- [51] S.N. Patmanathan, W. Wang, L.F. Yap, D.R. Herr, I.C. Paterson, Mechanisms of sphingosine 1-phosphate receptor signalling in cancer, Cell. Signal. 34 (2017) 66-75, https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CELLSIG.2017.03.002.
- [52] N. Bergelin, T. Blom, J. Heikkilä, C. Löf, C. Alam, S. Balthasar, J.P. Slotte, A. Hinkkanen, K. Törnquist, Sphingosine kinase as an oncogene: autocrine sphin-gosine 1-phoshate modulates ML-1 thyroid carcinoma cell migration by a mechanism dependent on protein kinase C-α and ERK1/2, Endocrinology. 150 (2009) 2055–2063, https://doi.org/10.1210/en.2008-0625.
- [53] D. Meyer zu Heringdorf, K. Liliom, M. Schaefer, K. Danneberg, J.H. Jaggar, G. Tigyi, K.H. Jakobs, Photolysis of intracellular caged sphingosine-1-phosphate caus Ca2+ mobilization independently of G-protein-coupled receptors., FEBS Lett. 554 (2003) 443-9. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/14623109 (accessed January 31, 2018).
- [54] Y. Luo, J.D. Bond, V.M. Ingram, Compromised mitochondrial function leads to increased cytosolic calcium and to activation of MAP kinases, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. A. 94 (1997) 9705-9710.
- [55] S. Goudenege, S. Poussard, S. Dulong, P. Cottin, Biologically active milli-calpain associated with caveolae is involved in a spatially compartmentalised signalling involving protein kinase C alpha and myristoylated alanine-rich C-kinase substrate (MARCKS), Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol. 37 (2005) 1900-1910, https://doi.org/10. 1016/J.BIOCEL.2005.04.010.
- [56] J.C. Hoyle, M.C. Isfort, J. Roggenbuck, W.D. Arnold, The genetics of Charcot-Marie-Tooth disease: current trends and future implications for diagnosis and m ment, Appl. Clin. Genet. 8 (2015) 235-243, https://doi.org/10.2147/TACG.

S69969

- [57] A.G. Rocha, A. Franco, A.M. Krezel, J.M. Rumsey, J.M. Alberti, W.C. Knight, N. Biris, E. Zacharioudakis, J.W. Janetka, R.H. Baloh, R.N. Kitsis, D. Mochly-Rosen, R. R. Townsend, E. Gavathiotis, G.W. Dorn, MFN2 agonists reverse mitochondrial defects in preclinical models of Charcot-Marie-Tooth disease type 2A, Science (80-360 (2018) 336–341. doi:https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aa01785.
 N. El Fissi, M. Rojo, A. Aouane, E. Karatas, G. Poliacikova, C. David, J. Royet,
- T. Rival, Mitofusin gain and loss of function drive pathogenesis in Drosophila models of CMT2A neuropathy, EMBO Rep. (2018) e45241, , https://doi.org/10.15252/ embr.201745241.
- [59] D. Atkinson, J. Nikodinovic Glumac, B. Asselbergh, B. Ermanoska, D. Blocquel, R. Steiner, A. Estrada-Cuzcano, K. Peeters, T. Ooms, E. De Vriendt, X.L. Yang, T. Hornemann, V. Milic Rasic, A. Jordanova, Sphingosine 1-phosphate lyase deficiency causes Charcot-Marie-tooth neuropathy, Neurology. 88 (2017) 533-542, https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.000000000003595.
- [60] M. Barneo-Miñoz, P. Juárez, A. Civera-Tregón, L. Yndriago, D. Pla-Martin, J. Zenker, C. Cuevas-Martín, A. Estela, M. Sánchez-Aragó, J. Forteza-Vila, J.M. Cuezva, R. Chrast, F. Palau, Lack of GDAP1 induces neuronal calcium and mitochondrial defects in a knockout mouse model of Charcot-Marie-Tooth neuro pathy, PLoS Genet. 11 (2015) e1005115, , https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen. 1005115
- [61] A. Di Pardo, V. Maglione, Sphingolipid metabolism: a new therapeutic opportunity for brain degenerative disorders, Front. Neurosci. 12 (2018) 249, , https://doi.org/ 10.3389/fnins.2018.00249.
- M. Kostic, T. Katoshevski, I. Sekler, Allosteric regulation of NCLX by mitochondrial [62] membrane potential links the metabolic state and Ca2+ signaling in mitochondria, Cell Rep. 25 (2018) 3465–3475.e4, https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CELREP.2018.11. 084
- [63] M. Kostic, I. Sekler, Functional properties and mode of regulation of the mitochondrial Na+/Ca2+ exchanger, NCLX, Semin. Cell Dev. Biol. (2019), https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SEMCDB.2019.01.009.
- [64] M. Kerkhofs, C. Giorgi, S. Marchi, B. Seitaj, J.B. Parys, P. Pinton, G. Bultynck, M. Bittremieux, Alterations in Ca2+ signalling via ER-mitochondria contact site remodelling in Cancer, Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. 997 (2017) 225–254, https://doi.org/ 10.1007/978-981-10-4567-7 17
- [65] L.S. Jouaville, P. Pinton, C. Bastianutto, G.A. Rutter, R. Rizzuto, Regulation of mitochondrial ATP synthesis by calcium: evidence for a long-term metaboli priming, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 96 (1999) 13807-13812, https://doi.org/10. 1073/PNAS.96.24.13807.
- [66] M.Y. Asghar, K. Kemppainen, T. Lassila, K. Törnquist, Sphingosine 1-phosphate attenuates MMP2 and MMP9 in human anaplastic thyroid cancer C643 cells: importance of S1P2, PLoS One 13 (2018) e0196992, , https://doi.org/10.1371/ journal.pone.0196992.
- [67] S.M. Pitson, P.A.B. Moretti, J.R. Zebol, P. Xia, J.R. Gamble, M.A. Vadas R.J. D'Andrea, B.W. Wattenberg, Expression of a catalytically inactive sphingosine kinase mutant blocks agonist-induced sphingosine kinase activation, J. Biol. Chem. 275 (2000) 33945–33950, https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M006176200. [68] S.M. Pitson, R.J. D'andrea, L. Vandeleur, P.A. Moretti, P. Xia, J.R. Gamble,
- M.A. Vadas, B.W. Wattenberg, Human sphingosine kinase: purification, molecular cloning and characterization of the native and recombinant enzymes, Biochem. J. 350 (Pt 2) (2000) 429-441 http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10947957 , Accessed date: 4 March 2019.
- [69] I. Pulli, T. Lassila, G. Pan, D. Yan, V.M. Olkkonen, K. Törnquist, Oxysterol-binding protein related-proteins (ORPs) 5 and 8 regulate calcium signaling at specific cell compartments, Cell Calcium 72 (2018) 62-69, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ceca. 2018.03.001.
- [70] J.M. Gerhold, Ş. Cansiz-Arda, M. Löhmus, O. Engberg, A. Reyes, H. van Rennes, A. Sanz, I.J. Holt, H.M. Cooper, J.N. Spelbrink, Human mitochondrial DNA-protein complexes attach to a cholesterol-rich membrane structure, Sci. Rep. 5 (2015) 15292, , https://doi.org/10.1038/srep15292.
- [71] J.B. Parys, H. de Smedt, L. Missiaen, M.D. Bootman, I. Sienaert, R. Casteels, Rat basophilic leukemia cells as model system for inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate receptor IV, a receptor of the type II family: functional comparison and immunological detection, Cell Calcium 17 (1995) 239-249 http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/ 7664312 (accessed September 27, 2018).
- [72] V. Kalhori, M. Magnusson, M.Y. Asghar, I. Pulli, K. Törnquist, FTY720 (Fingolimod) attenuates basal and sphingosine-1-phosphate-evoked thyroid cancer cell invasion, Endocr. Relat. Cancer 23 (2016), https://doi.org/10.1530/ERC-16-0050. [73] E.R. Weibel, Stereological Methods, Academic Press, 1979, https://www.ncbi.nlm.
- nih.gov/nlmcatalog/8007268 (accessed March 28, 2018).
- [74] J. Schindelin, I. Arganda-Carreras, E. Frise, V. Kaynig, M. Longair, T. Pietzsch, S. Preibisch, C. Rueden, S. Saalfeld, B. Schmid, J.-Y. Tinevez, D.J. White, V. Hartenstein, K. Eliceiri, P. Tomancak, A. Cardona, Fiji: an open-source platform for biological-image analysis, Nat. Methods 9 (2012) 676-682, https://doi.org/10. 1038/nmeth.2019.
- [75] M. Thomas, C.E. Finnegan, K.M. Rogers, J.W. Purcell, A. Trimble, P.G. Johnston, M.P. Boland, STAT1: A Modulator of Chemotherapy-Induced Apoptosis, (2004), pp. 8357-8364

Pulli I, LassilaT,PanG,YanD, Olkkonen V, Törnquist K. (2018) Oxysterol-bindingproteinrelated-proteins (ORPs)5 and8 regulatecalcium signalingatspecificcellcompartments. CellCalcium72:62-69.https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ceca.2018.03.001

Cell Calcium 72 (2018) 62-69



Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Cell Calcium



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/ceca

Oxysterol-binding protein related-proteins (ORPs) 5 and 8 regulate calcium signaling at specific cell compartments



Ilari Pulli^a, Taru Lassila^a, Guoping Pan^b, Daoguang Yan^b, Vesa M. Olkkonen^{c,d}, Kid Törnquist^{a,c,*}

^a Åbo Akademi University, Tykistökatu 6A, 20520 Turku, Finland

b The Key Laboratory of Functional Protein Research of Guangdong Higher Education Institutes, Department of Biotechnology, College of Life Science and Technology,

Jinan University, Guangzhou, 510632, China

^c Minerva Foundation Institute For Medical Research, Biomedicum Helsinki, 00290 Helsinki, Finland ^d Department of Anatomy, Faculty of Medicine, FI-00014 University of Helsinki, Finland

ARTICLE INFO

Keywords. ORP5 ORP8 Caveolae Mitochondria Endoplasmic reticulum Calcium

ABSTRACT

Oxysterol-binding protein related-protein 5 and 8 (ORP5/8) localize to the membrane contact sites (MCS) of the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) and the mitochondria, as well as to the ER-plasma membrane (PM) MCS. The MCS are emerging as important regulators of cell signaling events, including calcium (Ca²⁺) signaling. ORP5/8 have been shown to interact with phosphatidylinositol-4,5-bisphosphate (PIP₂) in the PM, and to modulate mitochondrial respiration and morphology. PIP2 is the direct precursor of inositol trisphosphate (IP3), a key second messenger responsible for Ca²⁺-release from the intracellular Ca²⁺ stores. Further, mitochondrial respiration is linked to Ca²⁺ transfer from the ER to the mitochondria. Hence, we asked whether ORP5/8 would affect Ca²⁺ signaling in these cell compartments, and employed genetically engineered aequorin Ca2+ probes to investigate the effect of ORP5/8 in the regulation of mitochondrial and caveolar Ca²⁺. Our results show that ORP5/8 overexpression leads to increased mitochondrial matrix Ca^{2+} as well as to increased Ca^{2+} concentration at the caveolar subdomains of the PM during histamine stimulation, while having no effect on the cytoplasmic Ca²⁺¹ Also, we found that ORP5/8 overexpression increases cell proliferation. Our results show that ORP5/8 regulate Ca²⁺ signaling at specific MCS foci. These local ORP5/8-mediated Ca²⁺ signaling events are likely to play roles in processes such as mitochondrial respiration and cell proliferation.

1. Introduction

Members of the oxysterol-binding protein related-protein (OSBPrelated, or ORP) family are involved in the regulation of lipid transport at membrane contact sites (MCS) [1]. MCS are crucial for inter-organellar communication and lipid transfer as well as for the regulation of second messenger molecules, including the calcium ion (Ca2+) [2]. ORPs, including ORP5 and ORP8 (ORP5/8), are involved in oncogenesis, possibly through the regulation of membrane lipids and the related downstream signaling events [3]. ORP5/8 have been characterized as countertransporters of phosphatidylinositol-4-phosphate (PI4P) and phosphatidylserine at the interface of the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) and the plasma membrane (PM) [4]. ORP5/8 were also shown to bind to phosphatidylinositol-4,5-bisphosphate (PIP2) and modulate its transport from the PM to the ER [5]. Also, it was shown that ORP8 may not bind to P14P and PIP_2 with high affinity [6]. Interestingly, it was recently reported that ORP8 is not strongly associated with the PM in resting conditions but becomes recruited to the PM upon induction of

PIP2 production [7]. Moreover, ORP5/8 were recently found to localize at the ER-mitochondria contact sites where they modulate mitochondrial morphology and function [8]. Approximately 80% of the ORP5 and ORP8 sequences overlap, they both insert into the ER membrane through a C-terminal transmembrane (TM) domain, contain a lipid transfer domain (ORD) and interact with the PM through a pleckstrin homology (PH) domain [5,9]. The mitochondrial interactions of ORP5/ 8 depend on the ORD domain that binds to the mitochondrial outer membrane protein PTPIP51 [8].

Ca2+ is a ubiquitous second messenger that regulates several cellular functions including proliferation, migration and respiration. Intracellular Ca2+ concentrations are tightly regulated and multiple organelles and cellular compartments are involved in the handling and sensing of Ca^{2+} signals. Ca^{2+} is stored in the ER from where it can be released to the cytosol upon different stimuli, such as activation of the inositol trisphosphate receptor (IP3R) [10]. ER Ca2+ release can be directed towards the mitochondria through the molecular interactions at contact sites designated as mitochondria-associated membranes

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ceca.2018.03.001

^{*} Corresponding author.

E-mail address: ktornqvi@abo.fi (K. Törnquist).

Received 19 January 2018; Received in revised form 2 March 2018; Accepted 12 March 2018 Available online 13 March 2018

^{0143-4160/ © 2018} Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved

(MAMs). Mitochondria take up Ca2+ through the mitochondrial calcium uniporter (MCU) to activate the respiratory enzymes, whereas mitochondrial Ca^{2+} overloading can lead to apoptosis [11,12]. MCU is tightly controlled by accessory proteins, the threshold Ca2+ concentration for MCU activation is high, and hence, ER-mitochondria tethering is essential for the generation of high Ca²⁺ microdomains that allow for MCU activation [12-17]. Also, local, spatiotemporally restricted Ca²⁺ signaling events may take place at cytoplasmic leaflets of the PM and at the lipid-rich PM compartments, caveolae, where many molecules related to Ca2+ signaling, such as PIP2, have been shown to localize [18,19]. Importantly, MAMs and caveolae-ER contacts are implicated in oncogenesis, and Ca2+ transfer trough the IP3R to the mitochondria is essential for cancer cell metabolism [20,21]. Further, ORP5/8 reside at the MAMs, which have been recognized to play a role in cardiovascular pathophysiology in part through disturbed mito chondrial $\mathrm{Ca}^{2\,+}$ signaling [22]. Also, the possible involvement of ORP5/8 in Ca^{2+} signaling has been recently reviewed [23].

Considering that ORP5/8 are involved in the physical interactions and lipid transfer between the ER, the PM and the mitochondria, we hypothesized that this might also affect the Ca^{2+} handling at these membrane interfaces. Further, ORP5/8 modulate the PM levels of PIP_2 [5], which is the substrate for phospholipase C (PLC) that hydrolyzes PIP_2 to IP_3 and diacylglycerol (DAG). IP_3 binds to and activates the IP_3R in the ER, and DAG activates many of the PM Ca^{2+} channels. The ORP5/8 mediated modulation of PIP_2 transport might thus affect intracellular Ca^{2+} signaling. Therefore, we set out to characterize the importance of ORP5/8 in regulating Ca^{2+} specifically in the mitochondria, at the caveolar compartments of the PM, and in the overall cytoplasm.

2. Methods

2.1. Cell culture and plasmid and siRNA transfections

HeLa cells were used in all experiments of this study. The cells were routinely cultured in DMEM (#D6046, Sigma-Aldrich) medium supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum and 1% penicillin/strepto-mycin (Life Technologies). The cells were grown in a humidified in-cubator at 37 °C and 5% CO₂. The GFP-ORP5 expression plasmid is described in [8]. The human ORP8 ORF was inserted in the XbaI site of pEGFP-C1 (Clontech/TakaraBio, Mountain View, CA). ORP5 and -8 specific Silencer^{*} Select siRNAs (s377 and s41692, respectively) and a non-targeting control siRNA (Cat n:o 4390846) were purchased from ThermoFisher Scientific (Waltham, MA). HeLa cells were transfected for 24 h with the GFP-ORP5 or -8 plasmids, or plain pEGFP-C1 as a negative control. TurboFect (#R0531, Thermo Scientific) transfection reagent and OptiMEM media (#31985-070, Life Technologies) were used for all plasmid transfections. siRNA transfections were carried out using HiPerfect transfection reagent (Qiaqen).

2.2. Intracellular calcium measurements by employing aequorin

The luminescent Ca^{2+} binding recombinant protein, aequorin, was employed to measure Ca^{2+} concentrations in the cytoplasm, in the mitochondria, and at the caveolae as previously described in [24,25]. Briefly, 5000–10,000 HeLa cells were seeded on to a 96-well cell culture plate for measurements when a plate reader setup was employed (HIDEX Sense plate reader, HIDEX corp., Turku, Finland). Alternatively, when employing an in-house built single-tube luminometer setup with a perfusion chamber, 75 000–100,000 HeLa cells were seeded on to 13 mm poly-L-lysine coated coverslips in a 12-well plate. The cells were grown overnight and transfected with the desired aequorin plasmids. The measurements were conducted on the following day. Before every measurement, the cells were incubated with 5 μ M coelenterazine (SynChem) for one hour in HEPES-buffered saline solution (HBSS: 118 mM NaCl, 4.6 mM KCl, 10 mM glucose, 20 mM HEPES with 1 mM

CaCl2 or, alternatively, 150 μ M EGTA, when Ca²⁺ free buffer was used). The cells were stimulated with 100 μ M histamine in Ca²⁺ containing or in Ca²⁺ free HBSS depending on the experimental setup. The cells were primed for store-operated calcium entry (SOCE) by treating the cells with 1 μ M thapsigargin (TG) for five minutes in the presence of 150 μ M EGTA whereafter the SOCE was induced by perfusing the cells with HBSS buffer containing 1 μ M TG and 1 mM Ca²⁺. At the end of each experiment, the cells were lysed with 100 μ M digitonin in the presence of 10 mM Ca²⁺ to obtain the maximal light production values of the sample. The obtained luminescence raw data values were analysed and transformed as described in [24]. The cytoplasmic and mitochondria targeting aequorin constructs were a kind gift from professor Paolo Pinton (University of Ferrara, Italy).

2.3. Calcium measurements by employing fura-2 AM

For Fura-2 AM measurements 5000–10,000 cells were seeded on to 96-well plates. The cells were grown overnight and transfected with the desired constructs. On the following day, they were washed twice with HBSS and incubated with Fura-2 AM ($2\,\mu$ M, Life Technologies) for 30 min at room temperature. Then, the cells were washed twice and incubated for 15 min in HBSS at room temperature, washed twice and transferred to the HIDEX plate reader. The excitation filters were set to 340 and 380 nanometers, respectively, and the emission was read at 510 nanometers. The fluorescence signal was recorded at one second intervals and the ratios of the two excitation wavelengths were calculated for each time point. These values were used for analysis of the data.

2.4. Western blot analysis

Cell lysates were prepared by washing the cells three times with PBS, whereafter Laemmli sample buffer was added to the samples. The lysates were boiled for 5 min and separated by SDS-PAGE, whereafter the proteins were transferred to a nitrocellulose membrane. The membranes were subjected to the desired primary or secondary antibodies in a phosphate buffered saline (PBS) solution containing 1% bovine serum albumin. The ORP5 antibodies were from Sigma-Aldrich and the ORP8 antibodies are described in [26]. HSC70 antibody was purchased from Enzo life sciences. The dilutions for the primary antibodies were 1:1000 and 1:3000 for the secondary antibodies (antirabbit HRP-conjugated antibody, BioRad; anti-rat HRP-conjugated antibody, Cell Signaling Technology). The protein bands were visualized by chemiluminescence (ECL, Perkin Elmer). Anti-Xpress and Anti-Xpress-HRP antibodies (Invitrogen) were employed for the detection of epitope-tagged ORP5/8 constructs that were used in the IP3 production measurements.

2.5. Measurement of IP_3 production

 IP_3 was measured using the HitHunter IP_3 Fluorescence Polarization Assay Kits (DiscoverRx Tech, Fremont, CA, USA). Briefly, 10,000 cells transfected with pcDNA4 HisMax C, ORP5 or ORP8 vector in 96-well plates (Corning, USA) were treated with 10 µM histamine for the designated times, and the cellular reaction was terminated by adding 0.2N perchloric acid. The plate was shaken at 650 r.p.m. for 5 min. Then 20 ul mixture buffer from 96-well plates were tansferred into black 384-well plates (Greiner, Germany). The IP_3 tracer was subsequently added to each well, and the IP_3 binding protein was added to the plate. The polarized fluorescence from the IP_3 tracer was read on a Microplate Reader (CLARIOstar, BMG LABTECH). The IP_3 concentration was calculated from the IP_3 standard curve.

2.6. Proliferation assay

Fifty-thousand HeLa cells were plated on 6-well plates and grown

overnight. Thereafter the cells were transfected with plasmid constructs carrying GFP, GFP-ORP5 or GFP-ORP8, respectively. The cells were grown for 48 h and subjected to ³H-thymidine ($0.4 \, \mu$ Ci/ml) for the final four hours. Thereafter the cells were washed three times in ice-cold PBS on ice, followed by a 10-min incubation in 5% trichloric acetic acid, and then incubated for 10 min with 0.1 M NaOH. Then the suspension was mixed 1:5 with Optiphase Hisafe 3 scintillation liquid (PerkinElmer). Radioactivity was measured using a Wallac 1410 liquid scintillation counter. ³H-thymidine was from PerkinElmer.

2.7. Confocal microscopy

The cells were plated on poly-L-lysine coated coverslips, grown overnight and transfected with plasmid constructs carrying GFP, GFP-ORP5 or GFP-ORP8, respectively. The cells were then grown overnight, washed in PBS, fixed using 4% paraformaldehyde and mounted with Mowiol mounting medium. Microscopy was conducted by employing a Leica SP5 (Wetzlar, Germany) confocal microscope.

2.8. Statistics

The results are shown as the mean \pm S.E.M. Statistical analysis of the data was conducted by unpaired Student's *t*-test when two means were compared or by One-Way Anova with Tukey's post-hoc test when three or more means were compared. The GraphPad Prism 5 program (GraphPad Software Inc., San Diego, CA) was used for the statistical analyses. A P-value below 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

3. Results

To assess the importance of ORP5/8 in regulating Ca2+ in intracellular compartments, we employed the luminescent calcium indicator protein, aequorin. Upon transient expression, wild-type aequorin localizes to the cytosol, but aequorin has been genetically engineered to target different cell compartments such as the mitochondria and the caveolae [24,25]. First, we set out to measure cytoplasmic and mitochondrial Ca2+ upon overexpression of GFP-ORP5 or -ORP8 in the presence of extracellular Ca2+. To induce the intracellular Ca2+ fluxes we used the G-protein coupled receptor (GPCR) agonist, histamine. Our results show that the cytoplasmic Ca²⁺ was not affected in cells overexpressing either ORP5 or ORP8 when stimulated with 100 µM histamine, whereas ORP5 overexpression resulted in increased mitochondrial Ca2+ uptake upon histamine stimulation (Fig. 1A). To further explore the possible involvement of ORP8 in the ER-mitochondria Ca2+ flux, we excluded the extracellular Ca2+ from the experimental setting. In this condition, ORP8 overexpression significantly increased mitochondrial Ca²⁺ uptake upon stimulation with histamine (Fig. 1B). Treating the cells with 10 µM BAPTA-AM for 1 h completely abolished the mitochondrial Ca2+ responses (Supplementary Fig. 1A). Overexpression of the GFP-ORP5/8 constructs was confirmed by microscopy (Fig. 1C). However, knock-down of ORP5 and - 8 separately or simultaneously did not affect the stimulation-evoked mitochondrial Ca2+ uptake (Fig. 2A). Efficient knock-down of ORP5/8 was confirmed by western blotting (Fig. 2B)

As mentioned above, ORP5 and -8 bind to PIP_2 and are localized to the ER-PM contact sites, and caveolae are enriched in PIP_2 [5,19]. Therefore, we tested whether the caveolar microdomain of Ca²⁺ might be affected by ORP5/8 overexpression or silencing. We found that ORP8 overexpression slightly but significantly increased the histamine-induced Ca²⁺ concentration at the caveolae ([Ca²⁺]_{cav}) in the presence of extracellular Ca²⁺ (Fig. 3A) This effect was more pronounced in the absence of extracellular Ca²⁺ (Fig. 3B). Also ORP5 overexpression significantly augmented the histamine-induced [Ca²⁺]_{cav} (Fig. 3C). In contrast, knockdown of ORP5/8 did not affect [Ca²⁺]_{cav} (Fig. 3D).

Caveolae may harbour molecules that are involved in the regulation of the store-operated Ca^{2+} entry (SOCE) [18]. Hence, we investigated

whether ORP5/8 would affect $[Ca^{2+}]_{cav}$ during thapsigargin (TG)-induced SOCE. We found that overexpression of ORP5 or -8 was without an effect on SOCE at the caveolar microdomain (Fig. 4A&B). Interestingly, cytoplasmic Ca²⁺ was slightly but significantly inhibited by ORP5 overexpression during TG-induced SOCE (Fig. 4C). Further, ORP5 overexpression inhibited the cytosolic Ca²⁺ flux in an experimental setting where Ca²⁺ was present in the extracellular milieu during the TG treatment (Supplementary Fig. 1B).

Even though we could not detect an effect of ORP5 or -8 on the agonist-induced cytoplasmic Ca²⁺, we found it interesting to test whether the overexpression of these proteins might modify the release of IP₃ by PLCs. Therefore, the cellular IP₃ concentration was measured upon histamine stimulation. We found that ORP5 overexpression significantly augments IP₃ production whereas ORP8 overexpression was without an effect (Fig. 5).

ORP proteins have been implicated in the control of cell proliferation. It has been shown that ORP4 silencing halts cell proliferation and that ORP4L modulates proliferation through Ca^{2+} and the nuclear factor of activated T cells (NFAT) pathway [27,28]. Also, it is well established that intracellular Ca^{2+} plays key roles in controlling cell proliferation [10]. Hence, we used the ³H-thymidine incorporation assay to quantify the proliferation of GFP, GFP-ORP5 or GFP-ORP8 transfected HeLa cells. Interestingly, we found that the ORP5/8 overexpressing cells showed a significant increase in proliferation as compared to the GFP-transfected controls (Fig. 6).

4. Discussion

In this study we present evidence that elevated cellular levels of the OSBP-related proteins ORP5 or -8 modify Ca2+ homeostasis in an organelle-specific fashion. Experiments with caveolae- or mitochondriatargeted aequorin Ca2+ probes demonstrated that while neither ORP5 nor -8 overexpression had a significant effect on the cytoplasmic Ca2concentration in histamine-stimulated cells, ORP5 and -8 elevated the Ca2+ concentrations both in the mitochondrial matrix as well as at the caveolar sub-compartments of the PM. The effect of ORP5 on mito chondrial Ca^{2+} was more pronounced than that of ORP8, the effect of which was only detectable when extracellular Ca2+ was chelated. Modulation of mitochondrial calcium by ORP5/8 is consistent with the reported disturbance of mitochondrial respiratory function observed in ORP5/8 depleted cells [8], considering that mitochondrial calcium, as well as the proximity of mitochondria to the intracellular Ca2+ stores, are crucial for the activity of key mitochondrial machineries responsible for oxidative energy production [21,29,30].

In contrast to what has been reported for ORP4L in T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia cells [31], we detected no significant changes in the cytoplasmic Ca²⁺ levels during histamine-stimulation in cells overexpressing ORP5/8. This finding underlines the role of ORP5/8 as regulators and coordinators of local Ca2+ signaling events specifically at the MCS at the ER-mitochondria and at the ER-PM/caveolae interfaces. Previously, ORP4L has been reported to augment IP3 production in T-cells [31]. In our study, we found that ORP5 overexpression leads to increased cellular IP3 levels during histamine stimulation, whereas ORP8 overexpression did not affect the histamine-induced IP3 generation. Hence, ORP5 may modulate the detected local Ca²⁺ signaling events in part through IP3-dependent mechanisms whereas the effect of ORP8 is attributed to other factors. We find it possible that ORP5 overexpression augments mitochondrial Ca2+ uptake in part through increased apposition of ER and mitochondria, and that the resulting increase in mitochondrial Ca²⁺ buffering capacity masks the cytoplasmic Ca2+ effects that would otherwise be expected due to the ORP5-mediated increase in the IP3 production. Further, we speculate that ORP5-mediated interactions at the ER-caveolae MCS may allow for the generation of local caveolar Ca2+ hotspots at these sites even in the presence of high mitochondrial Ca²⁺ buffering.

As noted above, the effect of ORP8 overexpression on mitochondrial

Cell Calcium 72 (2018) 62-69



Fig. 1. Mitochondrial, but not cytosolic, $[Ca^{2+}]$ is increased by ORP5/8 overexpression upon 100 μ M histamine stimulation. A) Representative traces and quantification of cytoplasmic and mitochondrial Ga^{2+} fluxes during histamine stimulation in the presence of 150 μ M EGTA. C) Confocal microscopy images showing HeLa cells expressing GFP, GFP-ORP5 and GFP-ORP8 constructs, respectively. The bars represent the mean \pm SEM of the change in the calcium concentration during the experiment (maximal value – basal value). *, p < 0.05; ns = not significant. N = 3–6.



Fig. 2. Downregulation of ORP5/8 does not affect mitochondrial calcium upon 100 μ M histamine treatment. A) HeLa cells transfected with control siRNA or siRNAs targeting ORP5, ORP8 or ORP5 and -8 were stimulated with 100 μ M histamine in the presence of 1 mM Ca²⁺. The bars represent the mean \pm SEM of the change in the calcium concentration during the experiment (maximal value – basal value). N = 3. B) Representative western blot images showing the effect of ORP5 (left panel) and ORP8 (right panel) targeting siRNAs as compared to the control siRNAs (siC).

calcium was only detectable in the absence of extracellular Ca²⁺. This may be explained by the previous finding that ORP8 is more evenly distributed throughout the ER membranes whereas ORP5 is more specifically localized to the MAM MCS [4,8]. Thus, the effect of ORP8 overexpression on mitochondrial Ca2+ uptake was unmasked when the extracellular Ca2+ was chelated and the IP3-releaseable ER Ca2+ was the primary source of Ca²⁺. The data suggests that ORP5/8, and ORP5 in particular, has the ability to organize and expand an ER-mitochondrial membrane contact domain at which Ca²⁺ transport is active. The physical association of ORP5/8 with PTPIP51 is consistent with this notion, considering that the mitochondrial outer membrane protein PTPIP51 in a complex with the ER protein VAPB is also reported to control the ER-mitochondria associations [8,32]. Further, ORP5/8 are involved in the modulation of mitochondrial morphology and the integrity of the mitochondrial network, key aspects which are known to affect the regulation of mitochondrial Ca²⁺ [8,33].

It has been reported that ER and PM can form junctions at the caveolae [34]. Also, the interaction of $\rm IP_3R1$ and -3 with the Ca²⁺-conducting transient receptor potential canonical cation channels 1 and 3 (TRPC1, -3), respectively, is coordinated at the caveolae [35,36]. Further, caveolae are considered as important signaling hubs that control a wide range of cellular events such as migration, adhesion and invasion, and these processes are modulated by Ca²⁺ signals [18,34]. Our results showing that ORP5/8 modulate Ca²⁺ at the caveolae may thus in part offer new mechanistic insight to the previously reported ORP5/8-mediated regulation of invasion and migration [3,37].

We did not observe disturbances in mitochondrial or caveolar

Cell Calcium 72 (2018) 62-69



Fig. 3. Histamine-induced ${\rm Ca}^{2+}$ flux at the caveolar micro-domain is augmented by ORP5/8 overexpression whereas knock-down of ORP5/8 was without an effect. A) ORP8 overexpression increases ${\rm [Ca}^{2+}]_{\rm cav}$ during 100 µM histamine-stimulation in the presence of 1 mM ${\rm Ca}^{2+}$. B) The effect of ORP8 overexpression on ${\rm [Ca}^{2+}]_{\rm cav}$ during histamine-stimulation in the presence of 150 µM EGTA. C) ORP5 overexpression augments ${\rm [Ca}^{2+}]_{\rm cav}$ during histamine-stimulation in the presence of 1 mM ${\rm Ca}^{2+}$. B) Simultaneous knock-down of ORP5 an - 8 is without an effect on ${\rm [Ca}^{2+}]_{\rm cav}$ during histamine-stimulation in the presence of 150 µM EGTA. The traces are representative and the bars represent the mean \pm SEM of the change in the calcium concentration during the experiment (maximal value – basal value). *, p < 0.05; **, p < 0.01. N = 3-8.

calcium upon siRNA-mediated knock-down of ORP5, -8 or both. This is consistent with the previous observation that inter-organelle MCSs rarely depend on a single tethering component. For example, in yeast the abolishment of the ER-PM contact sites required the genetic disruption of six MCS components [38]. We also find it possible that knocking down the ORPs involved in the vital MCS calcium transport processes will lead to compensatory responses in order to maintain organelle Ca2+ homeostasis, which may lead to a dampening of the effect of ORP5/8 knock-down on mitochondrial or caveolar Ca2+. Also, the partial knock-down of ORP5/8 proteins achieved by siRNA treatment may not be sufficient to induce significant effects in the robust Ca2+ fluxes that were studied. Further, we found that ORP5/8 overexpression did not affect SOCE at the caveolar microdomain of the plasma membrane. However, cytoplasmic Ca²⁺ was slightly reduced in ORP5 overexpressing cells during TG-induced SOCE. Interestingly,SOCE proteins STIM1 and Orai1 are translocated from the PIP2-



Fig. 4. Store-operated calcium entry at the caveolar sub-compartment is not affected by ORP5 (A) or ORP8 (B) overexpression whereas cytoplasmic Ca^{2+} is reduced by ORP5 overexpression (C). The cells were treated for 5 min with 1µM TG in HBSS buffer containing 15µM EGTA and then perfused, as indicated by the arrows, with HBSS buffer containing 1µM TG and 1 mM Ca^{2+} to induce SOCE. The traces are representative and the bars represent the mean \pm SEM of the change in the calcium concentration during the experiment (maximal value – basal value). N = 4-8, *P < 0.05.

rich PM domains to the PIP₂-poor PM domains upon ER Ca²⁺ depletion, whereas ORP5/8, and especially ORP5, interact with PIP₂ at the PM [5,7,39]. Intriguingly, we find that ORP5 augments histamine-induced Ca²⁺ fluxes whereas cytoplasmic Ca²⁺ during SOCE is reduced upon ORP5 overexpression. These results are not contradictory as histamineinduced Ca²⁺ fluxes and SOCE recruit different proteins and signaling pathways, even if these pathways are interconnected (e.g. SOCE following the IP₃-mediated Ca²⁺ release). Hence, there are kinetic



Cell Calcium 72 (2018) 62-69



Fig. 6. Overexpression of ORP5 (A) or ORP8 (B) increases cell proliferation. The proliferation of Hela cells transfected for 48 h with plain GFP (control) or the GFP-ORP constructs was determined by ³H-thymidine incorporation during 4 h. The bars represent the mean \pm SEM of 3-4 experiments. ^{*}p < 0.05, ^{**}p < 0.01.

differences in the activation of the histamine-induced Ca^{2+} fluxes and SOCE, SOCE being activated through STIM and ORAI oligomerization in response to the IP₃-mediated ER emptying [40,41].

We also found that ORP5/8 overexpression increases the proliferation of HeLa cells. This is in line with the similar findings regarding ORP4L [28]. Further, ORP5 overexpression is associated with tumor cell invasion [3] and proliferation (unpublished observations disclosed in ref. [3] and published during the revision of the present article [42]). In contrast to our finding, ORP8 has been linked to inhibition of cell growth in gastric cancer cells through induction of ER stress and to initiation of apoptosis in hepatocellular cancer cells through the Faspathway [43,44]. Interestingly, Ca^{2+} is essential for the initiation of apoptotic events are associated with ER-mitochondria Ca^{2+} transfer [46]. On the other hand, Ca^{2+} handling at the ER-mitochondria interfaces is involved in the regulation of energy metabolism and cell proliferation [47]. Therefore, we find it possible that ORP8-mediated changes in mitochondrial Ca^{2+} homeostasis may modulate cell fate in a context-dependent manner.

In conclusion, our results provide evidence for the importance of ORP5/8 in regulating Ca^{2+} in the mitochondrial matrix as well as at the caveolar sub-compartments of the PM. These findings corroborate the role of ORP5/8 as MCS proteins facilitating organelle interactions at specific membrane interfaces.

Fig. 5. Overexpression of ORP5 increases cellular IP₃ levels during histamine stimulation whereas ORP8 overexpression is without an effect. The IP₃ concentration was measured from unstimulated cells (time point 0), and at 10s after histamine stimulation (A). The expression of epitopetagged recombinant ORP5 and ORP8 was confirmed by western blot using anti-Xpress epitope antibodies (B). **P < 0.001, N = 3.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that there are no conflicts of interest.

Acknowledgements

This work was supported by grants to I.P. from the Magnus Ehrnrooths stiftelse, Finsk-Norska medicinska stiftelsen, Tor, Joe och Pentti Borgs Minnesfond, Oscar Öflunds stiftelse, Waldemar Von Frenckells stiftelse, K. Albin Johanssons stiftelse, Ida Montins stiftelse and Svenska Kulturfonden. V.M.O. was supported by the Academy of Finland (grant 285223), the Sigrid Juselius Foundation, the Finnish Foundation for Cardiovascular Research and the Magnus Ehrnrooths stiftelse. K.T. was supported by the Sigrid Juselius Foundation and the Liv och Hälsa Foundation.

Appendix A. Supplementary data

Supplementary data associated with this article can be found, in the online version, at https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ceca.2018.03.001.

References

- [1] H. Kentala, M. Weber-Boyvat, V.M. Olkkonen, OSBP-related protein family: mediators of lipid transport and signaling at membrane contact sites, Int. Rev. Cell Mol. Biol. 321 (2016) 299-340, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/bs.ircmb.2015.09.006.
- [2] S. Muallem, W.Y. Chung, A. Jha, M. Ahuja, Lipids at membrane contact sites: cell signaling and ion transport, EMBO Rep. 18 (2017) e201744331, http://dx.doi.org/ 10.15252/embr.201744331.
- [3] X. Du, N. Turner, H. Yang, The role of oxysterol-binding protein and its related proteins in cancer, Semin. Cell Dev. Biol. S1084–S9521 (17) (2017) 30012–30015. [4] J. Chung, F. Torta, K. Masai, L. Lucast, H. Czapla, L.B. Tanner, P. Narayanaswamy,
- M.R. Wenk, F. Nakatsu, P. De Camilli, INTRACELLULAR TRANSPORT. PI4P/ phosphatidylserine countertransport at ORP5- and ORP8-mediated ER-plasma membrane contacts, Science 349 (2015) 428-432, http://dx.doi.org/10.1126, cience.aab1370.
- [5] R. Ghai, X. Du, H. Wang, J. Dong, C. Ferguson, A.J. Brown, R.G. Parton, J.W. Wu, H. Yang, ORP5 and ORP8 bind phosphatidylinositol-4, 5-biphosphate (PtdIns(4, 5)P 2) and regulate its level at the plasma membrane, Nat. Commun. 8 (2017) 5, http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/s41467-017-00861-5.
- [6] M. Lee, G.D. Fairn, Both the pH domain and N-terminal region of oxysterol-binding protein related protein 8S are required for localization to PM-ER contact site Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 496 (2018) 1088-1094, http://dx.doi.org/10. 1016/i.bbrc.2018.01.138.
- [7] M. Sohn, M. Korzeniowski, J.P. Zewe, R.C. Wills, G.R.V. Hammond J. Humpolickova, L. Vrzal, D. Chalupska, V. Veverka, G.D. Fairn, E. Boura, T. Balla, PI(4,5)P2controls plasma membrane PI4P and PS levels via ORP5/8 recruitment to ER-PM contact sites, J. Cell Biol. (2018), http://dx.doi.org/10.1083/jcb.201710095 (jcb.201710095).
- [8] R. Galmes, A. Houcine, A.R. van Vliet, P. Agostinis, C.L. Jackson, F. Giordano, ORP5/ORP8 localize to endoplasmic reticulum-mitochondria contacts and are in volved in mitochondrial function, EMBO Rep. 17 (2016) 800–810, http://dx.doi. org/10.15252/embr.201541108.
- [9] V.M. Olkkonen, S. Li, Oxysterol-binding proteins: sterol and phosphoinositide sensors coordinating transport, signaling and metabolism, Prog. Lipid Res. 52 (2013) 529–538, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.plipres.2013.06.004.
- [10] M.J. Berridge, P. Lipp, M.D. Bootman, The versatility and universality of calcium signalling, Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 1 (2000) 11-21, http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/ 35036035
- [11] S. Marchi, M. Bittremieux, S. Missiroli, C. Morganti, S. Patergnani, L. Sbano, A. Rimessi, M. Kerkhofs, J.B. Parys, G. Bultynck, C. Giorgi, P. Pinton, Endoplasmic reticulum-mitochondria communication through Ca2+ signaling: the importance of mitochondria-associated membranes (MAMs), Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. 997 (2017) 49–67, http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-4567-7_4.
- [12] D. De Stefani, M. Patron, R. Rizzuto, Structure and function of the mitochondrial calcium uniporter complex, Biochim. Biophys. Acta Mol. Cell Res. 2015 (1853) 2006–2011, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamcr.2015.04.008. [13] G. Csordás, P. Várnai, T. Golenár, S. Roy, G. Purkins, T.G. Schneider, T. Balla,
- G. Hajnóczky, Imaging interorganelle contacts and local calcium dynamics at the ER-mitochondrial interface, Mol. Cell. 39 (2010) 121-132, http://dx.doi.org/10. 1016/j.molcel.2010.06.029.
- [14] M. Giacomello, I. Drago, M. Bortolozzi, M. Scorzeto, A. Gianelle, P. Pizzo, T. Pozzan, Ca2+ hot spots on the mitochondrial surface are generated by Ca2+ Hor appendix and the intermediation of store-operated Ca2+ channels, Mol. Cell. 38 (2010) 280–290, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/J.MOLCEL.2010.04.003.
 K. Mallilankaraman, P. Doonan, C. Cárdenas, H.C. Chandramoorthy, M. Müller,
- R. Miller, N.E. Hoffman, R.K. Gandhirajan, J. Molgó, M.J. Birnbaum, B.S. Rothberg, D.-O.D. Mak, J.K. Foskett, M. Madesh, MICU1 is an essential gatekeeper for MCUmediated mitochondrial Ca(2+) uptake that regulates cell survival, Cell 151 (2012)

630-644, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2012.10.011.

- [16] H. Vais, K. Mallilankaraman, D. O.D. Mak, H. Hoff, R. Payne, J.E. Tanis, J.K. Foskett, EMRE is a matrix ca(2+) sensor that governs gatekeeping of the mitochondrial Ca(2+) uniporter, Cell Rep. 14 (2016) 403-410, http://dx.doi.org/10. 1016/i.celrep.2015.12.054.
- [17] M. Patron, V. Checchetto, A. Raffaello, E. Teardo, D. Vecellio Reane, M. Mantoan, V. Granatiero, I. Szabò, D. De Stefani, R. Rizzuto, MICU1 and MICU2 finely tune the mitochondrial Ca2+ uniporter by exerting opposite effects on MCU activity, Mol. Cell. 53 (2014) 726–737, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2014.01.013. [18] B. Pani, B.B. Singh, Lipid rafts/caveolae as microdomains of calcium signaling, Cell
- Calcium 45 (2009) 625–633, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ceca.2009.02.009. [19] A. Fujita, J. Cheng, K. Tauchi-Sato, T. Takenawa, T. Fujimoto, A distinct pool of
- phosphatidylinositol 4, 5-bisphosphate in caveolae revealed by a nanoscale labeling technique, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 106 (2009) 9256-9261, http://dx.doi.org. 10.1073/pnas.0900216106.
- [20] G. Pedriali, A. Rimessi, L. Sbano, C. Giorgi, M.R. Wieckowski, M. Previati, P. Pinton, Regulation of endoplasmic reticulum-mitochondria Ca2+ transfer and its in portance for anti-cancer therapies, Front. Oncol. 7 (2017) 180, http://dx.doi.org/ . 10.3389/fonc.2017.00180.
- [21] C. Cárdenas, R.A. Miller, I. Smith, T. Bui, J. Molgó, M. Müller, H. Vais, K.-H. Cheung, J. Yang, I. Parker, C.B. Thompson, M.J. Birnbaum, K.R. Hallows, J.K. Foskett, Essential regulation of cell bioenergetics by constitutive InsP3 receptor Ca2+ transfer to mitochondria, Cell 142 (2010) 270-280, http://dx.doi.org/10. 1016/j.cell.2010.06.007.
- [22] C. Lopez-Crisosto, C. Pennanen, C. Vasquez-Trincado, P.E. Morales, R. Bravo-Sagua, A.F.G. Quest, M. Chiong, S. Lavandero, Sarcoplasmic reticulum-mitochondria communication in cardiovascular pathophysiology, Nat. Rev. Cardiol. 14 (2017) 342–360, http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/nrcardio.2017.23.
 [23] T. Balla, Ca²⁺ and lipid signals hold hands at endoplasmic reticulum-plasma
- membrane contact sites, J. Physiol. (2018), http://dx.doi.org/10.1113/JP274957. [24] M. Bonora, C. Giorgi, A. Bononi, S. Marchi, S. Patergnani, A. Rimessi, R. Rizzuto,
- P. Pinton, Subcellular calcium measurements in mammalian cells using jellyfish photoprotein aequorin-based probes, Nat. Protoc. 8 (2013) 2105-2118, http://dx. doi.org/10.1038/nprot.2013.127.
- [25] I. Pulli, T. Blom, C. Lof, M. Magnusson, A. Rimessi, P. Pinton, K. Tornquist, A novel chimeric aequorin fused with caveolin-1 reveals a sphingosine kinase 1-regulated Ca(2)(+) microdomain in the caveolar compartment, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 2015 (1853) 2173–2182, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamcr.2015.04.005.
- [26] D. Yan, M.I. Mäyränpää, J. Wong, J. Perttilä, M. Lehto, M. Jauhiaine P.T. Kovanen, C. Ehnholm, A.J. Brown, V.M. Olkkonen, OSBP-related protein 8 (ORP8) suppresses ABCA1 expression and cholesterol efflux from macrophages, J. Biol. Chem. 283 (2008) 332–340, http://dx.doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M705313200.
 M. Charman, T.R. Colbourne, A. Pietrangelo, L. Kreplak, N.D. Ridgway, Oxysterol-
- binding protein (OSBP)-related protein 4 (ORP4) is essential for cell proliferation and survival, J. Biol. Chem. 289 (2014) 15705-15717, http://dx.doi.org/10.1074/ ibc.M114.571216.
- [28] J.-W. Li, Y.-L. Xiao, C.-F. Lai, N. Lou, H.-L. Ma, B.-Y. Zhu, W.-B. Zhong, D.-G. Yan, Oxysterol-binding protein-related protein 4L promotes cell proliferation by sus taining intracellular Ca2+ homeostasis in cervical carcinoma cell lines, Oncotarget 7 (2016) 65849-65861, http://dx.doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.11671.
- L.S. Jouaville, P. Pinton, C. Bastianutto, G.A. Rutter, R. Rizzuto, Regulation of mitochondrial ATP synthesis by calcium: evidence for a long-term metabolic priming, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 96 (1999) 13807–13812, http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1073/PNAS.96.24.13807.
- [30] E.J. Griffiths, G.A. Rutter, Mitochondrial calcium as a key regulator of mitochon. drial ATP production in mammalian cells, Biochim. Biophys. Acta – Bioenergy 2009 (1787) 1324–1333, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/J.BBABIO.2009.01.019.
- [31] W. Zhong, Q. Yi, B. Xu, S. Li, T. Wang, F. Liu, B. Zhu, P.R. Hoffmann, G. Ji, P. Lei, G. Li, J. Li, J. Li, V.M. Olkkonen, D. Yan, ORP4L is essential for T-cell acute lym phoblastic leukemia cell survival, Nat. Commun. 7 (2016) 12702, http://dx.doi. org/10.1038/ncomms12702.
- [32] R. Stoica, K.J. De Vos, S. Paillusson, S. Mueller, R.M. Sancho, K.-F. Lau, G. Vizcay. Barrena, W.-L. Lin, Y.-F. Xu, J. Lewis, D.W. Dickson, L. Petrucelli, J.C. Mitchell, C.E. Shaw, C.C.J. Miller, ER-mitochondria associations are regulated by the VAPB-PTPIP51 interaction and are disrupted by ALS/FTD-associated TDP-43, Nat. Commun. 5 (2014) 3996, http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/ncomms4996.
 [33] F. Maltecca, D. De Stefani, L. Cassina, F. Consolato, M. Wasilewski, L. Scorrano,
- R. Rizzuto, G. Casari, Respiratory dysfunction by AFG3L2 deficiency causes decreased mitochondrial calcium uptake via organellar network fragmentation, Hum Mol. Genet. 21 (2012) 3858-3870, http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/hmg/dds214.
- [34] R.G. Parton, M.A. Del Pozo, Caveola nbrane sensors, protectors and ae as nlasma n organizers, Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 14 (2013) 98-112, http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/ nrm3512.
- [35] A. Adebiyi, D. Narayanan, J.H. Jaggar, Caveolin-1 assembles type 1 inositol 1,4,5trisphosphate receptors and canonical transient receptor potential 3 channels into a functional signaling complex in arterial smooth muscle cells, J. Biol. Chem. 286 (2011) 4341–4348, http://dx.doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M110.179747
- [36] P.C. Sundivakkam, A.M. Kwiatek, T.T. Sharma, R.D. Minshall, A.B. Malik, C. Tiruppathi, Caveolin-1 scaffold domain interacts with TRPC1 and IP3R3 to regulate Ca2+ store release-induced Ca2+ entry in endothelial cells, AJP Cell Physiol. 296 (2008) C403–C413, http://dx.doi.org/10.1152/ajpcell.00470.2008.
- O. Béaslas, T. Vihervaara, J. Li, P.-P. Laurila, D. Yan, V.M. Olkkonen, Silencing of OSBP-related protein 8 (ORP8) modifies the macrophage transcriptome, nucleo-porin p62 distribution, and migration capacity, Exp. Cell Res. 318 (2012) 1933–1945, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.yexcr.2012.05.026. [38] A.G. Manford, C.J. Stefan, H.L. Yuan, J.A. MacGurn, S.D. Emr, ER-to-plasma

membrane tethering proteins regulate cell signaling and ER morphology, Dev. Cell. 23 (2012) 1129–1140, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.devel.2012.11.004. [39] J. Maléh, S. Choi, S. Muallem, M. Ahuja, Translocation between Pl(4, 5)P2-poor

- [39] J. Maléth, S. Choi, S. Muallem, M. Ahuja, Translocation between PI(4, 5)P2-poor and PI(4, 5)P2-rich microdomains during store depletion determines STIM1 conformation and Orail gating, Nat. Commun. 5 (2014) 5843, http://dx.doi.org/10. 1038/ncomms6843.
- J.W. Putney, L.M. Broad, F.-J. Braun, J.-P. Lievremont, G.S.J. Bird, Mechanisms of capacitative calcium entry, J. Cell Sci. 114 (2001) 2223 (LP-2229), http://jcs.biologists.org/content/114/12/2223.abstract.
 K.P. Lee, J.P. Yuan, J.H. Hong, I. So, P.F. Worley, S. Muallem, An endoplasmic
- [41] K.P. Lee, J.P. Yuan, J.H. Hong, I. So, P.F. Worley, S. Muallem, An endoplasmic reticulum/plasma membrane junction: STIM1/Orail /TRPCs, FEBS Lett. 584 (2010) 2022–2027, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.febslet.2009.11.078.
- [42] X. Du, A. Zadovina, I.E. Lukmantara, Y. Qi, A.J. Brown, H. Yang, Oxysterol-binding protein-related protein 5 (ORP5) promotes cell proliferation by activation of mTORC1 signaling, J. Biol. Chem. (2018), http://dx.doi.org/10.1074/jbc.RA117. 001558 (ibc.RA117.001558).
- [43] X. Guo, L. Zhang, Y. Fan, D. Zhang, L. Qin, S. Dong, G. Li, Oxysterol-binding protein-related protein 8 inhibits gastric cancer growth through induction of ER stress, inhibition of wnt signaling, and activation of appoptosis, Oncol. Res. Featur. Preclin.

Clin. Cancer Ther. 25 (2017) 799-808, http://dx.doi.org/10.3727/ 096504016x14783691306605.

- [44] W. Zhong, S. Qin, B. Zhu, M. Pu, F. Liu, L. Wang, G. Ye, Q. Yi, D. Yan, Oxysterolbinding protein-related protein 8 (ORP8) increases sensitivity of hepatocellular carcinoma cells to Fas-mediated apoptosis, J. Biol. Chem. 290 (2015) 8876–8887, http://dx.doi.org/10.1074/ibc.M114.610188.
- [45] A.L. Wozniak, X. Wang, E.S. Stieren, S.G. Scarbrough, C.J. Elferink, D. Boehning, Requirement of biphasic calcium release from the endoplasmic reticulum for Fasmediated apoptosis, J. Cell Biol. 175 (2006) 709–714, http://dx.doi.org/10.1083/ jcb.200608035.
- [46] S. Marchi, S. Patergnani, S. Missiroli, G. Morciano, A. Rimessi, M.R. Wieckowski, C. Giorgi, P. Pinton, Mitochondrial and endoplasmic reticulum calcium homeostasis and cell death, Cell Calcium (2017), http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/J.CECA.2017.05. 003.
- [47] M. Kerkhofs, C. Giorgi, S. Marchi, B. Seitaj, J.B. Parys, P. Pinton, G. Bultynck, M. Bittremieux, Alterations in Ca2 + Signalling via ER-Mitochondria Contact Site Remodelling in Cancer, Springer, Singapore, 2017, pp. 225–254, http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1007/978-981-10-4567-7_17.

llari Pulli

Calcium Signaling in Cell Compartments

- the Importance of Sphingosine Kinase 1 and ORP5/8

To maintain life, the cells within an organism employ intricate signaling pathways to regulate physiological processes within single cells and between the various cells and tissues that constitute an organism. Regulation of this kind is termed cell signaling. One of the key molecules in cell signaling is the calcium ion, Ca^{2+} . Many central biological processes, such as muscle contraction, fertilization, cell proliferation, cell migration, cellular energy production and cell death, are modulated by Ca^{2+} signaling. Dysfunctional Ca^{2+} signaling may contribute to the development of various disease conditions such as cancer and neurological disease. In this thesis, Ca^{2+} handling in specific cellular compartments, mainly the mitochondria and the caveolae, was studied. The mitochondria are organelles that are key in cellular energy production, that contribute also to other important processes such as Ca^{2+} signaling and cell death. The caveolae are small invaginations of the cell membrane with important functions, for instance as orchestrators of cell signaling events. The results of this thesis show that the proteins that were the key subjects of this study, sphingosine kinase 1 and oxysterol-binding protein 5 and 8, respectively, are involved in the regulation of intracellular Ca^{2+} signaling at specific cellular compartments – the mitochondria and the caveolae.